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Corporate Profile
ToE 1

VISION FE=

Cyberport aspires to be the
hub for digital technology,
creating a key economic driver
for Hong Kong

SR HES BRI LR -
SEAREMNEEE]

About Cyberport

Cyberport is an innovative digital community with over 1,300 start-ups and technology companies. It is managed by
Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited, which is wholly owned by the Hong Kong SAR Government.
With a vision to be the hub for digital technology thereby creating a new economic driver for Hong Kong, Cyberport
is committed to nurturing a vibrant tech ecosystem by cultivating talent, promoting entrepreneurship among youth,
supporting start-ups on their growth journey, fostering industry development by promoting strategic collaboration
with local and international partners, and integrating new and traditional economies by accelerating digital adoption in
the public and private sectors.

Cyberport focuses on fostering the growth of major technologies application namely FinTech, smart living, digital
entertainment & esports, as well as technology development such as artificial intelligence (Al) & big data, blockchain
and cybersecurity. With a team of committed professionals providing all-round, value-added services, state-of-the-
art facilities and smart workspaces to support our digital community, Cyberport is now the flagship for Hong Kong's
digital technology industry.
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Annual Summary
FEHE

Annual Summary FEETE

Nurture innovation to shape the future

Cyberport’s extensive support and global network give start-ups impetus
to innovate and live out their fullest potential. Cyberport is committed to
fostering innovative ideas, nurturing start-ups and driving entrepreneurial

spirit, to empower start-ups to shine in the global markets.
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Event Highlights SEEhEE 24

Event Highlights
SEENERR

Recognitions and awards

Advancing esports development
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Thriving FinTech ecosystem

EREHRAFE

THAILAND Investor engagement and outreach
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Chairman’s Statement Chairman's Statement ZEfEHI3E
FERYEE

First and foremost, Cyberport is now a vibrant, resourceful and
complete digital ecosystem for aspiring entrepreneurs not only
from Hong Kong but also increasingly from around the world.
Cyberport is the key driver to develop the digital technology
industry in Hong Kong as a way to inject fresh momentum into
the city’s economy.

KRB ELE S BIEBEEERA—E T WG AR 7T & RISE
PHXEREE » ZEARETABURKEHAIMAVEIZERK » HEHES
MEIRIE R » BEEEATE] ©

We strive to create an international innovation and technology hub  F 3R B EII —EREECAIRIFRHLRAR - 12
with a holistic ecosystem in order for technologies, especially FinTech,  ff—{ESZEMNAIRIELRERE > RN ERFR
smart living, digital entertainment & esports, Al & big data, blockchain  # » BE4E5E « SIEIRSEEFHIE - ALE
and cybersecurity clusters to thrive. Last year, our start-up ecosystem  AEEAAREIE « RIRBAAR LS - BE—F >
continued to grow, diversify and mature, thanks to the joining of more BRI DR EEMSE » TREZRAR B
established tech companies as strategic anchor tenants, to the new ¥ &&EE - K3 [TEEABLFEEEEY
partnerships we formed with leading corporations, investors, universities, — F5fERE(Z » EIRFE I HEEN IR L K h5@ B R it Rz
industry organisations and professional bodies across different sectors, — EBIMNEHEREE » SR FINYEEREBIFEN
and to the very fruitful outreach efforts we devoted to building and & > RUE@% 7ot » IREIRLFA ©
strengthening relationships with overseas and mainland partners.

I would like to take this opportunity to share the milestones we achieved FHHEEEILEKSHZTBE—RBEMBEE »
during the last fiscal year, our take on the opportunities that the continued  FXPIFFERAY BIZHE > (IR E—H—REE
development of the Belt & Road initiative and the Guangdong-Hong Kong- R AEENEE » MUERHMAHSHECESA
Macao Greater Bay Area (GBA) would bring, and our commitment to ~ AYIE o

excellence in corporate governance.
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Chairman’s Statement F[EHIEE

Intensifying international collaborations

Last year marked a culmination of our extensive international outreach
efforts. Through building and strengthening relationships with overseas
partners, we seek to facilitate talent exchanges, broaden start-ups' access
to funding and help them enter overseas markets quickly and effectively.

For years, the Japan market has been a tough nut for Hong Kong
companies to crack, but the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) last November between Cyberport and Mizuho Financial Group
(Mizuho), one of the largest financial services companies in Japan, is going
to help Cyberport start-ups enter the Japan market. Based on the MoU,
Cyberport and Mizuho will work together to support Japanese and Hong
Kong start-ups in entering both markets, participating in business events,
undertaking R&D projects, and facilitating investment in these start-ups.

In the ASEAN region, Thailand is emerging as the region’s leading blockchain
economy where disruptive blockchain start-ups from Cyberport can
capture growth opportunities. As part of our endeavours to help Cyberport
community members foray into the Thai market, Cyberport inked an MoU
with InnoSpace Thailand, a public-private joint venture funded by leading Thai
corporations. Both parties will utilise and leverage their respective strategic
access to the ASEAN market, the venture capital network in Hong Kong and

Cyberport's talent pool and experiences to groom start-ups from both sides.

BERS(F BETE

EEMEBEIRREINGISSE - ERIE
RPIESEZIAMBEBINSHIHE > FHA
AR EAVAIEEERRIR > BtfIE
R~ BRMFREEINGIS

ZER > BA—EEEBLERETZ AT
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BHEREE —hEERERREE SRS
B BENEEE BRIV EEES HATIS o #
WARRRETRERET  IEAENES
BURIRIEREARKILTS > BIRSHEBIREE
EE) > HEREAEIER - WRARITES

HERRBHE R ARV E IR R

HSENRBEBE NIRRT b > FiFil
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FZ@InnoSpace BB G EETHR > € HEH A
ZETRBHENED - EENAIRESHE

i EEBEE BN AL ERMNAE > (RIEmRM
B ESIEER o

Further afield, we have been working closely with start-up hubs, industry
organisations, professional bodies, leading corporations and universities
in various innovative and entrepreneurial cities around the world, such as
London, Dublin, Paris, Tel Aviv, Seattle, Chicago, New York, Los Angeles,
San Francisco, Sydney, Toronto, Scandinavia, Dubai, Seoul and Tokyo,
arranging field trips, workshops, investor networking and expert talks
for our start-ups to help them expand into international markets they
otherwise would not be able to reach on their own. Going forward, we
will boost our connections with more fast-growing cities, such as Taipei,
Jakarta, Kuala Lumpur, New Delhi and Bangalore.

Stronger ties with the mainland start-up ecosystem

As the GBA continues to integrate, we have been seizing every opportunity
to strengthen and leverage our connections in the GBA ecosystem.

Our strategic partnership with Zhuhai Da Heng Qin (DHQ) remains
unwavering in our commitment to contribute to technological advancement,
start-up support, talent development and innovation exchange across
the GBA. The Da Heng Qin Fund set up by DHQ continued to co-invest in
Cyberport Marco Fund's portfolio companies which are our promising start-
ups eyeing the mainland market and beyond, and we expect more to come.

Besides, last year we also worked closely with local authorities and tech
organisations from across the GBA, such as Shenzhen, Qianhai, Henggin,
Zhuhai, Panyu, Dongguan, Zhongshan, as well as the Macau SAR, to boost
regional collaboration, cross-border innovation and talent development.

Chairman’s Statement F[EHIzE

ItESh > FAFITFEBED G I S BRI < A HEE -
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BN BRI XN UERESENEA
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Blposth 4 84 REEI N 3s s 2R
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Chairman’s Statement = [EREE

Reinforcing the ecosystem

In order to build a broad and collaborative entrepreneurial community,
the presence of leading tech companies alongside start-ups is of prime
importance. By encouraging win-win partnerships between large and
small players, we can help level the playing field for Cyberport community
members, giving them access to the platforms, tools, resources, networks
and training they need to stay competitive in the global marketplace.

Last year saw Cyberport's continued efforts in organising a range of flagship
international conferences and events, including the Internet Economy Summit
(IES) and the Cyberport Venture Capital Forum (CVCF), all of which aimed
at strengthening our branding and international connections and helping
our start-ups to link up with various resources and business partners. We
also started implementing such policies as "Easy Landing” and “Technology
Talents Admission Scheme” to attract top-calibre tech companies and talent
to Hong Kong and join the Cyberport community.

During the past year, leading tech companies such as Microsoft and
Amazon Web Services, Inc. (AWS) further strengthened their Cyberport
presence by co-organising training programmes, tech workshops and
certificated courses at Cyberport. Apart from introducing their cloud
computing, cybersecurity, data analytics cases and other cutting-edge
technology applications to Cyberport community members, such training
and development activities can foster networking and cross-fertilisation
opportunities for founders, developers and business leaders.

ZEEHEERSE

AREGXEYREXELEET > R @2
PMEZSHEERFRNAIRMAE  LAER -
FBENEE - HAIHFSFRGF - 858
BES BN R R RN S » AlEAF
BRIRG > QERETE s TE - ER - 148
FetE) o e PITE 2RI TIBMIER T

BE—F > BEBTEEIN—RIEZH
e aE B TR S NS ER
REWMIEE > LI E S BRI MR R
i LURIBBI R FIBRAIEEE R RE R K
BEBH - HMATREEE ZERE I R
AT ANBEBIFBER - MRS IREE2KE M
IBRBHR AR MAS ZRENER - DB
o

& & > Microsoft #1 Amazon Web Services, Inc.
(AWS) X ZEEB AT » E—TI05a MM
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Cyberport Venture
Capital Forum

To sustain our start-up ecosystem, not only must we help build up,
facilitate and promote start-ups, we also ought to continue to develop our
homegrown supply of talent. That is why last year we stepped up our co-
operations with technology partners, regulators, universities (including the
University of Hong Kong, Tsinghua University, the University of Chicago
and the University of Waterloo), industry organisations and professional
bodies to organise certified training programmes. We will continue
delivering comprehensive training and development programmes in order
to build for Hong Kong a rich talent pool of data scientists, data engineers,
cloud computing architects and cybersecurity experts with cross-functional
skills and international perspectives.

Chairman’s Statement F[EREE

SYRIERERES R > BIEBERTERS
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Chairman’s Statement = [EREE

Investor engagement

Through our comprehensive incubation programmes, Cyberport supported
63 start-ups and projects last year, raising a total capital funding of more
than HK$5.5 billion as of end-March 2019, an amount that had more than
tripled over the financial year of 2017/18. Moreover, the number of tech
investors in the Cyberport Investors Network (CIN) grew to nearly 100,
bringing more smart money and risk capital to our ecosystem. Cyberport
acts as a proactive matchmaker and facilitative platform to connect CIN
member investors with promising early-stage entrepreneurs and their
start-ups.

The road ahead

Alongside FinTech, RegTech and LegalTech will be our next focus as
recent leaps made in Al and machine learning increasingly enable useful
information to be extracted and utilised from large, complex data sets.
Under the "one country, two systems” governance framework, Hong
Kong remains as an independent jurisdiction governed by the common
law. As a result, there is plenty of room for the city to develop RegTech
and LegalTech solutions capable of interpreting organisational data,
predicting legal risks, ensuring compliance, improving governance,
facilitating regulatory management and implementing remedies, thereby
strengthening Cyberport's FinTech cluster. In the near future, we will also
drive the growth of property technology (PropTech), medical technology
(MedTech) and education technology (EdTech) to strengthen Cyberport's
smart living and digital entertainment & esports clusters.

Hong Kong's robust intellectual property and privacy protection, established
financial markets, free flow of information, extensive network infrastructure
and external connectivity have created the most fertile ground for
innovators and entrepreneurs. The ongoing integration of the GBA is
creating an unprecedented world-class tech ecosystem - one that connects
R&D results, global talent and abundant capital from Hong Kong with the
extensive supply chain and advanced manufacturing capabilities across
the border. Cyberport is well positioned as the GBA's key global digital tech
hub and a launch pad to international markets.

~IREEFH R

BIBRM2HUNEEE > BEBERE
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Meanwhile, the implementation of the Belt and Road Initiative has also
been creating many new opportunities for FinTech and InsurTech start-ups
as cross-border banking and finance activities and transactions continue
to grow quickly. Our efforts in both the GBA and the Belt and Road spheres
have scored initial success. Great momentum was achieved last year and
we are confident that it will continue to build up strongly.

Down the road, we will strive to explore every opportunity, locally,
regionally, nationally and internationally, to strengthen Hong Kong's role
as an innovative tech hub, support our Cyberport community members in
building their business and expanding their global footprint, attract global
talent to Hong Kong to seize the GBA opportunities, and most importantly,
continue driving the fast growth of Hong Kong's digital economy.

Corporate governance and culture

As a government-owned public organisation, Cyberport is committed
to upholding the highest standards of corporate governance. Our best
practices include having the right policies and checks and balances in place
to ensure that the right things are always done in the right way and in
the right direction. We remain unwavering in our commitment to the best
corporate governance practices and will continue to actively engage and
communicate with our stakeholders. Respect for and trust in the team and
appreciation of our volunteers, who come from all parts of the community,
are an integral part of Cyberport's corporate culture.

On behalf of the Board, | also take this opportunity to welcome our newly
appointed directors of the Board and thank our outgoing directors for their
service and contributions.

Chairman’s Statement F[EHIzE
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
1TEAR B ERS

Hong Kong's innovation and technology (I&T) sector has been
booming in the past year and has emerged as a powerful
economic driver for the city. The increasing momentum in
entrepreneurship is also most encouraging. To keep that
momentum going, we continue to focus our efforts on talent
cultivation, industry development and the integration of the

new and traditional economies.

BE—F » HBRIREREY  BEMARBEE—KET > BIZE
RSUEEIEEL - RILBEERDE > BFIMESNEEAT « #HEFT

¥§£—‘E}§ ) MR RS B FRAEERA S o

I&T emerges as powerful economic driver

n 15 years' time, Cyberport has built a complete tech ecosystem, where
the total number of member companies now exceed 1,300. They include
passionate start-ups, tech giants with enormous capabilities, as well
as professional service providers such as venture capitalists, legal and
intellectual property consultants. Together, they provide the necessary
support for the development of start-ups and form a dynamic and creative
community.

In fact, Hong Kong's tech sector plays an increasingly important role in
driving Hong Kong's economic growth. In 2018, the number of start-ups
grew 18 per cent to over 2,600. The number of people employed by these
start-ups grew a remarkable 51 per cent to nearly 10,000'.

We are pleased to see that Hong Kong's innovation momentum continues
to strengthen, thereby providing more opportunities for young people,
creating diverse job opportunities, and becoming another key driver for
Hong Kong's economic growth.

Start-ups encouraged to strive to do their best

Our incubation programme is the centrepiece of our comprehensive
support to start-ups. To better facilitate the development of our incubatees,
we converted the incubatee support funding of our Cyberport Incubation
Programme (CIP) to a performance-based grant from the previous expense
reimbursement scheme.

! "Hong Kong: From Startups to Regional Headquarters - Asia’s Vibrant International

Business Community”, InvestHK
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Chief Executive Officer's Report {TEARF RS

The initial financial assistance is granted based on the completion of the
business plan submitted by the incubatees upon joining the programme.
Half-yearly progress reviews are then carried out to assess the
achievement of the incubatees based on the deliverables or goals set in
their business plan to determine the granting of the remaining funding. The
objective of the new arrangement is to steer the incubatees into a result-
oriented mode of operation to achieve the committed milestones, from
start to end. Thanks to the support of the Hong Kong SAR Government,
the maximum funding for the CIP has been raised to HK$500,000, giving
incubatees more resources to achieve their vision.

Apart from direct funding, Cyberport's comprehensive entrepreneurial
support to early-stage companies further includes rent-free co-working
and meeting spaces at our newly renovated Entrepreneurship Centres,
entrepreneurship advice and training for skill sharing and collaboration, as
well as investor matching services.

Much more than co-working space

Built upon the success of our seven Smart-Spaces on the Pokfulam
campus, we extended our footprint for the first time to the New Territories,
taking advantage of the Space Sharing Scheme for Youth initiated by the
Hong Kong SAR Government, to support more young entrepreneurs aspiring
to develop their own tech ventures.

The Smart-Space 8 in Tsuen Wan is our eighth co-working space and first
such space outside of our Pokfulam campus. The urban-chic designed
Smart-Space 8 is configured to cater to more than 140 start-ups and has
received a positive response since its opening in July 2018. As an extension
of the Pokfulum campus, the Tsuen Wan space boasts flexible conference
rooms and breakout areas, which are ideal for business meetings,
seminars, trainings, presentations.
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Tenants of Smart-Space 8 can join the networking events, trainings and
seminars at both our Pokfulam campus and Smart-Space 8. They can also
enjoy priority in signing up for our signature events.

Meanwhile, our main campus continues to appeal to leading tech companies
to set up offices or shops at Cyberport. We also constantly refresh our
tenant mix to stay relevant to changing trends.

FinTech 2.0 begins to bear fruit

Hong Kong's FinTech development has entered a new era, taking a deep
dive into more advanced and segment-specific applications along the value
chain of financial services and adjacent sectors, such as InsurTech and
virtual banking.

As a direct result of these continued, collaborative efforts, more of our
community members began to see success in 2018/19. The achievement
made by our FinTech companies is evident by the granting of virtual bank
and insurer licences to ZA International, WelLab and Bowtie, as well as
industry recognitions.

Their achievements are an acknowledgement of our commitment to the
continuous development of the FinTech sector riding on market trends.
We hope to see more Cyberport community members excel and succeed in
FinTech innovation in the future.

Smart living concepts in action

The development of the 5G mobile network and Internet of Things (loT)
technology will lay the foundation for smart living applications. Cyberport
is actively promoting the development and implementation of smart living
solutions. Currently, there are more than 600 start-ups and companies
in the community that are engaged in different types of smart living
applications, such as e-commerce, mobile app development, EdTech and
wearable devices.

As part of these efforts, we make good use of the facilities of the Cyberport
campus to provide a platform for start-ups to deploy their innovative
solutions while allowing Cyberport occupants and visitors to enjoy the
convenience of digital technology. As a start, we have set aside a space on
the IT Street at Cyberport 3 for a “Smart Living Concept Store”. It is a fully
automated, unmanned shop offering fresh salads, hot food, gadgets, as
well as smart recycling that rewards people for reuse and recycling. Other
facilities such as parking lots, restrooms and fitness rooms across the
campus are also infused with technology to provide better services.
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Cyberport esports arena completed

Digital entertainment is an emerging industry with great potential, in
which esports is a fast-growing segment. The year 2019 marks a major
milestone for the global esports market, which will for the first time
exceed the billion-dollar revenue mark with a year-on-year growth of 26.7
per cent? Esports in Hong Kong is set to take flight drawing on its strong
digital entertainment community. The city has strong potential to become
an esports industry hub in the region, providing young people with more
entrepreneurial and career opportunities. To address the shortage of
esports venues in Hong Kong, we have transformed the Ocean View Court
of the Cyberport Arcade into an esports and digital entertainment venue
capable of accommodating hundreds of spectators.

To complement the provision of esports venue, we have also introduced
various industry development and talent cultivation schemes to promote
the industry. For example, we introduced the E-sports Industry Facilitation
Scheme to provide financial assistance and in-kind support to industry
players in order for them to organise competitions and events, talent
cultivation programmes and to participate in business exchange activities.
To nurture esports talent, we launched the E-sports Internship Scheme
to subsidise esports companies offering internship placements. We also
joined forces with the HKU SPACE to offer the "Diploma in eSports Science”
programme to develop a talent pool for the esports industry.

Industry gathering place

Cyberport is committed to providing a platform to engage industry leaders,
regulators, investors and other like-minded people, to encourage and
connect with our community members.

2 2019 Global Esports Market Report, Newzoo
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The Internet Economy Summit (IES), a flagship Cyberport event, ended on
an upbeat note with over 2,800 attendance at the Hong Kong Convention
and Exhibition Centre in April 2018. The summit brought together more
than 50 notable speakers, who explored a wide range of future technologies
that will push the tech sector forward.

Discerning investors bring not only cash to the table, but also their
networks and business acumen. The Cyberport Venture Capital Forum
(CVCF), another signature event we host annually, was held in November
last year. The forum is meant to connect influential investors in the region
to start-ups and facilitate investment-matching. Last year’s forum coincided
with the first anniversary of the Cyberport Investors Network (CIN).

Cross-sectoral collaboration spurs greater innovation

The many hackathons we co-organise with corporate partners, regulators
and industry bodies aim to encourage entrepreneurs to come up with bold
ideas and address real-world challenges. For example, last year, we co-
hosted the Cathay Pacific 24-hour Hackathon, BOCHK FinTech Hackathon
and “Access to Justice - Innotech Law Hackathon” for participants to
integrate digital solutions into traditional ways of doing business.

On the other front, we help promote the work of our community by
attending international events. For example, we participated in the
Asian Financial Forum, Belt and Road Summit, RISE Conference and
JUMPSTARTER with selected Cyberport start-ups to showcase their
products and solutions.

More room for growth

Looking ahead, the arrival of the 5G era and continued digital
transformation of traditional industries are paving the way for Hong Kong
to rise as an innovation hub. The city is able to capitalise on these trends
in part because of the huge strides we have made in developing a strong
innovation ecosystem here at Cyberport. As our digital tech ecosystem
continues to grow, more space will be needed in the medium-term.
Therefore, the government earmarked HK$5.5 billion for the development
of Cyberport 5, which is expected to attract 100 tech companies and 750
start-ups upon works completion as early as 2024.

2018 marks the 15th anniversary of Cyberport. | would like to thank
all stakeholders, including start-ups, tech firms, corporate partners,
professional bodies and industry organisations, for their contributions
to making the Cyberport ecosystem a complete one. Last but not least, |
would like to thank all of my colleagues for their hard work, commitment
and relentless pursuit of excellence in making 2018 another eventful year
for Cyberport.

FEHWHWM%%J EEEANEERS >
2018 FF4 ARNBEEAGEERERLRITHIE
g R3] BiE2,800 ARZH - IEFBAEB
B0 TERTTEREE » Rl —RIIRAAE
MRS > HEITERRE -

BRSRNREE Tfﬂj%%ﬂﬁﬁmt\,\% %
AILHEREFRARMNEEER - KE1

TRV BRI R E R i‘E'J/*iﬁHFﬂju—IEEF“E’Z
F - REEEEVRAICXEREBRAFEIN
SEE RERBRY - AFREBRRE
TS BRBEEWE IR —BE -

BRAE HEHEEER

FISBERERER « BEERE R ENERE
EMT ZBREREEBAMN > FEILRESMEN
BIE » R ETIRBERPHEE > HIW
EFRMNTEZRMZE24 /NEFHACKATHON
MR EBBE KE | - [Access to Justice -
Innotech Law Hackathon | % » :E2EE GBS
PR 2 AR SR mEIEE o

S—Ek > BMEASELIEEKRES > 8
FiNErmE) ~ T—H—BaERE]
RISE Conference] UUMPSTARTERI%H&@J%
IEE % > EHE B EEEMMINRR > 12
HELZHERMPINER KRGS o

BERE

BERE  HREEASCKN » BiEEHHAE
I EHAENEET o FAREABIMIEM  [EXF
MBS > BESIEE T TSMAIMERS
B> Bals& - BEERMMNAIR SRR ET
K> BBEAREELEMURETHER
BRERIL » BUFEBRGSEST  SEREES
5 FE > BAER2024 2T > AJERM100 fE
M REI 750 EHEIhEEFREE o

2018 FIRFEEHIEELIL15 BE ﬁfﬁtﬁ%
BPTERGNE @%%)JEJ¢¥ s BEEAE
EBH - FEEERERA u:ﬁ'ﬂﬁ’]ﬁ‘ﬁ%
Bl SEREEER IE%*E o B RO
LEH—REXEE > 2BMMBLRT > %
5o TRERMEIS AL ZE SN —F o

20 Cyberport 2018/19 Annual Report

SRS 2018/19 IR 21



Board of Directors
EENS

Lee George LAM, BBS
=12, BBS
Chairman of Cyberport
BEEERE

Chairman E[E

Dr George Lam is Non-Executive Chairman - Hong Kong and ASEAN Region and Chief Advisor to Macquarie Infrastructure and Real Assets
Asia. He has served in leadership roles (including Chairman, Vice Chairman, Managing Director, CEO, COO and General Manager) with several
leading multinational corporations including Hong Kong Telecom, A.T. Kearney, Singapore Technologies Telemedia (Temasek Holdings),
BOC International Holdings (the Bank of China group), Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (CP Group) and Macquarie Capital. He has
extensive international experience and connections in the innovation and digital technology spheres and in general management, strategy
consulting, corporate governance, direct investment, investment banking and fund management fields.

Dr Lam has also been actively participating in community service and international affairs. Currently, he is a member of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Government’'s Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-Industrialisation, the Belt and Road Committee of the Hong
Kong Trade and Development Council (and Convenor of its Digital Silk Road Working Group), the Court of the City University of Hong Kong, the
Advisory Board of the Hong Kong Investor Relations Association and the Sir Murray MaclLehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory Committee;
Chairman of Monte Jade Science and Technology Association of Hong Kong; Honorary Advisor to the Hong Kong Business Angel Network (HKBAN);
President of Hong Kong-ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation; President of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and
the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network (ESBN) Executive Council and Chairman of its Task Force on Banking and Finance; and
Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council (PBEC). Dr Lam has also taught at Tsinghua University, the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, the Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Baptist University and the City University of Hong Kong. He is committed to
nurturing talents and youth and next-generation SMEs, and fostering the development of Hong Kong's digital economy and ICT sector.

Dr Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada; an LLB
(Hons) in Law from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM in Law from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK; an MPA
and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. He is also a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong (and formerly a member of the Hong Kong
Bar); an Accredited Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution; a Fellow of Certified Management Accountants (CMA) Australia,
the Institute of Public Accountants, the Institute of Financial Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, and the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors; and an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management, and the
University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education.
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Philip CHAN Ching-ho, BBS
PRIEZ: , BBS

Deputy President and Provost
of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University
HEBT AR
BRREBRIRE

Board Members =B S

Professor Philip Chan is the Deputy President and Provost of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from University of
California at Davis, and Master of Science and Doctor of Philosophy
degrees in Electrical Engineering from University of Illinois at
Urbana-Champaign (UIUC). He taught at UIUC and then joined Intel
Corporation.

Professor Chan joined The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 1991 as a founding member. He is a Fellow of Hong
Kong Institution of Engineering (HKIE), Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers (IEEE) and Hong Kong Academy of Engineering
Sciences (HKAES).

Professor Chan was a director of the Hong Kong Applied Science
and Technology Research Institute Company Limited (ASTRI), and
Chairman of the Technology Committee. He is a non-official member
of the Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-industrialisation.

He received the Bronze Bauhinia Star from the HKSAR Government
in 2013.
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Karen CHAN Ka-yin, JP
R=E,JP

Executive Director of
German Pool Group
Company Limited
EEEEEERAR
WITES

Professor Karen Chan is the Executive Director of German Pool
who transforms the company into an 020 savvy and innovative
organisation. She holds a double degree in Business Administration
and Economics from Washington University, a Master in Education
Corporate Training from the New York University and a Master of
Science in Marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Professor Chan takes up various public service roles in the
manufacturing and vocational education sectors. She is the Vice-
President of both the Young Industrialists Council and the Hong
Kong Furniture Industry Council of Federation of Hong Kong
Industries (FHKI), Appointed Council Member of Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and Adjunct Professor of Hong Kong Baptist
University. Professor Chan received FHKI's Young Industrialist
Award in 2009, the Young Women Innovator Award by APEC in 2013,
and Ten Outstanding Youth Persons in 2014. In 2017, she founded
the Hong Kong 020 E-Commerce Federation and was nominated as
the Chairlady of the Federation.
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Duncan CHIU
EREIR

Managing Director of
Radiant Venture Capital
EREXARAT
ERAKIE

With over 20 years of investment and M&A experience in the Greater
China region and several IPOs in the Hong Kong and Shenzhen
Stock Exchanges, Mr Duncan Chiu founded Radiant Venture
Capital (Radiant) in 2014 to focus on early-stage investments into
technology start-ups. Since then, Radiant has already invested into
more than 30 technology start-up companies in Mainland China and
Hong Kong, United States as well as Israel. He regularly participates
and speaks at technology forums and conferences to promote the
start-up culture in Hong Kong, and also helps young entrepreneurs
through business plan workshops and mentorship. Mr Chiu is
enthusiastic about information technology as well as social and
community-related affairs. He is currently the President of the Hong
Kong Information Technology Joint Council (HKITJC), Director of
the Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
Company Limited (ASTRI) and Standing Committee Member of
Shenzhen Association for Science & Technology.
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Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching, JP
% Ak
E/BH JP
Partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers
B L RUK B SRS
aBA

Mr Humphrey Choi is the Assurance Leader for PwC China, Hong
Kong and Asia Pacific and a core member of PwC's Global Assurance
Leadership Team. He has also taken up the role as PwC China and
Hong Kong Services Digitisation Leader. He is a member of the PwC
China and Hong Kong Management Board and a member of the PwC
China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan Executive Board.

Mr Choi has years of audit and advisory experience, and works with
a wide range of international and local clients. He has tremendous
experience in helping companies list on the Hong Kong and overseas
stock exchanges.

Mr Choi is currently a member of Member of Higher Rights
Assessment Board and a Director of Hong Kong and Shenzhen
Science and Technology Parks Corporation.
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Annie CHOI Suk-han, JP
iR, JP

Permanent Secretary for
Innovation and Technology

BT A BENER

(Appointed on 30 July 2019
720197530 A EE(E)
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Ms Annie Choi joined the Administrative Service in 1986 and has
served in a number of policy bureaux and departments, including
the Civil Service Bureau, the Commerce and Economic Development
Bureau, the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau and the
Home Affairs Department. She was the Commissioner for Innovation
and Technology from August 2015 to July 2019.

Ms Choi obtained her Bachelor’'s and Master’s degrees in Laws as
well as Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong
Kong. She also did postgraduate studies in Public Administration at
Oxford University, UK and Tsinghua University, PRC.
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LAU Chun-kong, JP
2iR:T , JP

Executive Director of
Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

HEMITATES

Mr C K Lau is an Executive Director of Jones Lang LaSalle and is
responsible for the Asia valuation and advisory business of the
firm. He is a chartered surveyor and a fellow and Past President
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. Mr Lau has a wide breath
of experience in property valuation, real estate consultancy and
investment sales market.

Mr Lau is a member of the Housing Authority including its
Subsidised Housing Committee and Tender Committee, the HKSAR
Trade and Industry Advisory Board and the REIT Committee of Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission.
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LING Kar-kan, SBS
E=E, sBs

Professor K K Ling is a professional town planner with extensive
practical experience and was the Director of Planning of the HKSAR
Government from 2012 to 2016.

Professor Ling is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Planners (FHKIP),
a Registered Professional Planner (RPP) and possesses People's
Republic of China Registered Urban Planner Qualification. He was
the President of Hong Kong Institute of Planners from 2007 to 2009.

After retiring from the post of Director of Planning in November
2016, he was appointed the Adjunct Professor by The University of
Hong Kong, The Chinese University of Hong Kong and Professor
of Practice (Planning) respectively by The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is now the Director of Jockey Club Design Institute for
Social Innovation, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Vice
Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing Society.
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Victor NG Chi-keung, BBS, MH
{H7E34 , BBS, MH

(Appointed on 1 April 2019
120195481 BEZEE)

Mr Victor Ng worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for 26 years. He
was admitted to the partnership in 1996 and early retired in May
2010 holding the position as the deputy managing partner for its
national audit function in Mainland China.

Other than Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited,
he is a director of Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D
Centre Limited, and the chairman of its Finance and Administration
Committee (FAC). He served as a council member of Hong Kong
Productivity Council (HKPC) from 2006 to 2016, the chairman of
the Audit Committee of HKPC from late 2005 to 2010, the deputy
chairman of HKPC and chairman of the FAC of HKPC from 2011 to
2016. He also acted as a director of Nano and Advanced Materials
Institute Limited (NAMI) and a member of the FAC since July 2012,
as well as the chairman of the FAC of NAMI since December 2012 till
December 2018.

Mr Ng holds a Bachelor Degree in Social Sciences from The
University of Hong Kong, an Executive Master Degree in Business
Administration and a Master of Arts in Comparative and Public
History from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a past
president of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(ACCA) in Hong Kong and currently a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and ACCA.
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Charleston SIN Chiu-shun
SR

Executive Director of

MIT Hong Kong Innovation
Node

MBIET 2T 158855
WITES

(Appointed on 1 April 2019

1201945 1 BEZT)

Board Members EEFRKE

Dr Charleston Sin is the Executive Director of the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology (MIT) Hong Kong Innovation Node. Prior
to joining MIT, Dr Sin cumulated 25 years of industry experience
in the technology industry, held executive positions in Research
& Development, Product Management, and Sales & Marketing at
VMware, Cisco Systems, and Nortel Networks in North America,
Asia Pacific/Japan, and Greater China. Dr Sin received his PhD in
Management Sciences at The University of Waterloo in 1997. He also
holds a master’s degree in Investment Management at the HKUST
in 2005, as well as a bachelor's and master’s degree in Operational
Research from the University of Manitoba. Currently, he holds
several non-profit appointments including Founding Secretary
General, Institute of Big Data Governance; Member of Advisory
Committee, Department of Journalism and Communication, Hong
Kong Shue Yan University; Industry Advisor, MIT-Tsinghua Future
City Innovation Connector, MIT; Industry Advisor, Hangzhou-Hong
Kong High End Service Industry Demonstration Cooperation.

HBRETIREMEETSRIEBRI I RITES - TINAR
BETERZA KT ESREITEER 25F00ER - BIER
&~ BRIRMANICT BREENE - EmEENHEE 2N
o EFLIN9TFERBHEARSREERNS BTSN - MER
005 FEEBRHYASEGSREEERTSB > UREEHEX
SEEZSBTMRLT S - BT MREZEED > BEARE
BEAZHIGHER EBHCASMBEEERLIZEES
8 ; ME TSR BERBAERRINTHAERS TR
B RAUNH BN EE B FTEN SRS R BT ELIR
E[RERR o

Hendrick SIN
g
Co-founder and Vice Chairman of
CMGE Technology Group
AR ER
HMEBBAKRBEIESE

Mr Hendrick Sin is a co-founder and the Vice Chairman of CMGE
Technology Group Limited, the largest IP-oriented mobile game
publisher in China; and also the founding partner of China Prosperity
Capital Fund, a leading private equity investment company with a
primary focus on technology investment. Mr Sin is the president
of the Internet Professional Association and the executive vice-
chairman of the Hong Kong Software Industry Association. He has
also been appointed by the HKSAR Government as a committee
member of the Youth Development Commission.

Mr Sin received a Master’s degree in Engineering Economics and
Operations Research from Stanford University in the US, and
holds three Bachelor of Science degrees in Computer Science/
Mathematics, Economics and Industrial Management (with college
honors) from Carnegie Mellon University. He was awarded the
Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong of 2018 by Federation of
Hong Kong Industries.

FEWRERTEEHPEREANETH —PF R ER
BRABNBMEABAKRBIESR  AHTATIRENERIT
(M BEEE—BRELRREELNRGBEBA - ARERBESR
EMEEEREERAEBRATEREEBREGR > TESS
FHTHERREERBFERESTES -

FREEREESHRASMN TIEEMESSRELTSRM » UKk
TREBREAZERSE HE  KERIHEE-EES LS
URBEX) - thBESBIEERRI018FEEBFELER
ﬁ o

Rosana WONG Wai-man
B2EH

Executive Director of

Yau Lee Holdings Limited
BNEEARAT
HITESR

Ms Rosana Wong, Executive Director of Yau Lee Holdings Limited,
leads Yau Lee Group to be a green integrated corporation providing
multidisciplinary construction related services. She is driven by her
passion in technology, innovation, science and urban spatial planning
and has further solidified her vision by founding Ophylla Ventures
and a group of start-ups in the context of smart city to create better
choices towards a citizen-centric and sustainable ecosystem by
dynamic intelligence.

Ms Wong is also the Vice President of Smart City Consortium,
Deputy Director of China Green Building (HK) Council, Member of
different HKSAR Government organisations, including Environment
and Conservation Fund Committee, Transport Advisory Committee,
Longterm Decarbonisation Strategies Support Group of Council for
Sustainable Development, Green Minibus Operators Selection Board,
Founding Member of the Built World Technology Alliance of Asia and
Advisory Board Member of Center for Integrated Facility Engineering
(CIFE) at Stanford University.
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Eric YEUNG Chuen-sing
BER

CEO and Co-founder of
Skyzer VC Group
KIBREEER
HE R A B TEARE,

(Appointed on 1 April 2019
1220195481 BEZRE)

Mr Eric Yeung is currently the CEO and Co-founder of Skyzer
VC Group. While leading the company's business development,
Mr Yeung also plays an active role in IT industry as well. He is the
president of the Hong Kong Esports Association, the President of
Smart City Consortium, the Vice President of Hong Kong Information
Technology Joint Council and the Vice Chairman of the Internet
Professional Association.

Concerning of youth development, Mr Yeung advocates the youth
to train up themselves and make contribution to the society. And
also disseminates the positive information to the public, shaping
a harmonious society with innovative technology. Mr Yeung is the
Executive Vice Chairman of the Hong Kong United Youth Association
and the Vice President of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Small
and Medium Business. He also takes his role as a member of Council
for Sustainable Development, and committee members of Committee
on the Promotion of Civic Education, Small and Medium Enterprises
Committee, the Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory
Committee (TUCAC), and HKTDC Innovation and Technology Advisory
Committee (HKTDC ITAC). In 2010, Mr Yeung was selected as the 4th
Young Leader of the Junior Chamber International Harbour.
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Edwin LEE Kan-hing
FiRE

Founder & Chief Executive Officer of
Bridgeway Prime Shop

Fund Management Limited
REmHESEEARAT
BB A\ B ATEARE,

(Retired on 31 March 2019
72201953831 HIEME)

Resigned/Retired Board Members
EBRMISREZESRAE

Bridgeway Group was established by Dr Edwin Lee in 2001 as a
business broker and builder. In 2015, Dr Lee transformed it into
Hong Kong's first SFC licensed asset management company, with
primary focus on shop investment and development, Dr Lee is a
Chartered Financial Analyst and a Certified Business Intermediary,
and received his Bachelor of Science in Finance and Master of
Science in Accounting from the University of Southern California
as well as a Doctor of Business Administration at The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a focus on entrepreneurship. In 2014,
he completed the Owner/President Management Programme at
Harvard Business School. Bridgeway and Dr Lee were featured
twice as case studies by The University of Hong Kong, listed under
Harvard Business Review in 2010 and 2012 respectively.
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Gregg G. LI Ka-lok
FRY

(Retired on 31 March 2019
72201943831 HIEM)

Dr Gregg Li has been an innovation evangelist, a serial entrepreneur,
and a governance adviser for over 35 years. Today, he serves as the
Honorary President of Invotech, seeking innovative ways to reinvent the
ecosystems of Hong Kong.

He is an advisor to the Business and Professionals Federation of Hong
Kong; the Center of Family Business at The Chinese University of Hong
Kong; and the School of Design of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Dr Li graduated from Washington University in St. Louis (Liberal Arts),
University of Hawaii in Economics (MA), The University of California, Los
Angeles (MBA), and University of Warwick (Engineering Doctorate).

He teaches courses in strategy, innovation and corporate governance in
many universities as a visiting professor and has received an Honorary
Professor of Practice in Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.
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CHEUK Wing-hing, JP
BkE , JP

(Resigned on 12 April 2019
720194 B 12H &)

Mr Cheuk Wing-hing has served in various bureaux and
departments. He was Director of Food and Environmental Hygiene
from 2007 to 2010, Commissioner for Labour from 2010 to 2014,
Director of Administration and Development in the Department of
Justice from 2014 to 2015, and Permanent Secretary for Innovation
and Technology from 2015 to 2019.
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Millie NG KIANG Mei-nei, JP
RIERZ L, JP

(Resigned on 30 July 2019
7201947 B30H &%)

Mrs Millie Ng has served in various bureaux and departments
including the Hong Kong Economic and Trade Office in Washington
DC, the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, and the Security
Bureau. She was the Acting Permanent Secretary for Innovation
and Technology of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region from 12 April to 29 July 2019.
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Corporate Information
NEIER

Address
Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited

Units 1102-1104, Level 11, Cyberport 2
100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3166 3800

Fax: (852) 3166 3118

Email: enquiry@cyberport.hk

Website: www.cyberport.nk

Auditor

Ernst & Young

Principal Bankers

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Solicitors

Mayer Brown
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Talent Cultivation and Development
AT BEFEEE

Cultivating talent and instilling entrepreneurship skills in youngsters are the cornerstone
of fostering the development of innovation and technology. In recent years, many university
students have got a taste of entrepreneurship through different programmes, while more
researchers have also commercialised their research results. Meanwhile, the government
has also devoted more resources to promote science education in schools, which we believe
will stimulate our younger generation’s interest in innovation and empower them with
fundamental knowledge.

EHAIR A HIZERIERR > BHBEIRZRNER o fFHRHLKELSE
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Launched in 2005, the Cyberport Incubation Programme (CIP) has nurtured TS BE S 2 52005FREF) » LEHRES
hundreds of successful start-ups over the years. Some of them have HE BRI » BEEIRDES
become “unicorns” (start-ups with a market capitalisation valued at US$1 MEAE (ME10EERTIU AR E) »
billion or above), including GOGOVAN and Klook. Driven by Hong Kong's  E13EGOGOVANFIR IR - lBE B EMNAIZERA SR
growing entrepreneurial spirit, CIP was met with the enthusiastic response BHE > TEERBIEE 128 RE REEZ » &
of the public with more than 600 applications in the past fiscal year. In view — PuiEfEBiB600/0 RS o A B &IE > F I
of this, we will increase the admission quotas of the programme to 130  2019/20EEH#E » #st8IZEEIL F S 13018 »
incubatees per year from 2019/20 onwards to bridge the demand gap. LUm B REARRIZEK o

Comprehensive entrepreneurship support

Talent Cultivation and Development AA IS S EZL R

Cyberport Start-up

D<A bowtie

“Despite the uncertainty of entrepreneurial journeys, Cyberport helped us formulate our

ENTEBYIEI T % development plans and set us on a path to success. By participating in the Cyberport
Creative Micro Fund and the Cyberport Incubation Programme, | gained many valuable

opportunities to showcase the business, including chances to attend international

conferences to promote Bowtie.”

iz W]ﬁl
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Lo BIRS WIS ERAEMEESKIZE S HMESRIHETENERRERE
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Fred Ngan EEIENE
Co-founder and Co-CEO of Bowtie
REANFEMA R ETTERRR

In 2018/19, Cyberport received further funding from the government to
increase the financial assistance ceiling of the CIP from HK$330,000 to
HK$500,000. More than 250 start-ups benefited from the enhanced scheme
during the year. To better gauge the performance of our incubatees,
Cyberport improved the funding mechanism with the introduction of a
performance-based assessment.

On top of the initial financial assistance of HK$100,000 granted to the
incubatee upon joining the programme, progressive reviews will be
carried out to evaluate the incubatee’'s performance over a two-year
period to determine the amount of the remaining funding of HK$400,000
to be granted. This is different from the previous arrangement of direct
reimbursement. The new mechanism enables Cyberport to monitor and
guides the start-ups more effectively. At the same time, red tape was
cut to allow start-ups more flexibility to innovate and achieve committed
milestones to their best abilities.

In addition to financial assistance, Cyberport provides comprehensive
support for start-ups, including professional advice of mentors, technical
advice and investor matching. They are also entitled to free access
to Cyberport's co-working spaces during the incubation period. The
Entrepreneurship Centre, located at Cyberport 3, is designated for the CIP
incubatees. It was officially launched during the year to provide start-ups
with state-of-the-art equipment and a comfortable environment for work,
meetings and collaboration.

Cyberport continues to provide the HK$100,000 seed funding through
Cyberport Creative Micro Fund (CCMF). During the six-month programme
period, the start-ups can put their ideas into practice and develop
product or solution prototypes. In 2018/19, a total of 97 projects were
granted by CCMF. The projects range from FinTech, smart living to digital
entertainment.

°
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Cyberport Start-up “AMBIT is committed to developing the unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) intelligent geographic
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information system. After joining the Cyberport Incubation Programme, we find it easier

to reach out to creative talent and entrepreneurs from all over the world on the Cyberport
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campus. Also, thanks to the all-round support provided by the Cyberport team, we are now
able to let more media outlets and the public understand the latest development of drone
sketching technology and how it contributes to the smart city development in Hong Kong.”

FTAMBITIR E 3 RE A B SEHIBE RS R4 > RIEMATENSBIES B - BEHEE

To encourage more young entrepreneurs to expand into the mainland
market, the Cyberport Guangdong-Hong Kong Young Entrepreneur
Programme (Cyberport GD-HK YEP) was organised. It connected aspiring
IT and digital tech entrepreneurs in both Hong Kong and Guangdong to
explore collaboration possibilities. A total of 10 Guangdong-Hong Kong
cooperation projects were selected to get the seed funding provided by
the Cross-Boundary Programme of the CCMF. The Cyberport GD-HK YEP

ll be upgraded and renamed as the Cyberport Greater Bay Area Young
Entrepreneurship Programme (GBA YEP) in 2019/20, serving the building
entrepreneurs of all of the major cities across the Greater Bay Area,
including Hong Kong, Macau and the Guangdong Province.

In partnership with the six major universities in Hong Kong, the
Cyberport University Partnership Programme (CUPP) has been in place
for four consecutive years to provide students with FinTech-focused
entrepreneurship training opportunities. Last year, a total of 19 teams
from the local universities joined CUPP and attended a week-long FinTech
bootcamp held at the University of Chicago Booth School of Business and
visited top tech firms and start-up accelerators in Chicago. Before and after
the trip, the teams spent time with top industry experts to learn about the
FinTech landscape to help them develop market-ready solutions. The 13
outstanding teams selected by a judging panel each won a seed funding
of HK$100,000 to kick-start their entrepreneurial dream, plus a fast-track
interview opportunity to the CIP.
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Eric Yau EZ2[fE
Founder of AMBIT
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Smart-Space 8 expands Cyberport’s geographical coverage

Over the years, Cyberport has established seven Smart-Space co-working
spaces on the Pokfulam campus to provide start-ups with affordable, well-
equipped office and meeting spaces. In 2018/19, Cyberport expanded out
of Pokfulam for the first time and established a new co-working space in
Tsuen Wan.

Offered under the Space Sharing Scheme for Youth proposed in the 2017 Policy
Address, Smart-Space 8 comprises about 20,000 square feet of floor space and
is offered to eligible applicants, aged 18-35 starting up a business, at discounted
rental rates relative to market prices. Since its inception in last July, Smart-
Space 8 has attracted 90 start-ups, with an occupancy rate of 85 per cent.
During the year, Cyberport hosted about 40 events, workshops, sharing sessions
and networking events at Smart-Space 8 to promote the entrepreneurial
atmosphere and sharing of ideas.
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Improving start-ups’ competitiveness

Cyberport is committed to helping start-ups equip themselves with the
latest technology tools, marketing channels and investor pitching skills.
Cyberport Technology Network (CTN) brings together the world's top tech
companies, including Alibaba Cloud, Amazon Web Services (AWS), Google,
Microsoft and Tencent Cloud, to provide start-ups with technical seminars,
workshops, certificate courses and other skill-building activities. These
training resources equip them with more advanced technical skills like
cloud computing, Al, big data analytics and social media marketing. Special
packages were offered to the start-ups at affordable prices.

Last October, Cyberport teamed up with 500 Startups to host the two-day
Cyberport Angel Investor Pitch Training, which was taught by 500 Startups
experts, on how to handle investor relations. Besides, Cyberport also
organised a series of "Start-up Clinic" workshops with experts advising on
strategies to enter the mainland market, set business objectives, as well as
manage financial risk.

Cyberport Start-up
BIEBEIEE

RAMEGRSED

IS ERNHBVACEZREEHRRE
B~ EiH ~ B EEMREEEE BRI o
FEE AR EK BESIRBELANAE G
¥ BIEREE - o HIHEMARARYS (AWS)
Google ~ Microsoft i1 EE » AAIE 2R
TR « TR « BEHRES > BIAE
EZimstE - ALEE ~ REURD TR T
BEHELERE > MBOBREEEHE
FRAEADA] b 2 FE R R IR AT PIE o

S AN A F 108 Bt [F1500 Startups > 2 ¥
% H3 M X B9 Cyberport Angel Investor Pitch
Training > F3500 StartupsHIBR K EREHRE
BHYIRIG o LEAh » BRSBTS RSP &
FITIEYS » BAERAVAIRERRARRA
AHTIS ~ BIEEBERURHTBRREIES
FHERERE ©

“ ROBORN DYNAMICS
d  BEFEND

“We have received different types of support since joining the CIP in 2018. Roborn has
gained a lot of promotion opportunities. In particular, Cyberport's media and marketing

network support make it easier for us to reach out to investors. With much honour, we
received the 2019 Hong Kong ICT Awards - “ICT Startup” Grand Award and “Hardware &
Devices” Gold Award in April this year. Through these recognitions, we hope to draw more

MAERE-

public attention to the development of 5G robotics technology in Hong Kong.”
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Eden Lu 3 hE

Founder and CEO of Roborn Dynamics
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Cultivating the next generation of talent

Cyberport has been actively promoting comprehensive training to expose
students to the fundamentals of entrepreneurship and technology
innovation, including internship and career support, to prepare them for a
future career in the tech sector.

In partnership with DreamStarter, a not-for-profit organisation, Cyberport
co-hosted the “Third DreamStarter Kids Pitching Day” to allow students
from 11 primary and secondary schools to share their dream projects
on Cyberport’s start-up stage. They put forward over 200 solutions to
problems in our daily life and social issues and bid for funds through online
crowdfunding platforms. More than 3,000 teachers and students took part
in the event.

In early 2019, Cyberport co-operated with AWS Educate by the Amazon Web
Services (AWS), to provide free online cloud computing courses for more
than 400 students over 14 years old. The curriculum is designed to help
students develop technical expertise in cloud computing.

Cyberport has stepped up efforts in FinTech talent cultivation. To do so, as
an example, we collaborated with Bank of China (Hong Kong) in April last
year to stage the BOCHK FinTech Hackathon 2018. More than 130 teams
took part in the competition.

Besides, Cyberport also co-organised the “Inter-School Innovation
Competition on Insurance Technology: Life Can Be Insured” with the
Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, the Vocational Training Council
(VTC) and the Financial Incentive Scheme for Professional Training ("FIS")
pilot scheme. Over 220 secondary school and university students took part
in the competition, which included workshops and a 24-hour hackathon, to
showcase their innovative ideas in InsurTech.
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Cultivating esports talent

Esports is emerging as an exciting new market. Demand for esports talent
with diverse skill sets will continue to grow. Cyberport is now actively
supporting esports and one of the initiatives is to train more esports talent
and encourage more young people to join the digital entertainment and
esports industries.

As part of the initiative, Cyberport and HKU SPACE now jointly offer the
“Diploma in eSports Science” programme so as to develop a talent pool
for the esports industry. It is the first esports course in Hong Kong that is
equivalent to Level 3 of Hong Kong Qualifications Framework. The part-time
course commenced in July last year and is expected to admit 50 students
in each programme period.

Meanwhile, the first batch of 40 students completed the Junior Police Call
(JPC) Foundation Certificate in Esports Science and graduated last year.
The programme was organised in partnership with the Hong Kong Esports
Association, HKU SPACE and the JPC. Four of the participants were offered
an opportunity to serve as helpers at the Asian Games in Jakarta last year.
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Attracting more young people into tech careers

In 2018/19, Cyberport offered more than 210 local students an opportunity
to intern at various tech firms and the IT departments of large enterprises
through the Cyberport Digital Tech Internship Programme. Apart from local
employers, Cyberport offered internship opportunities at Silicon Valley,
as well as at companies or organisations in Shanghai and the Greater
Bay Area. Companies participating in the programme now include Cisco
Systems and Fung Omni Services (Shenzhen).

Apart from internship placement, every year Cyberport organises an
annual Career Fair to give students, fresh graduates and job seekers an
opportunity to explore the job openings offered by Cyberport community
members. Over 600 job openings were offered by nearly 100 tech
companies at the fifth annual Career Fair held in March this year. The fair
attracted over 2,600 job seekers interested in the innovation and technology
sector. An “Esports Zone" was featured for the first time, in which 16 esports
companies were present.

Creating sustainable talent pool

After years of concerted efforts, Cyberport has established close
co-operative relationships with local and overseas higher education
institutions, professional bodies and tech giants to jointly cultivate
innovative talents with an international perspective and enhance industry
standards. Down the road, Cyberport will continue to consolidate
professional courses, training resources, internship programmes and
mentor network in collaboration with tertiary institutions, professional
bodies and technology partners.
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Smart Living
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Cyberport spares no effort in establishing innovation and technology as one of the economic
pillars for Hong Kong that will continue to drive economic growth. We have identified
FinTech, digital entertainment & esports and smart living as the three major clusters with
the highest growth potential. We also promote the advancement of Al & big data, blockchain
and cybersecurity that will lay the foundations for future technology applications.

AR SHKAF KA EITEMEBNIEES » HHEEIANRRAER
5] o BUEBF LTV =(ERAHE - SEEME - BIBREEE TR
RESERNEXRLR > BEADGER  FNSRBESNATEERRHE - B
SEEAM > MURAAEZE N EMIRAMER » /R EREEER

_Q Thriving FinTech ecosystem

FinTech is the fastest growing technology cluster in Hong Kong. As the
largest FinTech community in the territory, Cyberport is now home to around
350 FinTech companies. They offer a range of turnkey FinTech solutions,
such as financial software and services, big data analytics, InsurTech,
wealth planning solutions and digital payment, to cater to the diverse needs
of all segments of the financial sector and to create new market demands.

Cyberport is proactive in attracting well-established, high-impact financial
and tech firms to empower the FinTech community alongside our start-ups.
In April last year, Finastra established the new Future of Banking Center of
Excellence at Cyberport Smart-Space FinTech to offer FinTech support to
Asia’s banking sector.
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In the meantime, Cyberport raises the profile of Hong Kong's FinTech
capability through organising and taking part in different industry events.
As an example, led by InvestHK, the Hong Kong FinTech Week was staged
from 29 October to 2 November. As one of the FinTech partners of the
event, Cyberport set up a pavilion dedicated to showcasing the cutting-edge
FinTech solutions of nine Cyberport community members. Last May, we
also partnered with NexChange to organise the FinTech 020 Global Summit
that attracted some 1,500 participants.

Through taking part in international events, such as the Singapore FinTech
Festival as well as FinTech Taipei, we aim to exhibit, showcase and
introduce our FinTech community members’ product and services to global
buyers and potential investors alike. Cyberport also hosted a new solution
conference at FinTech Taipei to introduce the latest FinTech trends and
innovation environment in Hong Kong.

Virtual banking opens new chapter

Among the eight virtual banking operators that were granted a licence by
the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA), ZhongAn Virtual Finance and
Welab belong to the Cyberport community. Virtual banking is opening a
new chapter in the transformation of the banking industry. It will further
solidify Hong Kong's position as an international financial centre and make
constant improvements to banking services.

Cyberport Start-up
BIEBEIEE
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OneDegree

“International conferences organised by Cyberport have given OneDegree opportunities
to bounce ideas with influential industry leaders from around the world. For example,

as one of the speakers at the Internet Economy Summit, | was able to establish

collaboration opportunities.”

AERERTBELIREREIFHES ©

more personal connections with other speakers, giving us new inspirations and even

MBIBHEE BRI ATLES) > OneDegree FLAMIR Bt RE M RETERREENM ©
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Alvin Kwock B2 i
Founder and CEO of OneDegree
OneDegreeBlI#t A K247 B4R

OneDegree
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N\ ZA International

Cyberport Community Member “Hong Kong is an important part of the internationalisation of ZhongAn’s business

HESEILBEE

development. We are attracted by Cyberport's campus environment, well-developed

facilities and all-round support. Apart from the rental concessions provided by the Easy

Landing Scheme, Cyberport connects us with its high-standard FinTech community,

ZHITBRAMMIEHE - |

not only facilitating business development but also stimulating new ideas and
collaborations through knowledge and experience sharing.”
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T TRAZEIZE - RTTZEE A ERMASEEI - BISERIBERAFIEE
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Wayne Xu 51&

President of ZA International
Bl SicE =

A fruitful year for InsurTech

InsurTech is a key part of the FinTech movement. Bowtie, a Cyberport
incubatee, was authorised by the Insurance Authority (IA) last December
to operate as a pure online insurer under the Fast Track programme, the
first of its kind in Hong Kong. Bowtie offers insurance products with simple
structure and strong protection coverage at lower premiums through its
digital distribution channels.

OneDegree, another Cyberport incubatee focused on InsurTech, announced
their collaboration with Cigna Corporation’s Hong Kong business earlier
this year to simplify the insurance purchase and claims process. OneDegree
is also applying for a new insurer authorisation with the IA and has
completed A2 round fundraising. OneDegree is ready to provide insurance
services through its proprietary platform once licensing is in place.

Indeed, Cyberport’'s FinTech companies' achievements are well recognised
by industry accolades. Altogether, our community members won 14 awards
across nine categories in the FinTech Awards 2018 organised by ET Net,
encompassing insurance, consumer payments initiative, wealth investment
and management, lending and FX/payment solutions.

e
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Digital entertainment and esports take off

Digital entertainment including esports is an emerging industry. In
alignment with the government's industry development strategy,
Cyberport is making concerted efforts in three key areas: talent cultivation,
competitions and technology development.

Game design, virtual reality (VR), augmented reality (AR), competition
organising and player training are some of the aspects of the esports value
chain. This opens up tremendous opportunities for youngsters to pursue
an esports career and for entrepreneurs to build companies. In this regard,
Cyberport has been working closely with schools and industry bodies to
develop talent for the esports sector.

During the year, Cyberport supported various esports events held in Hong
Kong, including Hong Kong E-sports & Music Festival, Alisports WESG Hong
Kong Esports Festival and Hong Kong Esports Amateur Championship.
By endorsing esports events, Cyberport hopes that esports will become
another economic driver for Hong Kong. For example, Cyberport organised
a series of talks and seminars during the year and encouraged industry
players to take part in industry exhibitions and fairs. In November 2018,
Cyberport led a delegation to visit the G-Star 2018 at the BEXCO in Woo-
dong of Busan, South Korea to learn about the country’s latest esports
trends.

Last year, the HKSAR Government allocated HK$100 million to Cyberport
for us to promote the esports industry. A total of HK$50 million has been
allocated for building a dedicated esports venue at the Cyberport Arcade.
The project was completed in July 2019. The "Digital Entertainment
Leadership Forum” was organised as the inaugural event and gathered
global industry elites to share their insights on esports development.
Cyberport has also launched the “E-sports Industry Facilitation Scheme”
and the "E-sports Internship Scheme” to encourage esports companies to
offer more internship opportunities, and organise training and overseas
field trip.
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Cyberport Start-up
BESEEERE

EMBER

ENTERTAINMENT

“It only took me a day to make the decision to move to Smart-Space 8. | like the creative
environment and strong entrepreneurial atmosphere here which encourage me to

continue pursuing my dream. Regular gatherings and seminars organised by Cyberport

partners that help us grow.”

give us opportunities to meet start-ups in other industries and potential business

MERE—ARERTEEHSSs » RENSETBAEHRIZNEENAZRA - BRPE
SRELIEL - BRBISBEMNTENRENBE - BLERMBTEENVAIRENE
TEEEBH > AUHMAESREE -

Joseph Ku F&Z

Ember Entertainment Limited BlJ3if A K 48%;

Smart living solutions in action

Transforming Hong Kong into a smart city means creating an all-inclusive
city with higher efficiency and standards of living. This is the sure way to
go.

Packed with office buildings, shopping facilities, a hotel and car-parking
spaces, and other community facilities, Cyberport serves as a showcase
for the solutions of smart living start-ups. As part of this initiative, the
innovative, unmanned “Smart Living Concept Store” was launched this
year. Located at the “IT street” at Cyberport 3, the 24-hour store offers a
wide range of products different from ordinary vending machines, such
as hot food, fresh salad, fruits and gadgets. Smart plastic and aluminium
bottle recycling machines are also available at the store to encourage
recycling. Many other products and services are provided by our start-ups.

Besides, we unveiled a new smart toilet at the shopping arcade, electric
vehicle charging stations at the car park, and robots at our office. These
smart facilities make the Cyberport complex as a whole smarter, more
efficient and more convenient. We also offer a place for start-ups to test
market response and opportunities to showcase their innovations to
potential investors.

Founder and Director of Ember Entertainment Limited
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Awarding-winning solutions

The smart living solutions from Cyberport start-ups have earned enviable
industry recognition. Overall, our start-ups scooped a total of 15 awards
across the smart living, smart citizen, smart mobility and business solution
categories at the annual Hong Kong ICT Awards. Cyberport also supported
the Yidan Prize Conference held in December 2018. During the event, the
EdTech Challenge competition was held for the first time to allow eight
Cyberport EdTech start-ups to pitch their diversified education solutions
with machine learning, big data and animation.

Fostering technological innovations

Al, big data, blockchain and cybersecurity lay a solid foundation for future
technological developments. Cyberport is at the forefront of fostering
the advancement of these emerging technologies. In June 2018, EmTech
Hong Kong, a global conference on emerging technologies, was staged at
Cyberport for the first time. The event gathered some of the world's most
famous tech leaders to explore topics like harnessing Al to stabilise food
supply, smart machines and blockchain-based payment systems.

Cyberport was also a strategic partner of Al Summit 2018, during which
four start-ups that specialise in Al from Cyberport presented their state-
of-the-art solutions on stage. In March 2019, Cyberport collaborated with
Block 020 to be a co-organiser of the Hong Kong Blockchain Week. The
event attracted over 4,000 industry professionals, start-ups and investors
from more than 50 countries. The participants shared their views on the
latest market landscape and insights on the application of blockchain from
regulatory and legal perspectives.

While FinTech and smart living solutions are now widely visible in
applications, cybersecurity is the invisible glue that instils trust and
confidence in the course of digital transformation. While cybersecurity is
not something new, it now presents enormous opportunities in the start-up
scene. At Cyberport, we will strengthen our support to cybersecurity start-
ups and encourage them to innovate.
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Integration of New and Traditional Economies
HTASE RS A E RS

The new economy is inseparable from the traditional economy. Through the Cyberport
Enterprise Network (CEN) and a series of major events, Cyberport is committed to promoting
collaboration and building partnerships between well-established companies and start-ups
so that they can complement each other’s advantages to face the challenges in operations
and create value. With these efforts, Hong Kong's overall competitiveness can be enhanced.
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During the 24-hour contest, each team was required to develop a prototype
utilising an application programming interface (API) provided by Microsoft
to create a more comfortable and eco-friendly living environment that
provides a better experience for people to work, play and shop. The Grand
Prize went to the Petrack team comprised of members from Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Israel. They came up with an innovative loT solution
that targets the pet market.

We also co-organised the Cathay Pacific 24-hour Hackathon with the
airline and the Airport Authority of Hong Kong in November last year.
Participants demonstrated their innovative technology solutions to
enhance the passenger experience. The competition was divided into two
groups, Student and Professional. The winning team also made a visit to
Amazon, Boeing and Microsoft in Seattle, the US, to understand the latest
technological development.

Professional services also see the need for digital transformation, including
legal services. In April 2018, Cyberport co-organised the Access to Justice
(A2J) InnoTechlLaw Hackathon with the Law Society of Hong Kong. In
February 2019, Cyberport supported the Global Legal Hackathon - Hong
Kong to promote the development and adoption of RegTech in order to
make compliance efforts more cost-effective and encourage for the digital
transformation of law firms is indisputable.
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oneCHARGE

Through the Cyberport Enterprise Network (CEN), Cyberport proactively
reaches out to traditional enterprises to understand the difficulties they
face in their business and development. They are then paired with start-
ups that provide the right digital solutions to solve their problems. This way,
established companies are able to take their business to the next level while
offering significant business opportunities to start-ups and tech companies.

Using technology to improve competitiveness

In October 2018, Cyberport worked with telecom operator SmarTone for
the second time to co-host SmarTone Hackathon. The coding competition
was held again under the theme of “Smart Properties”. The event partners
also included property developer Sun Hung Kai Properties and data centre
operator SUNeVision. Developers, designers and start-ups competed head-
to-head on "Smart Life" and "Smart Property Management” challenges.
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Cyberport Start-up “We are a Cyberport incubatee. When electric vehicle (EV) chargers were not yet
ENTEBYIEI % popular in Hong Kong, Cyberport accepted our innovative idea and supported us by
installing our EV charging stations at Cyberport for a test run. oneCHARGE set up
six charging stations in the Cyberport parking lot. Not only did the experience help
us approach new customers, it also allowed us to foresee and address the potential
challenges after market launch. The Cyberport team has provided extensive support

and valuable advice to us.”
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Cyrus Chow [E &g !
Co-founder of oneCHARGE '\
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Cyberport Start-up
BEEAEYRIEE

Driving digital transformation through industry events

QLIVEX

B ETTER
“The Cyberport team is actively helping start-ups to integrate with traditional
economies. Thanks to the connections of Cyberport, we have successfully entered the
hotel industry and introduced OLIVEX ‘s smart mirror in Le Méridien Cyberport's gym
room, which laid a solid foundation for our future business development.”
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Keith Rumjahn #AE&{&
Founder and CEO of OLIVEX °
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In April 2018, Cyberport partnered with the United Nations Economic and — Z{E5E7E20184FE48 » BB S E SN R AT+
Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP) to host the Asia- &HBEHESEEEIE > BRITERW TR
Pacific Business Forum (APBF) in Hong Kong for the first time to encourage @18 > S ERE HF AR « AlFMHE -
the business community to use innovative technologies and financing to (BEDHEEROIFELE

Integration of New and Traditional Economies H&& 7 R B4R ERI S

Cyberport also encourages start-ups to explore and embrace new
opportunities through participation in industry exhibitions, seminars and
networking events, such as the Asian Financial Forum, electronics fairs
and IT expos. These events provide plenty of opportunities for start-ups to
promote innovative ideas, products and services to traditional businesses
in the financial and consumer electronics sectors.

In January this year, the Asia Telecom Summit was held at Cyberport. The
Summit is a meeting place for members of the wireless communications
ecosystem. Start-ups were also encouraged to develop practical solutions
with the latest technologies to prepare themselves for the future
development of the telecom industry.

Leading the open data revolution

An open data infrastructure is of utmost importance for cities to transform
digitally into smart cities. To enable more start-ups to access big data,
Cyberport will join forces with Hong Kong's major organisations to form an
Open Data Consortium to bring together the big data from different sectors
to provide a sandbox environment where innovators can test and develop
their solutions. The strong interlock between digital transformation and
big data can create new value out of under-utilised data and transform
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promote sustainable development. . )
traditional business models. J3e
Following the APBF, the third edition of the Internet Economy Summit was — ME#:I o KR8 1817 > REIEEEIER
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ﬁ’r Find Solution®

Cyberport Start-up “Cyberport has given us tremedous support from funding and hiring to market

HEERMAIEE

goals, and most importantly, to explore collaboration opportunities. expansion. After launching 4LittleTrees, | met a Japanese angel investor through a
Cyberport pitching event and successfully raised our first round of capital. Our business
has now expanded into Asian markets including Thailand and Japan, and is serving not

only schools but also corporate training.”
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Investor Engagement and Outreach

R EEARETS

Investors are an indispensable part of the start-up landscape. Identifying
the right investors not only can help a start-up expand and sustain, they can
also offer valuable advice and help with reaching out to potential partners
and customers. Cyberport is committed to connecting entrepreneurs with
investors. As part of this commitment, Cyberport Investors Network (CIN)
was established at the end of 2017. After more than a year, it attracted
nearly 100 institutional investors, including private equity funds, venture
capital funds, corporate investors, angel investors and family offices, by the
end of March 2019. Since its inception, CIN has thus far backed 10 projects,
raising more than HK$234 million.

Cyberport also hosted the annual Cyberport Venture Capital Forum (CVCF)
in November 2018, which brought together the most promising start-
ups and investors to share insights into the latest tech trends and paths
to collaboration. The forum further featured an online investor matching
platform for start-ups to match their projects with investors, thereby
maximising Cyberport start-ups’ fundraising opportunities.

During the year, Cyberport Macro Fund (CMF) continued to proactively
identify potential projects and invested in a number of Cyberport start-
ups on a matching basis. Three new investments completed by CMF in
the fiscal year included YEECHOQO, a designer fashion rental platform,
HelloToby, a community driven marketplace for consumer services, and
DocDoc, a medical education system. Another five investments including
for Find Solution Ai, an Al-powered education system; Origami Labs and

Rinlink, which focus on Internet-of-Things (loT) solutions; Farméé, an agri-

tech pioneer; as well as an InsurTech company, OneDegree have been
committed. These eight investment projects involved a total of more
than US$8 million of funding from CMF and US$25 million from other co-
investment funds in addition.
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Besides, Cyberport partnered with Silicon Dragon to host the Silicon Dragon #8578 Silicon Dragon &1 » IREELB D
Hong Kong Conference in April last year. A number of representatives  £&§f#Silicon Dragon Hong Kong » &5 5R&
of private equity funds from around the world were invited to share  MIFAEESARE » DEZRERTEENOEFU
their insights and knowledge of the technology industry and investment  KREBEREENIRELEE ﬁﬁﬁ%@%ﬂ%hﬁ%
opportunities. The conference aims to foster investment in high-potential ~ A @RS IFBELEESEIRETIEE -
start-ups through networking and face-to-face pitching.

Cyberport Start-up
HIEBAEIEE

U Farrbe

“Since our 20,000 ft flagship plantation opened last year, we have been actively
exploring overseas markets, such as Japan and Southeast Asia. Last November, we
are fortunate that we travelled to Tokyo with Cyberport and joined the ‘Think Global,
Think Hong Kong' campaign. In addition, we have successfully expanded our business
to DaHengQin through Cyberport’'s network. Farméé is also promoting our patented
technologies to Dubai. We are grateful to Cyberport for connecting start-ups to
investors to capture new opportunities.”
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Chief Executive Officer of Farméé '\
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Investor Engagement and Outreach 1B & & H AT IS

Facilitating access to overseas markets

After years of efforts, many Cyberport start-ups have matured and are
ready to go the extra mile by tapping into overseas markets. In the year
of 2018/19, Cyberport received further funding from the Hong Kong SAR
Government to launch the Overseas/Mainland Market Development
Support Scheme (MDSS), to offer as much as HK$200,000 of subsidies. The
funding scheme is intended to assist graduates of the Cyberport Incubation
Programme and the Cyberport Creative Micro Fund with their go-to-
market strategies for entering the mainland and overseas markets. Since
the MDSS was launched in November 2018, a total of 13 applications were
granted funding support by the end of March 2019.

To introduce their solutions to business leaders from around the world,
Cyberport also led start-ups to participate in major international events
held during the year, such as the Belt and Road Summit, Asian Financial
Forum, RISE Conference and JUMPSTARTER held in Hong Kong, in order to
help them explore overseas market opportunities.

In November last year, we led a delegation of Cyberport companies to
participate in the “Think Global, Think Hong Kong” symposium held in
Japan. Apart from introducing Hong Kong's FinTech and smart living
innovations to the symposium attendees, the participating Cyberport
start-ups set up booths to introduce their business plans to the Japanese
business community as a way to test the market response.

On that occasion, Cyberport took the opportunity to sign a memorandum of
understanding (MoU) with Mizuho Financial Group of Japan to strengthen
support for start-ups from Hong Kong and Japan in terms of investor
matching and market expansion in both places. It is hoped that mutual
support will help Hong Kong start-ups enter the Japanese market more easily
and attract more Japanese start-ups to establish a presence in Hong Kong.
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In February this year, Cyberport signed an MoU with InnoSpace of Thailand.
Thailand InnoSpace is a public-private joint venture positioned as a launch
pad for Thai start-ups to grow and thrive. The two parties will establish
a cooperation framework to promote innovation and entrepreneurship,
connecting start-ups, talent and resource exchanges. It also aims at
attracting Thai start-ups to set up a business in Hong Kong and to help
Cyberport start-ups foray into the Thai and ASEAN markets once they
are ready. The signing ceremony was witnessed by the Chief Executive of
the Hong Kong SAR Government, Mrs Carrie Lam, and the Deputy Prime
Minister of Thailand, Mr Somkid Jatusripitak.

Attracting MNCs to Cyberport

In addition to assisting Hong Kong start-ups to enter overseas markets, Cyberport
is committed to attracting overseas companies, especially multinational companies
(MNCs), to establish a presence at Cyberport to invigorate the Cyberport ecosystem.

During the year, Cyberport introduced the “Easy Landing” scheme to offer
discounted rental spaces to attract leading tech giants and FinTech firms from
abroad and the mainland, as well as tech firms with unique propositions. Zhong An
International, a leading FinTech group from Mainland China, was the first company
that established operations at Cyberport through the scheme during the year.

Looking forward, Cyberport will continue to expand its international network
to help more start-ups expand their global business footprint. Meanwhile,
top tech companies and promising start-ups from around the world will be
brought in to grow Cyberport's and Hong Kong's start-up and innovation
ecosystems, thereby accelerating Hong Kong's economic growth.
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Cyberport Start-up
BISEYRIEE

M/ iINAS

“We are very grateful to have Cyberport as our partner throughout the growth of
Unissoft's DeepTech development. With the support from their incubation programme

and the opportunities they offered in the last two years, our team was able to share

our DeepTech with various government departments and enterprises from Hong

Kong and Mainland China. Cyberport's extensive network in the Greater Bay Area has

enabled Unissoft to develop a complete supply chain - helping us to further expand our

business in the mainland market.”
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Aldous Ng REE
Founder and CEO of Unissoft Technology Co, Ltd.
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Operation Excellence
HEiE

Cyberport is committed to providing comprehensive support for start-
ups. In doing so, Cyberport organises hundreds of activities every year to
promote innovation and collaboration while providing high-quality office
spaces for enterprises and start-ups. At Cyberport, our team constantly
strives to strengthen and refine professional effectiveness to obtain
maximum team performance while maintaining high service quality.

Professional team

Over the past year, the Cyberport management team was joined by a
number of experienced executives from the tech and business sectors. In
light of the continual growth of the Cyberport community, the management
has been expanded moderately to meet the growing demand for start-up
support and drive future development.

Cyberport attaches great importance to continued employee training. Apart
from arranging induction and orientation programmes for new executives
and employees, we organise trainings and workshops for employees
from time to time, such as inviting ICAC representatives to advise new
employees on anti-corruption guidelines and best practices. Since 2018,
Cyberport has been holding quarterly “Town Hall's” for all staff members,
in which the management will explain to colleagues the latest company
developments and answer their questions in order to give them a more
thorough understanding of the company’s overall development strategy.
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Motivating employees during the Christmas and Chinese New Year periods
is a good way of boosting morale after what is likely to have been a busy
year. The two annual holiday parties we host are what most employees
are looking forward to after a fruitful year. During the year, Cyberport also
reviewed the holiday policy that set out employees’ entitlements to annual
leave and top-up benefits. For example, we have made it more flexible for
employees to apply for leave, added paid leaves for birthday, and when
they get married.

Making Cyberport a better place to work

To build a better workplace for Cyberport companies and their employees
as well as a better experience for visitors, Cyberport is committed to
continuously upgrading the complex’s facilities. The major projects carried
out during the year included the upgrading of power supply and back-up
systems, water-proofing works, and so forth.

During the year, the management implemented a number of eco-friendly
measures, such as recycling swimming pool water from the hotel for
cleaning and tuning chilled water temperature to cut energy consumption.
Thanks to these efforts, Cyberport has obtained the “Excellence” grading
in the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme for Offices and Public Places,
an “Excellent Class Certificate” under the IAQ Certification Scheme, and a
Wastewi$e Certificate (Excellence Level).

/)

Operation Excellence 2= 1E

RPTEEEROREBHE > EMETR
2 ERIFETUERB RN IE X6
BRA > ZEBRZBAEBZRXRNKE - F
W REITMEET T B TRYRIAZ HE > AN
BT HHFRIBEN « 1BRE BRGNS
R

FERAREIRR

AT LTEENNEERHEET » URINEHE
BEFNEER > BISERNIEABRERIER
i FRAEBTIRRRENHERL  RES
TR IIEE -

EEEBIMRE S ESIRIE R Z00EE 0 ©1F
BEEABESE  BRBAXNKEFTER
7w~ BBE S RAICR U BN B AEIRSE o BB
EERE > EEMAERATRSRERNER
BRTEWHRIES FNERNERBS (S
MR U R RiEE R & (=lARA) ©

SFE 2018/19 R 65




/)

Operation Excellence 2= 1E

y

Operation Excellence 2= 1E

Smart Campus

By deploying smart facilities such as the Smart Living Concept Store, smart
lockers, smart mirrors and electric vehicle chargers, the Cyberport team
has a vision to build a smart campus that brings extra convenience to our
community members and visitors.

Le Méridien Cyberport

LLe Méridien Cyberport is an integral part of Cyberport, providing first-class
hotel accommodation for visitors, as well as superior catering services
for Cyberport members and the community. The hotel is also leading
the transformation in the adoption of smart hospitality technology. The
gym rooms have been equipped with smart mirrors, an innovation by a
Cyberport start-up, introducing advanced fitness technology to visitors.
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Community engagement

Cyberport boasts a beautiful environment for start-up incubation and well-
equipped amenities and facilities for the ecosystem to thrive. It is further
hoped that they can be extended to the broader community. In September
last year, the Southern District Preparatory Committee for the Celebration
of the National Day held the Southern District National Day eSports
Carnival at the Cyberport Arcade. Pro teams were invited to show their top-
notch gaming skills and the audience was given the opportunity to play
against these teams. There were also interactive games for the public to
enjoy the fun, including esports games, retro games and AR games. The
general public and stakeholders from the esports community were invited
to join the exciting event.

In the future, we will continue to organise more exchange and experiential
activities to engage different stakeholders.
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Cyberport Start-up
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@SOFTHARD-IO

“We are delighted that Cyberport has adopted Softhard.l0's smart solutions to build a
Smart Toilet in the Cyberport Arcade, to further promote smart living and to provide
great opportunity for start-ups, allowing us to optimise our products.”
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Co-founder and Director of Softhard.|O °
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERWRS

Our Commitment

Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited (the "Company”)
is committed to maintaining and upholding high standards of corporate
governance. We believe that good corporate governance provides
the foundation for good corporate performance and is essential to
accomplishing our public missions, meeting the expectations of our
stakeholders, and attaining long-term and sustainable growth. We have
therefore adopted accountability, transparency, fairness, ethics and
integrity as the cornerstones of our corporate governance framework.

Corporate Governance Structure
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Board of Directors

The Board has the collective responsibilities for the leadership and control
of the Company within a framework of prudent and effective controls. It
governs and leads the Company in a responsible and effective manner.

The Board sets the corporate strategies and approves the operating plans
proposed by Management. Each Board Member has a duty to act in good
faith and in the best interests of the Company.

To ensure effective discharge of duties by Board Members, the Board
assumes the responsibility of ensuring that each Board Member has spent
sufficient time to attend to the affairs of the Company. All Board Members
are kept abreast of the development of the Company through regular Board
meetings, and receipt of regular financial and business updates.

Board Members may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties.

The Company has also arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance to indemnify the Board Members against liabilities arising out of
the discharge of their duties and responsibilities as the Company's Board
Members.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman of the Board, and the Chief Executive Officer
("CEO") of the Company are complementary, but importantly, they
are distinct and separate with a clear and well established division of
responsibilities, enhancing independence and accountability.

The Chairman of the Board, who is a Non-executive Director, is responsible
for managing and leading the Board in setting the Company's overall
directions, strategies and policies, as well as monitoring the performance
of the CEO. Apart from making sure that adequate information about
the Company's business is provided to the Board on a timely basis, the
Chairman provides leadership for the Board, and ensures views on all
principal and appropriate issues are exchanged in a timely manner, by
encouraging all Board Members to make a full and effective contribution to
the discussion. Under the Chairman'’s guidance, all decisions have reflected
the consensus of the Board.

The CEO, who is appointed by the Board as a remunerated full-time
employee of the Company, is responsible to the Board for implementing the
strategy and policy as established by the Board, and managing the day-to-
day business of the Company.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board consists of 13 Directors, of
whom all are Non-executive Directors. This structure effectively ensures
the independence, objectivity and impartiality of the Board's decision-
making process and oversight of the Management. Non-executive Directors
bring an external perspective, constructively challenge and advise on
proposals on strategy.

All Board Members are appointed by the shareholders without receiving
any honorarium for a specific term and can be re-appointed upon expiry of
their terms of office.

Board Composition EEFKEHE

(as at 31 July 2019) (74201947531 H)
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Female &M% 3

Male 214 1 0
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Board Diversity

We recognise the importance of ensuring an appropriate balance of
skills, knowledge, experience and gender on the Board to our corporate
governance. Our Board Members, while one of them is from the
Government, with others come from various business fields, including
IT, accounting and finance, commercial, building construction, surveying,
town planning and academic, have both the breadth and depth of relevant
experience to steer and oversee the business of the Company.

The current mix of our Board Members is balanced and well represented
by IT professionals, business executives, government representatives and
other industry professionals and leaders. Biographical details of the Board
Members are set out in the section “Board of Directors” in this Annual
Report. The Company also maintains on its website (www.cyberport.hk) an
updated list of its Board Members identifying their roles and functions.

Board Functions

The Board directs the management of the business and affairs of the
Company. The overall management of the Company's business is vested
in the Board. The Board has delegated the management of the Company's
business to the Executive Committee, and focuses its attention on providing
overall strategic guidance to the Company on its business development,
finance and oversight over corporate governance. These include strategic
planning, financial and business performance, governance and risk
management, as well as human resources and remuneration issues.

At the regular Board meetings, Management reports the Company'’s
business to the Board, including the Company's operations, progress of
projects, financial performance, legal issues, corporate governance, risk
management, human resources, sustainability, corporate responsibility and
outlook. Together with the discussions at Board meetings, this ensures that
Board Members have a general understanding of the Company's business
and sufficient information to make informed decisions for the benefit of the
Company.

In addition to the regular financial and business performance reports
submitted to the Board at its regular meetings, the Board also receives
monthly financial and business updates with information on the Company's
latest financial performance. Directors can therefore have a balanced
and comprehensive assessment of the Company'’s performance, business
operations, financial position and prospects throughout the year.
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All Board Members have access to the Management of the Company for
obtaining necessary information, and the Company Secretary with a view
to ensuring that Board procedures, and related rules and regulations are
followed.

Induction for Board Members

Each newly appointed Board Member is given a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction programme so that they can discharge their
responsibilities to the Company properly and effectively. The programme
consists of meeting with the CEO and Management, briefings on the
Company's operations and major developments, and visits to the Company's
facilities. New Board Members are able to familiarise themselves with the
Company'’s objectives, strategies, business, operations, internal controls, as
well as the general and specific duties of directors.

Further, all Board Members are provided with a Directors’ Handbook on
their appointment, which sets out, amongst other things, directors’ duties,
code of conduct, declaration of interests and the Terms of Reference of the
Board Committees. The Directors’ Handbook is updated from time to time
to reflect developments in those areas.

Recognising that development is an ongoing process, Board Members were
invited to attend forums and conferences on information technology in the
year under review.

Board Proceedings

Board meetings are held regularly and no less than once every quarter.
Additional Board or Committee meetings to consider specific matters can
be convened when necessary. All Board Members have full and timely
access to all relevant information about the Company and may take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in
accordance with the approved procedures, so that they can discharge their
duties and responsibilities as Board Members.

Schedule for the regular Board and Committee meetings in each year
is made available to all Board Members before the end of the preceding
calendar year. Further, notice of meetings will be given to the Board
Members before each regular meeting.

Meeting agenda for regular meetings are set after consultation with the
Chairman and CEOQ. Generally, the agenda together with relevant papers
are sent to the Board Members at least five working days before the
intended date of the meeting.
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Board Members may attend the Board meetings in person or via telephone
conference.

Matters to be resolved at Board meetings are decided by a majority of votes
from the Board Members allowed to vote, although the usual practice is
that decisions reflect the consensus of the Board. The process of the Board
is reviewed from time to time to keep abreast of regulatory changes and
best corporate governance practices.

Board Meetings

During the year under review, the Board held four meetings with overall
attendance of 90%.

Key matters considered/resolved:

Cyberport expansion project under 2019/20 Budget Speech
Strategic plan and objectives

Annual plan and performance targets

Mid-Year key performance indicators review

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements
Management accounts and reports

Internal control and significant policies

Appointment and oversight of senior management

Staff remuneration, pay structure and corporate performance
assessment

Annual pay review

Performance assessment and variable pay for Management
Transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman had sessions with Board
Members without the presence of Management to discuss human resources
matters.

Strategic Planning

The Board has continued to review the strategies of the Company to identify
and assess the opportunities and challenges the Company may face, and
to develop a planned course of action for the Company to generate and
preserve long-term value.

The direction of Cyberport Three-Year Strategic Plan 2017/18-2019/20 was
set in the Year 2016/17 so as to continue its public mission to drive Hong
Kong's digital technology development. Progress of implementation of the
key initiatives in the strategic plan is reported to and reviewed by the Board
Members.
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Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), and of the Group's
result and cash flows for the year. The Board has prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis, and has adopted appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently. Judgments and estimates
have been made that are prudent and reasonable.

In support of the above, the financial statements presented to the Board
have been reviewed by Management. Management is responsible for
finalising them with the external auditor and then the Audit Committee.

In addition, all new and amended accounting standards and requirements,
as well as changes in accounting policies adopted by the Group have been
discussed and approved by the Audit Committee before adoption by the
Group.

Board Members acknowledge their responsibilities for ensuring that the
preparation of the annual financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

Further, in order to make a comprehensive assessment of the Group's
performance, the Board has reviewed an annual plan during the year and
the monthly reports on financial results and business performance.

Code of Conduct

The Company is a public body under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
("POBO"). Accordingly, Board Members are regarded as “public servants”
for the purpose of POBO. The Company is fully committed to the principle
of honesty, integrity and fair play in the delivery of products and services to
the public.

The Board is collectively responsible for the management and operations
of the Company. Board Members, both collectively and individually, are
expected to exercise fiduciary duties and duties of care, skill and diligence
to a standard at least commensurate with the standard established by the
laws and regulations of Hong Kong.
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Delegating the functions of the Board is permissible but does not absolve
Board Members from their responsibilities or from applying the required
levels if they pay attention to the Company's affairs only at formal
meetings. At a minimum, Board Members should take an active interest in
the Company’s affairs and obtain a general understanding of the Company’s
business.

Board Members should regularly attend and actively participate in Board
and Committee meetings, and prepare for them by reviewing all materials
provided by Management.

Board Members are required on their first appointment, on an annual
basis, and as and when necessary thereafter to declare any interests that
are or may be relevant and material to the business and operations of the
Company. They are also required to inform the Company Secretary of any
changes in their declared interests or any new interests that may arise
as soon as they become aware of such interests. A Register of Directors’
Interests is kept by the Company Secretary and is accessible by the Board
Members.

Every Board Member is also required to observe his/her ongoing
disclosure obligations (including, without limitation, requirements to
notify changes in personal particulars to the Company Secretary and/
or circumstances that may affect his/her independence, and to declare
material interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement or contract or a
proposed transaction, arrangement or contract with the Company) under
the Companies Ordinance.

A Board Member cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal in which he/she has an interest
and which he/she knows is material except with the approval of the Board/
Committees. For this purpose, interests of a person who is connected
with a Board Member (including any of his/her associates) are treated as
the interests of the Board Member himself/herself. A Board Member may
not be included in the quorum for such part of a meeting that relates to a
resolution he/she is not allowed to vote on, but he/she shall be included
in the quorum for all other parts of that meeting. This reduces potential
conflicts which might otherwise arise between the Company’s business and
an individual Board Member's other interests or appointments.

EERMERRESRMERIRMA > BLF
UL RFRMPIBIEREE ; SNNEERMEE
BIB2MENE® T BARTER » LARMR
tPIFFEAIERN ST - ESRMEREBRC
KRB ZHEF  WHARBDEHALEIER o

EFERMERTHHENER2RERRNE
EggE  ITEREEERHNMEER » &
G EBIIF
EERMETEEESRER HRESFEMZ
BAREE  19RRRARNTEBEFEH
S AIAE R RANL B E A BERVERAE o N8R
BEFRRER A ERERHA DR
> EFERMENEBREMNABDNE - EF
FHPRECMEARRWERE > WRAIHES
RMEER -

BESFRMETARB(RABFRG)BTERE
KREED (AFETRERBNARNEEBA
BEMNEER, WA BB ERER
DR R BRI ABIET RIS ~ ZHE
HAENIEEILNRS ~ ZHFRENTHEK
Mz (IA) BRTE) °

MRECESRNEEGHES » EFRMETS
EEEPHEAED RENEBENEENE
AEMN X5~ R REREMERRRET
BRE-FULMES - REFZRNE (BEAEEH
BEAL) AMENALZFEITRIFERER
REASHN G - TEFHGHBET > BEF
BB NEENRIERZRRIFLRE » Al
BB At BRI AR ENERAEZH I
EEANBA - EZME TR EEZ R G HF
BEMEDBYEEABA o BEHUERTRDA
NREBEERESRMERNEMF @ Ew
2 FER] BEEELERIERE o

Corporate Governance Report 1t & /8% S

Board Committees

The Board has five standing Committees, namely, the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Entrepreneurship Committee, Macro Fund Investment
Committee and Remuneration Committee, to assist it in carrying its
responsibilities.

Each of these Committees has specific written terms of reference, which
set out in detail their respective authorities and responsibilities. The terms
of reference of all Board Committees are reviewed from time to time in the
light of the Company'’s evolving operational, business and development
needs.

All Committees are accountable to the Board for their recommendations
and decisions. The meeting processes of the Board Committees follow
closely those of the Board. The interface between the Board and Board
Committees are:

All Board Members may attend any Committee meetings as
observers

Board Members are free to access the papers of any Committee
meetings through the Company Secretary

Full minutes of Committee meetings are sent to Board Members for
information

The following sets out details of the Board Committees, their
memberships (as of 31 July 2019), principal duties and key matters
considered or resolved during the year.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee ("Excom”) is responsible for monitoring the
performance of the Company and ensuring that the Company has been

operating in consistency with the corporate missions and the annual

budget/business plan as approved by the Board.

Membership: Six members
Chairman: Dr Lee George LAM
Members: Mr Duncan CHIU
Mr Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
Ms Annie CHOI Suk-han
Mr LAU Chun-kong
Professor LING Kar-kan
Meetings: Excom convened three meetings during the year

with 75% attendance.

Principal duties:

Exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board between
regular Board meetings

Serve as a sounding board for the Chairman of the Board in the
leadership and oversight of the Company's business and affairs

Help coordinate the activities among Board Committees

Review and approve the Company's policies

Oversee the Annual Budget

Review and approve the investment strategies of the Company
Monitor the execution of the Company's strategic plans and the
operations of all business units of the Company

Plan and allocate resources, human, financial and otherwise, for the
execution and implementation of the approved business plans and
corporate development strategies

Key matters considered/resolved:

Development of Cyberport

Mid-Year Review

Monthly management accounts and reports

Company's policies

Leasing strategy

Investment strategies and performance of the Company's investment
portfolio

Strategic cooperative agreements

Material tenders, programmes, projects and contracts
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee ("AC") is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control, risk management system,
regulatory compliance, and the Company's internal audit function. It is
responsible for overseeing the integrity of the Group's financial statements
and the application of financial reporting principles, and the Company's
relationship with the external and internal auditors and their independence

assessments.
Membership: Seven members
Chairman: Mr Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
Members: Professor Karen CHAN Ka-yin
Mr Duncan CHIU
Mr Davey CHUNG (government representative)
Mr LAU Chun-kong
Mr Victor NG Chi-keung
Ms Rosana WONG Wai-man
Meetings: AC convened two meetings during the year with 80%

attendance.

Principal duties:

Review financial statements

Make recommendations on the appointment of external auditor,
approve its remuneration and terms of engagement, and oversee the
Company's relations with the external auditor

Review accounting policies

Oversee internal controls, financial controls, risk management
system and internal audit function

Report on matters in relation to corporate governance practices

Key matters considered/resolved:

Annual Audited Financial Statements

External Auditor's Report, objectivity and effectiveness of audit
process

Revised and prospective changes to accounting standards

Annual corporate governance, risk management and internal control
review

Annual internal audit programme

Internal policies and procedures on Cyberport Macro Fund
investment, payment authorisation, and business travel
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Entrepreneurship Committee

The Entrepreneurship Committee (“EC") is responsible for overseeing the
administration and management of the start-up and entrepreneurship
programmes and events implemented by the Company, such as the
Cyberport Incubation Programme (“CIP"), the Cyberport Creative Micro
Fund ("CCMF") and the Cyberport Accelerator Support Programme.

Membership: Seven members
Chairman: Professor Philip CHAN Ching-ho
Members: Mr Davey CHUNG (government representative)

Professor LING Kar-kan

Dr Charleston SIN Chiu-shun
Mr Hendrick SIN

Ms Rosana WONG Wai-man
Mr Eric YEUNG Chuen-sing

Meetings: EC convened five meetings during the year with 90%

attendance.

Principal duties:

Oversee the administration and management of the start-up and
entrepreneurship programmes and events implemented by the
Company

Monitor and review the operational or financial plans and proposals,
administrative matters, business directions and strategies in relation
to the following three aspects:

- Sparking creative ideas through the CCMF Scheme

- Nurturing tech start-ups through the CIP

- Boosting tech start-ups’ fundraising capability

Approve the appointment and composition of the Entrepreneurship
Committee Advisory Group ("ECAG") which comprises venture
capitalists, business executives, tech industry professionals,
academics, and trade association members

Approve applications for the start-up and entrepreneurship
programmes of the Company

Monitor and review the progress of the start-ups of the programmes

Key matters considered/resolved:

Overseas/Mainland Market Development Support Scheme
Cyberport Accelerator Support Programme

Esports and Digital Entertainment Programmes

Technology Talent Admission Scheme

Cyberport University Partnership Programme

CIP

CCMF

Cyberport Guangdong-Hong Kong Young Entrepreneur Programme
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Macro Fund Investment Committee

The Macro Fund Investment Committee ("MFIC") is responsible for
overseeing the administration, management and overall performance
of the Cyberport Macro Fund ("CMF") and approval of the CMF related
investments. The CMF, with an initial size of HK$200 million, aims to
provide seed to Series A stage funding to Cyberport digital entrepreneurs
("DE") to assist them to accelerate, and to promote the development of the
venture capital ecosystem for DE in Hong Kong. The CMF is an investment
fund which targets to co-invest with other private and public investors in
the Cyberport DE.

Membership: Six members
Chairman: Dr Lee George LAM
Members: Mr Davey CHUNG (government representative)

Mr Andrew KUET Shun-cheong (external member)
Mr Victor NG Chi-keung

Mr Hendrick SIN

Ms Jeny YEUNG Mei-chun (external member)

Meetings: MFIC convened three meetings during the year with
80% attendance.

Principal duties:

Review and approve CMF related investments recommendations
from Management

Oversee administration, management and overall performance of the
CMF

Monitor and advise on the operation of the CMF

Key matters considered/resolved:

CMF policy and investment portfolio
CMF applications
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (“RC") is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on organisational structure and policies

on staffing, remuneration, employment, discipline and dismissal, with

reference to the Company's overall goals and objectives.

Membership:
Chairman:

Members:

Meetings:

Seven members
Mr Duncan CHIU

Professor Karen CHAN Ka-yin
Mr Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
Ms Annie CHOI Suk-han

Mr LAU Chun-kong

Dr Charleston SIN Chiu-shun
Mr Eric YEUNG Chuen-sing

RC convened three meetings during the year with
93% attendance.

Principal duties:

Review staffing, remuneration and employment policies and
strategies

Advise the Board on staff-related issues, including annual corporate
goals and performance measures, grading and pay structure,
variable pay and retirement schemes

Review the criteria for assessing employee performance and make
recommendations to the Board

Review the salary increase and annual performance bonus for the
senior executives and general staff, and make recommendations to
the Board

Review the performance of the C-levels management of the Company,
with reference to the Board's approved Key Performance Indicators
("KPIs") and objectives

Key matters considered/resolved:

Annual review of staff remuneration

Annual corporate performance assessment and award of variable
pay for staff

Corporate goals and performance measurements

2017/18 Performance review of C-levels management and their

variable pay

Comprehensive Review on Organisation Staffing and Pay Structure of
the Company

Staff engagement and retention
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Meeting Attendance

(1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019)

Corporate Governance Report 1t & /8% S

it Esdix
(2018FE4B 1HZE201943H31H)

MFIC
gnga
Excom AC EC IZERIE RC
Types of meetings Board T it oERR BE Firam
EEER BEXR %£B8Y %8Y9% %£585¢% %£8%Y £%£&8%
Board Members EERKE
Lee George LAM (Chairman) MEIB(F/E) 44 3/3 - - 3/3 -
Philip CHAN BRFS 3/4 - - 5/5 - -
Karen CHAN =y 3/4 - 1/2@ - - 2/24w
CHEUK Wing-hing (including B E(EIEEST
attendance by alternate) EEZHERE A 3/3 - - - 3/3
Duncan CHIU FRIEIR 4/4 0/3 2/2 - - 3/3
Humphrey CHOI =IEE 4L/4 3/3 2/2 - - 3/3
LAU Chun-kong EEiroan L/4 2/2@ 2/2 - - 2/3
Edwin LEE®W ZHREM 2/4 1/3 - 1/5 3/3 -
Gregg LIM s Q) 3/4 - - 2/5 - 1/3
LING Kar-kan EE=H 4/4 1/20 - 4/5 - -
Hendrick SIN e 3/4 - - 3/39 1/26 -
Rosana WONG =HEW 3/4 - 1/20 4/5 - -
Notes: S
(1) Dr Edwin LEE and Dr Gregg LI retired as Board members and ceased to be the respective (1) TIREF T RFZ AT ER2019F3831 HER
Board Committees members with effect from 31 March 2019. FEE/ME > TArBHRAREZEZEEES
g%8 -
) Mr LAU Chun-kong was appointed as Excom member with effect from 22 June 2018. () BT ER2018F A2 HEZEANTES
gE8 e
©) Professor LING Kar-kan was appointed as Excom member with effect from 22 June 2018. () EREINHIEN2018F AN HEZEANTES
fE3=
(4) Professor Karen CHAN was appointed as AC member and RC member both with effect (4) fR i BEHIRN2018F AN HEZEAEFER
from 22 June 2018. ELERFHMEEEERSE -

(5) Mr Hendrick SIN was appointed as EC member and MFIC member both with effect from

22 June 2018.

(6) Ms Rosana WONG was appointed as AC member with effect from 22 June 2018.

(5)

FOEBRENR2018F B 2B EEERTEER
ZEEZERMIEBREAIZESREESHS -
BEHLLIN2018FA 2B EEERETES
g%8-
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Meeting Procedure

The Board and Committees convene meetings on a regular basis. Special
meetings will be held as and when necessary. Management circulates
papers prior to the respective meetings to provide members adequate
information in a timely manner to facilitate their deliberation of the issues
and decision-making. The respective Board/Committee Secretaries
record the major points of discussion, recommendations, decisions and
action items arising from the meetings. Outstanding matters are followed
up by the relevant departments, and progress updates are reported at
subseqguent Board/Committee meetings.

Management and Staff

Management and staff, led by the Company’s CEOQ, are responsible for
managing the Company’s day-to-day operations and implementing the
strategies and directions determined by the Board. The performance
of Management is reviewed with reference to the KPIs and objectives
approved by the Board. The annual emoluments of the Company’s
five highest paid employees by band are disclosed under note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 145.

Guidance on the ethical behaviour of the Company has been well defined in
the Company's employee Code of Conduct and Business Ethics (the “Code”).
From time to time, the Code will be reviewed and fine-tuned, covering such
issues as prevention of bribery, conflict of interest, acceptance of gifts
and advantages, handling of confidential information and preservation of
secrecy, intellectual property, and outside business or employment. ICAC is
invited to give briefings on prevention of bribery and conflict of interest to
the employees of the Company on a regular basis. Staff members are also
reminded of the need for compliance with the Code from time to time.

gRiEF
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board is responsible for internal control of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness. The Company’s internal control system
comprises a set of comprehensive policies and standards.

The Company aims to maintain a high standard of corporate governance
and enhance transparency and accountability. The external and internal
audit systems are instrumental in this mission.

External Audit

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Group's external auditor to conduct
the audit of its financial statements. The Audit Committee is responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment,
removal and remuneration of the external auditor.

The main purpose of the external audit is to provide independent assurance
to the Board and shareholders that the annual financial statements
of the Group are fairly stated. The external auditor plays an important
independent role in expressing an opinion on the financial statements
based on their audit, and meets with the Audit Committee to discuss the
nature and scope of the audit prior to the commencement of the work if
necessary and to report on findings. The external auditor also reports
internal control recommendations identified as part of the audit together
with management responses, if any.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, Ernst & Young provided the non-audit
services of HK$8,000 (2018: HK$148,000).

Internal Audit

The internal audit is primarily responsible for reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal control procedures and monitoring compliance
with them. The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to
an independent professional advisory firm to monitor the Company’s
internal governance and provide a basis for the Board to assess the risk
management and internal control system maintained and operated by
Management.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
ensuring effective systems of internal control and compliance relating to
financial reporting, and in meeting its financial reporting obligations.

Further, the Audit Committee directly oversees the work performed by the
internal auditor. Independent reviews of financial, business and functional
operations and activities have been conducted with a focus on higher risk
areas of the Company. The internal audit plan is reviewed and agreed by
the Audit Committee in advance. Each year, the Audit Committee reviews
the results of the internal audit and evaluates the impact of the findings
and the proposed management action plans, and verifies the adequacy and
effectiveness of the mitigating controls.

Delegation of Authority

The authority of the Board and the levels of authority delegated to the
Committees and Management is clearly defined and documented in the
Delegation of Authority Policy. Such delegation of autharity is reviewed on
a regular basis to ensure that it meets the business and operational needs.

Avoidance of Conflicts of Interest

The Company has established policies and procedures to manage actual
or potential conflicts of interest of its staff. Staff working in sensitive areas
are required to adhere to job-specific rules on the avoidance of conflicts of
interest in carrying out their duties.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has a formal whistleblowing policy in place to encourage and
guide its staff to raise serious concerns internally in a responsible manner,
without any risk of retribution. The Company also encourages other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about suspected misconduct,
malpractice or irregularities in any matters related to the Company.
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Transparency

The Company reports annually to the Information Technology and
Broadcasting Panel of the Legislative Council regarding the work of
Cyberport in nurturing the Information and Communications Technology

Ecosystem in Hong Kong, including its financial performance.

To enhance transparency and openness, the Company voluntarily discloses
its compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The individual attendance records of Members at the Board and Committee
meetings is also reported on page 83.

With a view to maintain open and transparent communication with external
stakeholders, the Company continues to connect with the community
by taking advantage of multiple channels and tools. These include the
official website, monthly e-newsletters, press briefings and interviews, and
participation in a variety of local and overseas exhibitions and conferences.
Annual reports and information on our programmes and offerings are
disclosed on our website for public access. The Company also makes use
of social media such as Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter for promotions and

information dissemination.

Corporate Governance Practices

Although the Company is not required to comply with the CG Code, we have
applied its principles and voluntarily complied with the code provisions
therein generally except for those as set out below:

Code Provisions

FRUFSZ

A4 Non-executive directors should be appointed for a

specific term, subject to re-election.

FFMITESREIRISEEIESE > W EEBE -

BEARE

FABREFIRILFEENNRKEREBER
ESEERMEAEEEEBNEMKIENRE
ERAMHENLFER > BEhEEART
FATEEAR o

RS BRERAREE » AABEEIREE
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FE5INEE83HE o
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Bl o

EXERIERE
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Reason for Deviation

fREERE

This provision is not applicable to the

Company. Directors are appointed generally
for a term of two years or a term as specified
in the appointment letter. Directors are not
subject to re-election but may be re-appointed
by the shareholders.

BEREXTERREAT - EFRER—RS
MENRIEEERBIISEEL - EFEBRE
BEE > ER]HRREHMESE -
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A42t0AL3

A5.1toA55

Code Provisions

FRFSZ

These code provisions deal with the appointment

of directors to fill a casual vacancy, appointment of
independent non-executive directors and retirement
by rotation of directors.

BETARXESEEFLURRERZH - 2EBT
FHITES > UREFNHERTIAR

These code provisions deal with the nomination
committee.

BETAFXERZEZSEAR -

Directors must comply with obligations under the Model
Code for Securities Transactions and the Board should
establish guidelines for relevant employees in respect of

their dealings in the securities of the Company.

ERNABTETESFZN(RETR]) > MEFH
TESEREEEBRRESFEEREES]

The Remuneration Committee should make
recommendation to the Board on policy and package for

all remuneration of directors.

HINEE G AMPMAEERMENFMERETER
EFRRHERS -

Reason for Deviation

fREERE

These provisions are not applicable to the
Company. Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles
of Association, Directors are appointed by
shareholders.

BERXTERNRARAT - REBEARBZ(E
AR - EFHRREE -

These provisions are not applicable to the
Company since Directors are appointed by
the shareholders.

BERXTERRERT » AESRHRETE
Fo

This provision is not applicable because all of
the Company’ s shares are beneficially owned
by the HKSAR Government and are not publicly
traded.

BEFEXTNERNRERT » AEABRAERN
PHEBREBRER » UNMFARES -

This provision is not applicable to the Company
because Board Members do not receive any

remuneration.

BEFEXTERNRARR » AEE/MELT
WRERAE (IR
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Code Provisions

FRIRSZ

C.35 This code provision deals with the reporting requirement

in the Corporate Governance Report regarding different
views between the Board and the Audit Committee on

external auditor.

IEFRNRSGS R A RERBNEFEZEEGHINEZH
B AR RE » AREEARS LHREEK -

E1T1Tt0E15& These code provisions deal with the proceedings for

E.2.1 annual general meetings.

BETARNERRBFAGHNZFER

Continuing Evolution of Corporate Governance

We will continue to review and, where appropriate, enhance our corporate
governance practices in light of the regulatory requirements.

Reason for Deviation

fRRERE

This provision is not applicable to the Company

because there is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee in this respect

so far.

BEFEXTERRERE » Rie5EFRRE
SHEEEZ BB EEAERTRER

These provisions are not applicable to the
Company as the Company is wholly owned
by the HKSAR Government via The Financial
Secretary Incorporated and Resolutions in
Writing in lieu of annual general meetings is

adopted.
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Report of the Directors
EERRS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Principal activities

The principal activities of Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results

The Group's loss for the year and the Group's financial position at 31 March
2019 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to
174.

Shares capital

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Lee George LAM (Chairman)

Philip CHAN Ching-ho

Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching

LAU Chun-kong

Duncan CHIU

LING Kar-kan

Rosana WONG Wai-man

Karen CHAN Ka-yin (appointed on 1 April 2018)

Hendrick SIN (appointed on 1 April 2018)

Victor NG Chi-keung (appointed on 1 April 2019)

Charleston SIN Chiu-shun (appointed on 1 April 2019)

Eric YEUNG Chuen-sing (appointed on 1 April 2019)

Annie CHOI Suk-han (appointed on 30 July 2019)

Millie NG KIANG Mei-nei (appointed on 12 April 2019 and resigned on 30
July 2019)

Edwin LEE Kan-hing (retired on 31 March 2019)

Gregg G. LI Ka-lok (retired on 31 March 2019)

CHEUK Wing-hing (resigned on 12 April 2019)

Davey CHUNG Pui-hong (alternate director to Annie CHOI Suk-han,
appointed on 30 July 2019)
(alternate director to Millie NG KIANG Mei-nei, appointed on 12 April 2019
and resigned on 30 July 2019)
(alternate director to CHEUK Wing-hing, appointed on 20 July 2018 and
resigned on 12 April 2019)

YEUNG Tak-bun (alternate director to CHEUK Wing-hing, resigned on 2 July
2018)

There being no provision in the Company's Articles of Association in
connection with the retirement of directors by rotation, all existing Directors
continue in office for the following year.
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Directors (continued)

The persons who were directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during
the year and up to the date of this report (unless otherwise stated) were:

Peter YAN King-shun

LEE Kok-ming

WONG Kiu-hei (alternate director to Peter YAN King-shun)
Herman LAM Heung-yeung*

WONG Mei-wan*

* Resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiaries of the Company.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company's directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business
of the Company to which the Company or any of the Company's holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Management contracts

Save for the management agreement of Le Méridien Cyberport, the facilities
management agreement and the system operation contract, no other
contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries
were entered into or existed during the year.

Permitted indemnity provision

During the year and up to the date of this report, the permitted indemnity
provision as defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company was in force. The Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for the directors’ liabilities
in respect of any legal actions against its directors arising out of corporate
activities.

Report of the Directors R /FIRE
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Auditor

Ernst & Young retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Lee George LAM
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 August 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR S

EY:

Independent auditor’s report

To the member of Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited
FRUEAEERRAT

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97
to 174, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Information other than the consolidated financial statements
and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the report of
the Directors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor's Report 17 Z 1M &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 17 i B ETER S

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 August 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income
raEmcEMEERRER

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZF 20193831 HILEE

REVENUE A 4 509,547,500 478,162,088
Other net income Hk A FZ8 4 47,335,291 39,001,532
556,882,791 517,163,620
EXPENSES BEFORE PUBLIC MISSION KA EREEIZ H R
ACTIVITIES EXPENSES AND &2z
DEPRECIATION
Building management expenses YREEIEY H (151,254,179) (141,013,494)
Staff costs BT 5 (101,615,660) (91,822,886)
Government rent and rates AR = 9 (14,509,109) (14,142,293)
Other operating expenses Hipha&s& s (100,046,060) (83,733,820)
Finance costs B ER 6 (2,834) (11,725)
(367,427,842) (330,724,218)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE PUBLIC RetARES N H R
MISSION ACTIVITIES EXPENSES AND e Z =R
DEPRECIATION 189,454,949 186,439,402
Public mission activities expenses NBREREENS X 10 (133,357,811) (116,541,158)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE FREHTERKEREF
DEPRECIATION 56,097,138 69,898,244
Depreciation e (132,648,616) (133,420,807)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PR AIESIE b (76,551,478) (63,522,563)
Income tax IRy 11 - -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREIE (76,551,478) (63,522,563)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hth2mEiks
Other comprehensive income that will R BN EFRNIEE
not be reclassified to profit or loss in Emz  HthemEmies
subsequent periods:
— Changes in fair value of equity —IEERANEEST AEM
investments designated at fair value PHEHBmZREARE
through other comprehensive income N BEEE 14,569,725 -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FARHMZEIE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (30FxFRIE) 14,569,725 =
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FERZ@EESIEREE
THE YEAR (61,981,753) (63,522,563)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
S EMTEIKR R

As at 31 March 2019 722019438 31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS E =13
Property, plant and equipment W~ 2SRt 13 2,869,506,312 2,909,737,035
Deferred rental receivables IFIERENAE & 8,503,155 12,389,679
Cyberport Macro Fund investments HIEERERZESRKE 14 54,866,109 17,960,621
Investments in securities EHKE 15 70,830,649 223,214,837
Prepayments and deposits FBITIERIE S 17 27,755,272 4,814,268
Total non-current assets IERBEELRRE 3,031,461,497 3,168,116,440
CURRENT ASSETS TRENE
Inventories Zz5 337,411 539,809
Trade receivables FEURBRESR 16 10,986,266 8,424,496
Prepayments, deposits and other TRIRIE ~ BE R

receivables HihpElaaa 17 20,999,761 17,177,106
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEURE R B AT AIE 28(b) 261,000 899,937
Investments in securities BHRE 15 680,463,448 775,619,293
Cash and bank balances B FIRT4517F 18 647,997,733 122,808,960
Total current assets TRENE EAEEE 1,361,045,619 925,469,601
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE
Trade payables FE(TERER 28,514,375 28,319,981
Other payables and accruals HihpE(aIa K fE st 5 A 19 148,158,795 82,950,597
Rental and other deposits e RHMZE 20 82,132,286 85,199,995
Amount due to the immediate holding eI B3R A TS

company 28(b) 254,293,578 254,293,578
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FEA—RER AN B ATZIE 28(b) 192,321 -
Obligations under a finance lease RO SR 21 - 1,577,476
Total current liabilities mENBE4REE 513,291,355 452,341,627
NET CURRENT ASSETS MAEERE 847,754,264 473,127,974
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEMERRSAE

LIABILITIES 3,879,215,761 3,641,244,414
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEA
Development maintenance fund BREEES 22 397,612,582 399,088,604
Deferred rental payable IRIEFE(GFE S 222,775 269,675
Total non-current liabilities EREhaEiazE 397,835,357 399,358,279
Net assets BEFE 3,481,380,404 3,241,886,135
EQUITY K
Share capital %N 23 300,000,002 2
Reserves s 3,181,380,402 3,241,886,133
Total equity TR ARRE 3,481,380,404 3,241,886,135

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n\7r\ *&

S

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZF2019F3831HILEE

Share
capital

[z

HKS

Capital
reserve
BnfkfE
HK$

BT

Fairvalue  Accumulated Total
reserve losses equity
AREERE Rt e
HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

At 1 April 2017 1201754818 2 5363136217 - (2060,749,111)  3,302,387,108
Loss and total comprehensive loss  FRERREEEE
for the year g - - - (63522563)  (63522563)
Transfer from development REBGEESEER
maintenance fund to capital BAGHE
reserve 22 = 3,021,590 = = 3,021,590
At 31 March 2018 and 1#2018%3R318 R
at 1 April 2018 20185410 2 5,366,157,807* - (2,124,271,674)* 3,241,886,135
Loss for the year FRER - - - (76551478)  (76,551,478)
Other comprehensive income FREMEEE G
for the year:
- Change in fair value of equity —IEERARBERA
investments designated A2 2 A
at fair value through other REZARBEES
comprehensive income, (p#E)
net of tax - - 14,569,725 - 14,569,725
Total comprehensive loss EREEFEEE
for the year - - 14,569,725  (76,551,478)  (61,981,753)
Issue of shares BRI 23 300,000,000 - - - 300,000,000
Transfer from development HEBREESERT
maintenance fund to capital BAkE
reserve 22 - 1,476,022 - - 1,476,022
At 31 March 2019 12019838310 300,000,002 5,367,633,829* 14,569,725* (2,200,823,152)* 3,481,380,404
o These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$3,181,380,402 (2018: < ZEREREBREGREMBR IR ZGEHE

HK$3,241,886,133) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3,181,380,40278 7T (20184F : 3,241,886,133787T) ©

98 Cyberport 2018/19 Annual Report

S 2018/19 IR 99



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2019 &Z2019E3831HIEEE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4%

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

R EEZIRETRE

Loss before tax BRIRAIAS IR (76,551,478) (63,522,563)
Adjustments for: HEE
Depreciation e 132,648,616 133,420,807
Realisation of government grants BTSSR (2,000,000) (4592,371)
Interest income from financial assets YR IH AL D BR 2 Rl
at amortised cost/held-to-maturity BE HEEEEH
investments, net of amortisation of HEF B U A R
premium ] 4 (9,574,292) (13,523,837)
Interest income from investments at fair BARBEFTAEBRZIKRE
value through profit or loss FBUA 4 (16,411,555) (13,093,713)
Fair value gain on a debt investment at BARNBESABRZES
fair value through profit or loss BN D BEENE 4 (340,024) =
Net realised/unrealised gains on BAREER AR T
investments at fair value through profit LEREIR REIR
or loss WP EA 4 (3,978,725) (191,970)
Interest income on bank deposits IRITEAF EUWA 4 (6,601,200) (91,095)
Impairment of trade receivables FEUBRTUR(E 6 48,658 67,173
Reversal of impairment of trade FEUSBR R (B[]
receivables b (803,259) (121,493)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE - MBRREEB
plant and equipment, net 2 E51EPEE 6 744,357 511,693
Finance costs MEER 2,834 11,725
Revaluation gain on investments LB B (248,646) (6,449,111)
16,935,286 32,425,245
Decrease in deferred rental receivables IRIERE AR R 3,886,524 3,348,682
Decrease in inventories =5RE/D 202,398 55,952
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEUSER =R (380) SR> (1,807,169) 829,378
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TERIRIE ~ s R EAM
other receivables FEURIERE AN (22,907,376) (1,050,416)
Decrease in amounts due from BB EYNSIE
fellow subsidiaries Y% 638,937 1,448,511
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERTBRERIE H0, GRLZL) 194,394 (7,152,284)
Increase in other payables and accruals HA B RIE R e 5TE g N 48,735,269 859,354
Increase in an amount due to a fellow ERNERMEASRIE
subsidiary 1 192,321 -
(Decrease)/increase in rental and W& RhEMZE
other deposits CRiZL) /1810 (3,067,709) 5,773,620
(Decrease)/increase in deferred IFIEFE(SFE
rental payable CRizb) /18 (46,900) 269,675
Net cash flows from operating activities K& EB IS PEE 42,955,975 36,807,717

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment

Prepayment and deposits paid for the
purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment

Purchase of Cyberport Macro Fund
investments

Deposit paid for the purchase of Cyberport

REESHZHRERE
FEAMDZE ~ B R BIAE

BAYZE « S RRFEREPN
NFANRIENR

BAMEBREREESRE
BABSEBRERIZESKE

(63,430,752)

(12,940,534)

(7,866,009)

(43,757,824)

(4,129,260)

(11,739,171)

Macro Fund investment Frft#%s (14,129,730) =
Purchase of investments at fair value BARAMNBESTAED

through profit or loss s (338,154,071) (210,476,279)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments ~ BEARFEZEZIHIE 2185 - (70,710,143)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of HE R BEOlIR i EH 251 BR

financial assets at amortised cost/ TREE FEERHR

held-to-maturity investments BB 7 FTSRE 281,062,645 124,312,000
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HHE&E)2E « 2R R HHIER

plant and equipment FrigskIa 2,000 1,500
Proceeds from sale and redemption of HEREBLZAABERTA

investments at fair value through profit Bm s REZ FSTIE

or loss 307,169,990 162,150,247
Interest income received from: BEWFIEWA :

- Financial assets at amortised cost/ —IRISE AN BR 7 R

held-to-maturity investments BE/SEERIERREE 13,534,168 16,869,864
- Investments at fair value through profit —BARBEFABGRZ
or loss BB 10,284,236 12,746,377

- Bank deposits —IRITER 6,601,200 93,853
Increase in time deposits with original REFHA=ZEBRU L2

maturity of more than three months TEBRTE R (358,873,875) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities & FFFARSRE R (176,740,732) (24,638,836)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MIgEEZIRETE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D T e IER 23 300,000,000 =
Government grants received EWE S 1,679,965 5,602,190
Capital element of finance lease rentals MEEBEEEIRELRID

payments (1,577,476) (2,095,355)
Interest element of finance lease rentals REE A SR 2250

payments (2,834) (11,725)
Net cash flows from financing activities S REFTSIRE M= F48 300,099,655 3,495,110
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERASEEEREINEHR

EQUIVALENTS 166,314,898 15,663,991
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning F#ZIR&KIEESEEIER

of year 122,808,960 107,144,969
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FR7VERINETEEIER

END OF YEAR 289,123,858 122,808,960
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND R R EEERERO N

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances as stated in REMBIRRRTYIRE

the consolidated statement of KERITHEE

financial position 18 647,997,733 122,808,960
Non-pledged time deposits with original RESRRIIHERA=E

maturity of more than three months when Bl _E 7 KR EERTZR

acquired 18 (358,873,875) =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe  GARESHEBXRFIIIHEESR

consolidated statement of cash flows REEEEE 289,123,858 122,808,960
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

Notes to the Financial Statements
BA PSR R M EE

Corporate information

Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Units 1102-1104, Level
11, Cyberport 2, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is to support and promote
innovation and technology development in Hong Kong through
the creation of a comprehensive ecosystem of digital technology
companies.

With a vision to build Cyberport as a main force in developing the
digital technology industry as a key economic driver of Hong Kong (the
“Vision"), the public mission of the Company are anchored on three
strategic directions:

ATEH

BERMISEEEERLAR (TARF) A
REBEMAILZERAT » HaEf
R A B BAE BiE 1005R 2E A2
FE111#21102-1104F o

IR B2 TEET B BRI RS
BT RABZGEERRRIRENESE
BRI RRIRER

ISR AR B R RS BISRIRESR
ZENE > WRHBRHREFRFENE
B TEEERE (TR » AAF
AREH=(ERESAEE

— BERHEEEEERSEIRE

Corporate information (continued)

The Group has established various teams (“Operating Teams"”)
to achieve the above public mission. The expenses incurred by
Operating Teams that contribute to the successful running of the
public mission activities are disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong
Cyberport Development Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong and is wholly owned by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") via The Financial
Secretary Incorporated.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries are as follows:

ATER @

RER FRARESD  AEEENUS
SEBR(FTEERR)) - EEBBKAMI
P AR E B MAENRSZ NGRS
FATSERAR I EE 1 0 8 o

NAT B BB BERERAIRAF
(R EBEMR LI HEFBRFHTHE
(MEBRE ) NS BMEEEEEE
BAENQAR) 2EREENBAR -

BB ARNER
FABZHIBABFIENT ¢

= Nurtures youth and start-ups by providing comprehensive Percentage of equity

entrepreneurship programmes and early stage funding;

= Scales digital tech companies with Cyberport's global network;
and

= Connects enterprises, SMEs and the public in fostering digital
economy.

Under the Group's relentless pursuit of excellence, the Group takes
a pragmatic and comprehensive approach in realising its Vision. To
ensure the line-up of services is dynamic and flexible in meeting the
needs of budding technology entrepreneurs, investor community and
industry talents, the Company actively builds strong partnerships
with leaders from technology industry, academia, research institutes
and professional bodies.

To further extend the Group’s entrepreneurial support to scalable
start-ups, the Company has launched the Cyberport Macro Fund
("CMF") for Hong Kong-based digital entrepreneurs in 2017. With an
initial size of HK$200 million, the CMF aims to accelerate the growth
of digital technology start-ups. As an investment fund that targets
to co-invest in Cyberport digital entrepreneurs with other private
and public investors as seed to Series A stage funding, the CMF also
aims to encourage the development of a venture capital ecosystem
for start-ups in Hong Kong. Further details of the investments made
up to the end of the reporting period are included in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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& (FERETEREAMMARALKES
ATEREREIS BB 7 AR
MEET > BISBREAEEZTARN
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Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation share capital

sEMRIIMtAE ERITHERE

Cyberport Macro Fund Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF One Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF Two Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF Three Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF Four Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF Five Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF Six Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 1787
CMF Seven Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 17870
CMF Eight Limited Hong Kong HK$1
£ 1787

attributable to the
Company Principal activities
AT ELEET S FEES
Direct Indirect
BiF &
100 - Investment holding
KEER

= 100 Investment holding

REER

= 100 Investment holding

REER

= 100 Investment holding

REER

= 100 Investment holding

REER

= 100 Investment holding

REER

- 100 Inactive

- 100 Inactive

= 100 Investment holding

REER
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, a debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss and equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income/available-for-sale investments which have
been measured at fair value. These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Group has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Group, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.1
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A EE ()
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures BRI EEE) 2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 2 BEHMEREEEE @)
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for REBERAEE Y SAESREE R (continued)
the first time for the current year’s consolidated financial statements. ARG s] RSB T B A RIS % (@) (continued) @ &)
Zl Classification and measurement DEERETE
; The following inf ti ts out the i ts of adopti DURE B &I RN E BRI FFRES
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of ERMBIRERER R G SER © o owing informarion ¢ S - . c Im.p.ac S o e 'op e S B 5 0B B R 9 El N ;, A
Share-based Payment Transactions sspsE T P HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including the BB H BN R T E
S 5}(:@;75 effect of replacing HKAS 39's incurred credit loss calculations BIENEBMBEREERFITHRZ
5T E e e
. with HKFRS 9's expected credit losses (“ECLs"). TEfAEERSIE (TFERE B 518l
8 Y _ 2 8ol &R L
Instruments with HKFRS 4 SBLSERMEET ZERE T S
R HEEHETEEM T E o
Insurance Contracts TREAZEE
V= /_‘I:Z‘Eﬁ/ s ~. > &5 6o
iﬁ/if;AAi There has been no impact on the Group’s accounting for HREEBMBRESERFEIRE
f;fb@ﬁm financial liabilities as the new requirements under HKFRS TZHREELEBIEERANE
; ) . . o 9 only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are Bt A BEmzEMBEZ TR
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 548 EHR| @ TA : ) : i sgem
Eéﬁfiﬁm ) = designated at fair value through profit or loss and the Group 8 MmASE B EE AR S
=575 T e = R 5 s
. - . does not have any such liabilities. A reconciliation between the B8E&  ALEBMFERELERZE9
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with &R HHR] FAEA . : : 5 . — S AE
éé j?%ﬁ': | FEEAEA carrying amounts under HKAS 39 and the balances of financial SRIE N 2 MR E B A EE S/
Customers Al t ted under HKFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018 is as follows SEGHERLETE o 122018
. e« assets repor : EEEHREBTETE - ¥
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue BBUTIREER] BEEEYERE g g F4A1H —é\%ﬁ;:ﬁ A5 39%E
2 BEITER Ein
from Contracts with Customers SH155RA(ES EHF 155 E, ; 5
FISTIER] Aﬁ;j;;’f = AT R A RSB T SR
[=yiy s S = 2,
. - FFIB NI EREMBEERZ
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property EBgsT£8E] BER A ’ E ’ :
. N BRI ¢
SBL0SRAVIEST
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and &6 (BRBAFEHRE SPMES S RET
Advance Consideration 2essw) wE HKAS 39 Measurement HKFRS 9 Measurement
. - LR R EEMBHEEN
—RTEE225% S92 E SO E
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28 2014FEZE20164F BBMTSIRE % - Amho r:t EReclass'f'cat'on Amo r:t i : -
u ificati u
2014-2016 Cycle BEREENE  ERRES ol ke
st L2V ELip] &% R
o Notes HK$ HK$
H28SRBNEST . o . o
HizE BT ; B
Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS 9 and BRI B RS A B R EENS Financial assets SRIEE
HKFRS 15, the adoption of the above new and revised standards VR BE B BIREERFE IR E Equity investments designated at EERAMEESA N/A = 17960621 17960621 FVOCE
has had no significant financial effect on these consolidated financial Gh > BRAN G T R BT 22 RI i2 25 fair value through other Ht2ENEY TER (equity)
statements. EEMBIRRIEE KT E o comprehensive income RARE FVOCE
(fx)
(@) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial (@) BEMBREERFESHTE From: Available-for-sale investments R () - 17,960,621
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods R2018F 1 B 1B 2 BREItE 2 F
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all EHREAE AT st 2EE 553958 Available-for-sale investments A ERE
three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: PHTAE X ERRE  BEES - Cyberport Macro Fund investments —HIEBLERIE (i AFS? 17960621 (17960,621) = N/A
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge RMTESHEEZ=AFHE : 2 HERE TER
accounting. RETE ~ ERE P EETEEE © To: Equity investments designated at fair & : {SEHARBIEA (17.960,621)
value through other comprehensive Hit2EEZ
The Group has no transition adjustments against the applicable AEBIEFFP2018ELH1HZ income RARE
opening balances in equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore, the BREBPYERERIEHIBESR
comparative information was not restated and continues to be o Rt BmBIILEERER Financial assets at amortised costs REHNATIRZ N/A - D0LBT004T 504570047 AC?
reported under HKAS 39. W HE B IR IR B & 5T 2RI 55395k EHBE TEm
EHe From: Held-to-maturity investments R e (i) 504,570,047
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(continued)

(@) (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)

2.2 BEIERRIKEEE @

(a)

(&)

DERkEE (@)

HKAS 39 Measurement HKFRS 9 Measurement
EHgHER HHMBREER
K HOMAEE
Category Amount Reclassification Amount  Category

&5 &8 BhaE &8 ]

HK$ HK$ HK$

B B B
Investments in securities HHRE
- Financial assets at fair value through —RAREESABRZ FVPL: 494,264,083 - 494264083 FVPL

profit or oss THEE
- Held-to-maturity investments —EERIHERE HTMs 504570047  (504,570,047) - N/A
TER
To: Financial assets at amortised cost . BEERATRY (i) (504,570,047)
THEE
Deferred rental receivables BEREYES L&R! 12,389,679 - 12,389,679 AC?
Trade receivables FEIERTL (i) L&R! 8 424,496 - 8424496 AC?
Financial assets included prepayments, SIABRE e RE L&R’ 13,759,686 - 13,759,686 AC?
deposits and other receivables HEWREZ SREE
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries EYRZKBATZE L&R! 899,937 - 899,937 AC?
Cash and bank balances RERiRTERE L&R! 122,808 960 = 122,808 960 AC?
1,175,077,509 - 1,175,077,509
1 L&R: Loans and receivables ! L&R : B EWGRIE
2 AC: Financial assets at amortised cost 2 AC : 1IEHRLASDIER 2 SRS
3 AFS: Available-for-sale investments 3 AFS : BIEHERE
4 FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss “ FVPL : #ARNBESI ABRmZE
5 FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 5 z%fc% BARNBESAEMEZE
income Wiz SMEE

6 HTM: Held-to-maturity investments 6 HTM : FrE E2ZIHEKE
Notes: PSR -
0} The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate its previous (i) NEEBIEREANOHEE IS E S

available-for-sale equity investments as equity investments designated at

fair value through other comprehensive income.

(if) The gross carrying amount of the trade receivables under the column
"HKAS 39 measurement - Amount” represents the amount after
adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 but before the measurement

of ECLs.

(iii) The Group has classified its previous held-to-maturity investments as

debt investments measured at amortised cost.

(ii)

(iif)

ARt ERAREREERA
ABEEFAHMEEEZEZRA

RIEBGTERERAE—F
38— TR BRE 48 (B TS
FLERANE BB IR E RS 155
ETREREERBEERE
Al 2 FRIE ©

FEEEREAFAEEAR
BDERBHAENASABZET
RE o

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)
Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded
at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based
on an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group applies the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated
based on the present values of all cash shortfalls over the
remaining life of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the
Group applies the general approach and record twelve-month
expected credit losses that are estimated based on the possible
default events on its other receivables within the next twelve
months. The Group has determined that there is no significant
impact on the provision for impairment of its trade and other
receivables upon the initial adoption of the standard.

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and
it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide
a more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including the
disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations and changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods. The disclosures are included in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements. As a result of the
application of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed its accounting
policy with respect to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2.2 GEHERRINEEE @

(a)

(b)

(&)
pEAIE]

BBV HREER BT E L
RIEBHBMBREENFIFTIZA
AEEFT AR 2 THEB LU HAL
LA AEEF AEMEE K
mZEH TR ~ HERRIE
BERAERMBREESHAER
B LRREFEREEHEEREN
B+_EREENAIEREEA
iR o AEERMBIES I > Wi
RIBI BT A U IR ER T 5
NZ AR ERRIREMLFTZH
EFRTRIARE IR ALR o IESh » K&
B B 4 — AR 75 70 L $2 AR HR R 2R
+ BB RHE MW FRIRARREE
HEENE G2+ B8 B
EEBEAK - AEEDRE -
RERRMZER R > WEHHE
PR AR RUR HM W R IR 2 R (E
BRERENEATE -

BBYBREERB IR KREE
SRR E R GSHERIE115RZ2HE
a4 BBGHERSE185RLA
KAk - BERBRGISMER
T HERARERGNELEZMF
BUWA - BEBUBHREERIF5
SREIZ—EMESER > LR
BERAHNZBATE  IRIZS
BB HREERF 155 0 AR
[RBRERETREARL XA ) B R
EmURBMARESZAES
FRRESD - BB B EERIF15
SRR S B AEBIAZH
BINEREIEZ 757 ° ZZERITRS|
ANEZZ EMERESKERTE
BEDFWALE > BIRETE
EURTRPEZENEERE
BIRBEHRESH ZEH - IWEA
BHEHN G HRAMEEL AR
EREBYBREERE 155
KEEEMFE M BERANFE2.4
Z WA FESDE A H & SHEER o
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

(b)

(continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of
initial application or only to contracts that are not completed
at this date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to
contracts that are not completed as at 1 April 2018.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no significant impact
on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income or on the Group’s operating, investing
and financing cash flows. However, upon adoption of HKFRS
15, the Group recognised revenue-related contract liabilities for
the unsatisfied performance obligation which were previously
recognised as “Rental and other deposit” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Accordingly, “Contract
liabilities” were increased by HK$3,302,947 and “Rental and
other deposit” were decreased by HK$3,302,947 at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 15 (1 April, 2018).

2.2 FHBERRIEEEH @)

(b)

€:)

A5 E B F RS U M I ER AR
BN S B SIS 2RI 15
% o RIRULF 7% > Z AR A FER
REREAEBZFEEH » 3
EERAREEHARTRZEH °
AEBEBEERZENRAR
2018F 48 1 BiERTEM 2 547 ©

NS B Fs R S =R 551558 %
fmEEmAEMEERERI A
EEZES  RERMERSM
EUEENREAEANTLE - R
i PR E B SRS RS
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ERERWARRZGNEE > T
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MEREDA TSR EMIZE) °
AL > REEFHEREERIZE15
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business?

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Leases!

Insurance Contracts?®

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and

Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments!

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23!

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

wmEER

BB RS %A
FHIRAVEET
BB REER
FISRAVEST
BB REER
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SR 285
(20114E) B91E3T
BRI EEL
165
BB R
E179%
SR E
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EBE £
2 195RANEST
EB R
E283RAEET

55 (HR RS
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— R TEH235R
20156E2201 74F
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2.3 BEFERHKERZERIRE
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business,
it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or
other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test
to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020.

2.3 BEREHKERZERNE

R ZER ()

TXHEEFBRARERNTERZZ
FEBVHREERNZE—DER -

BEMBREERFEIRNETEEE
HEE R » MWIRMEEEIMES| o ZIE5TH
AR RAXERy —HESENNEE
WEELBE—EBRAR—EEZE
2 MmENBHERRAZENEE
AERL o EHBEBELRBAREZ
FrERASBIZ o ZIETBUE T 7 Ham
B2 RERTAENRBER I AEFE
ERMAZRE » EABRRIEAEGS
Z AR BB EE TR 2 BE
NBESTERER o ZIETIFERERA
ZERSE > BHEFARPREZE
MRS « HEWMANE EEEEZ
HARA o E4h » ZAEsTIMR A RIT
EFTESBIRR BEAZIES| > W5 A
ARBEEFEASEE » AFHTER

2R REERTS I BN ESE
1TRAMEETE o ANEETEHAE 20206481
B EERaNZ1E] ©

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees - leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-
of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates
to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to
reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the
interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense
on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle
as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to
apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April
2019.

2.3 BEFERHKERZERIRE

HREEZER @)
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REREE) —RERIHRFELRM
EAREER R ZHIAE o ZEERH 5
R tE - 2YVIREEREZRA) > I
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BHEE) - RIEEAREERSDE
Bt ERBLREEYEZ EE » oiE
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to
recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2019 and will
not restate the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
Group's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before the date of initial application.
The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the standard on
lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the
date of initial application.

As disclosed in note 26(b) to the consolidated financial statements, at
31 March 2019, the Group had future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately
HK$10,497,757. Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts
included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to
determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities
to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating
to leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before
the date of adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by
the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2020. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2.3 BEREHKERZERNE

R ZER ()

REEEERSBMBEREERF 16
EZIBEGS > FERRANZ Rt 2
A E I 2019F 481 HIRBRAERT)
EERZ R WA EEIILERHF
B8 > AR EEE BT BT R E FE R R ST AT
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B2 &4 WEFIGEENRZ IR E
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HEATHRE o REE T EIEAERERHE
R EEERER BHALE12(8 A N4
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects
the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
(i) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax
treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes
in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application, without the restatement of comparative information.
The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, debt investment at fair value through profit or loss,
and equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income/available-for-sale investments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation technigues for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation technigues for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s family

and that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(

) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the period of the lease
Building services and support facilities  10%

Information technology facilities 20%

Centres equipment 20% - 33'/:%
Leasehold improvements 10%
Furniture and equipment 10% - 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)" below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“"SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset,
in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale
financial investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. These net fair value changes do
not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)" below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and
gains in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Held-
to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in profit or loss in other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity investments classified
as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in
other gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding
the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
profit or loss in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)" below

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the
ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to
be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
April 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates, if and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 April 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 24 FEFHBEHME @ 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2.4 FETHERHEE @)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in @ subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged”
against the period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss
- measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment
losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement - loans and borrowings and payables

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April
2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April
2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs of disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of each reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.

Hotel and management services

Revenue from the provision of hotel and management services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from food and beverage

Revenue from sale of food and beverages recognised at the point
in time when the control of the assets is transferred to the buyer,
generally upon consumption of the food and beverage items by the
customer.

Other facilities services

Revenue from promotion, additional air-conditioning and chilled
water charge, license fee and other facilities charge is recognised
over time as services are rendered if the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from event and venue fee, vetting and coordination fee,
tenants bus ticket and other premise fee is recognised at a point in
time when customer has obtained control of the service, generally
when the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income and contingent rentals are recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms, and in the accounting period in
which they are earned, respectively.

Car park fee is recognised when the services are rendered.

Other incidental income and services income are recognised when
the income is entitled and services are rendered.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

() rental income and contingent rentals, on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the lease and in the accounting period in
which they are earned, respectively;

(i) management fee income, when the services are rendered;

(i) income from hotel operation, upon provision of services;

(iv) car park fee and information technology facilities income, when
the services are rendered and facilities are utilised:;

(v) income from leasing of centre facilities, when the facilities are
utilised;

(vi) other incidental income and services income, when the income
is entitled and services are rendered; and

(vii) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or an
amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods or services
to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

Foreign currency transactions

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Group's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of each reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAF&SER XMt

Significant accounting estimates

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group performs review for impairment of non-financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.

The Group reviews certain indicators of potential impairment of these
assets such as reported sales and purchase prices, market demand
and general market conditions. The Group considers “Buildings
held for rental”, “"Hotel building” and “Building services and support
facilities” as a portfolio of assets and identifies the cash-generating
unit to which the portfolio of assets belongs by referring to the
valuation performed by independent external valuers, after taking
into consideration the net income allowing for reversionary potential.
The assumptions adopted in the property valuation are based on
the market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period,
with reference to current market sales prices and the appropriate
capitalisation rate.

Based on the Group's best estimates, no provision for impairment
loss on the non-financial assets is necessary.
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Significant accounting estimates (continued)
Estimation uncertainties (continued)
Investments in securities

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS ¢ on initial classification of
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity as financial assets at amortised cost if the Group
has the intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity; or
at fair value through profit or loss if the investments are managed
by external fund managers and their performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, and information about the investments is provided
internally on that basis to the Group’s key management.

For financial assets at amortised cost, the Group evaluates its
intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the
Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for
specific circumstances - for example, selling an insignificant amount
close to maturity - it will be required to reclassify the entire class as
debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The investments would, therefore, be measured at fair value not at
amortised cost.

For investments designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the
Group engages external fund managers to manage the investment
portfolio which is evaluated and reported internally on a fair value
basis. Accordingly, these investments are designated as at fair value
through profit or loss and are stated at fair value with subsequent
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the financial services,
media and retail sectors, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

3. Significant accounting estimates (continued) BEAEH @ Revenue and other net income 4. WWABHMYGTAEEE
Estimation uncertainties (continued) st FEERR (B) An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZAHWT :
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (continued) FEURBRFR 2 TEHAS BR51ERME ()
The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default HELERENE - BAKER T ATE
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. HEEEEZ BB & EAG
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and 5t o EHEEBBEZ SEHIRIFE LR
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss ?,‘E‘}EU%&?Wjﬁiﬁiﬂ%@ii@'i i$$@25§5€ Revenue from contracts with customers EE AL
. 4 - A A
experience a.nd forecast of e?onom|c condmon's may also not be T:.,g\\Eﬁ?ﬁ,n%ﬁw?&%ﬁf_u‘mliiik/E‘mﬁ_[ﬁb#!i\ Incame from hotel operation ST A 124,922,563 117,012,199
represehtatlve of customer’s actual default in the fu.ture. The /HJC%’%HE?%JEZE‘%E_AE ° E%EJZIK% Buulleling EnEEE e (e R ETBIL A
information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is B FEREE BB ZERRG ) -
disclosed in note 16 10 th lidated fi L stat . BN | b - Management fee income —BEERA 89,294,234 88,893,309
isclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. ST B = _ Other facilities income AR A 19,159,438 19610565
Fair value of Cyberport Macro Fund investments HIEEREREESKREZANEE 233,376,235 225,516,073
_ - . _ e i Revenue from other sources BtFIRZHA
The unlisted equity investments and an unlisted det?t |nv§stment ?Ei?ﬁﬂxﬁﬁﬁ&##fmﬁi‘%&ﬁﬂﬁ Rental income LU A 261,971,587 237,536,500
have been valued based on the recent market transaction prices and THAT G A R B BB B 8T & : N
) ) : P o Car park fee income SHEEIWA 13,998,390 14,879,229
expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items SR ITE B 2 T ERITIRTEHIIR Tl s AT A 201.268 230286
with similar terms and risk characteristics. This valuation requires SREETHE - IMEEREERERT — ' :
the Group to make estimates about expected future cash flows, TEHARZRIBEME ~ EERR « KEM 276,171,265 252,646,015
credit risk, volatility and discount rates, and hence they are subject to EIFREE{EHEE ) AMEELRETE 509,547,500 478,162,088
uncertainty. The fair values of the unlisted equity investments and an % ° 12201938318 » IE EmRAER
unlisted debt investment at 31 March 2019 were HK$44,713,898 and BRIFLEMEBREZ AREBEDA ,
ST e Di ted inf ation for revenue from B %
HK$10,152,211, respectively. Further details are included in note 14 44,713,89878 755 10,152.211 BT © HE— (@) |saggreg-a ed revenue tnformati vend AL O 1S
to the consolidated financial statements. TR R AT IRERMIEE14 o L A DI RS
Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and Y - BB RREIER ZREREIARK
equipment FIEREE
In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of REEYIZ ~ S RREER Z £ )
property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various FHRFGFEER » AEEELT ERES Type of services AR R
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from FZE= » SiEFTIRHRSE S UERE Income from hotel operation A EEA
change or improvements in the provision of services, or from a ERRFE B 2 T I5 B R EF R i - Room income - N 72,386,629
change in the market demand for the service output of the asset, the EHHEIBE - BETEHRR - TAEER - Food and beverage income — B TR A 52,535,934
expected usage of the asset, the expected physical wear and tear, the 185 - BEMEERBEURBEEFRAZE Building management income W TR A
care and maintenance of the. asset, and legal _or similar limit§ on the ﬁ%ﬁiiﬁ@{[ﬁﬁﬁuiﬁiﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁiﬁfé{ﬁ%ﬁr ~ Management fee income _ SRk A 89,294,234
use of the asset. The estimation of the.us_eful life of the asset is ba_sed TE%?J%ZIK%%E%)EH?Q*ET;(Z?U/\EZ _ Other facilities income R 19,159,438
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a REERIEE o % ~ SR RREEEZ :
similar way. An adjustment of depreciation is made if the estimated EEEIEREER, S RESREES R Total revenue from contracts with BEEEHWA4RZE
useful lives and/or residual values of items of property, plant and SeRifEEt o BIERITE AR « REIRE customers 233,376,235
equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and AR » AERREBE RESH o ERE Geographical markets HIBTH IS
residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period HA R T eREEE T o Hong Kong e 233,376,235
based on changes in circumstances. Timing of revenue recognition Iy A B SR BSFY
. - Services transferred at a point in time A (BRI BLERTS 2 63,148,412
Deferred tax assets IRIEMRIEE 2 , p, ﬁ oG %;FE\E RS2 REs
Services transferred over time ERSRS 8 2 BRTS 170,227,823
i FEIERIEE A S T AL B FER AT : - .
Deferred tax assets are recognised for'unu'sed tax l.osses to .the }E}\E%ﬁ Eﬁ_%@ﬁﬁﬁjgb?}%%ﬁ ﬁfﬂﬂ_ Total revenue from contracts with = A AU A KB3E
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against BARIRHEEE 2 I5R FaiRe AR IEE ST 233.376.235
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is BT UURES] - EIEE BRI R IRER —
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be s B BE HH ER 2 R RS Re K S EE R AR 2R AR
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable FSIREIRISEHE R > BT T
profits together with future tax planning strategies. MR EIEIR IS EEEE o
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4. Revenue and other net income (continued) 4, WAEIHMWARE @ Revenue and other net income (continued) 4, WABLEMUIGAEEE @)
(@) Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from (@) BERAHNWAZDEWRAER
contracts with customers (continued) (4&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRETIR AR S HIPTRESRET A
in the current reporting period that were included in the REHENEER A SEE
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: Other net income il A B
Interest income from financial assets RBHA AT AR SRIEE
at amortised cost/held-to-maturity BFEZIHSHAKREZ
investments, net of amortisation of FEUWA » HIbRa (B
premium of HK$1,688,840 1,688,840787T
Revenue recognised that was included in  F&z05t A SRS ERF] S E[EF (2018: HK$3,297,849) (20184 32978498 7T) 9,574,292 13,523,837
contract liabilities at the beginning of A Interest income from investments BANBESIABRY
the reporting period: at fair value through profit or loss KRB 2 F B 16,411,555 13,093,713
Income from hotel operation STE B A 3,302,947 Interest income on bank deposits RITERZFEWA 6,601,200 91,095
Rental deposits forfeited Rz EieE 3,437,237 -
(b)  Performance obligations b) BYHSE Services income from fellow subsidiaries EENNENCIPAE5T N
(note) (BfF5E) 4,201,654 4,201,654
Information about the Group's performance obligations is BRAEEBNEEZ BRI Net realised/unrealised gains on investments /A A BES A= 188>
S rised belos: W at fair value through profit or loss B2IR RERW P 3,978,725 191,970
Fair value gain on debt investment at fair BAREBES AEBmZ
Income from hotel operation B EEYIA e e el el o 653 EREIBE A MBS 340,024 _
The performance obligation is satisfied over time when B ER TR HARTS R = B Foreign exchange differences, net HMEZREFER (1,336,452) 7,776,270
services are rendered. HWRMETT ° Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYZE - HEs Kk
plant and equipment REEE 2 m 2,000 1,500
Revenue from food and beverages Brp R EIHA Bad debts expenses written back 122 EE RS S H (] 3,321,797 -
The performance obligation is satisfied when the customer BHEERBERRESEEERZ Reversal of impairment of trade receivables  SBHEIRBIAR T2 M{E 803,259 121,453
obtains control of the promised goods, being at the point ZHER (AR A EEREER R 47,335,291 39,001,532
when the customer consumes the food and beverage at the FRERELEF) BT c BRHER MK
restaurants. Payment of the transaction is due immediately at BURIRFIZBISZ (932 5 o Note: P
the point when the customer consumes the food and beverage. On 24 May 2000, a portion of the Inland Lot No. 8969 at Telegraph Bay, Pokfulam (the FR20006E5824H » BEERSBEEERBRA
“Residential Portion") was assigned to Hong Kong Cyberport (Ancillary Development) B (TEEZERAR) AR RN B AR ST A
. oz Limited (“HKCADL"), a fellow subsidiary, by Hong Kong Cyberport Development Holdings B (B2 R) BEAT (THKCADL) #E B #E ik
Management fee income EEEPA Limited (the “immediate holding company”). Pursuant to the services agreement dated AR 8 P EE 8969 R H A —Zp 40 3t (T{EEEP
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services B EER e HARFS R = R f:cgﬁfsbjfﬂiffg ngfiv';frz;wve;”ft:;';cﬂ?gigyf;dmmci?ﬁgf;fzfmnvt:gbsfxggz g;aiffjé?;;gcggﬁgiigg
are rendered. R MELT © for the provision of services by the Company to facilitate the operation of the Residential BIRMHARTS » B2003E11 B RIAS B AHKCADL
Portion. The fee was revised to HK$200,000 commencing from April 2006 and to YT ER 125,60078 75 2 [E FE AR TS U A o B 200654
. HK$261,000 commencing from May 2008. The total amount received during the year was AT 2008F5HE > ILIHWE D RIESTAEH
Other facilities income Rz s HK$3,132,000 (2018: HK$3,132,000). 200000375 R 261,000 7T © A4 E B UK A
The performance obligation is satisfied over time or point in A EENEE R RS R i HISO00RTR 01 31520007870
time as services are rendered. ERFEE BT Pursuant to the services agreement dated 12 March 2005 entered into between the TRARAA BB R B AT SKillful LimitedPis]
Company and Skillful Limited, a fellow subsidiary, monthly services income was received 1 BHA#52005F3 8 12H 2 lR#5 ek > &S ABIRE
for the provision of information technology and telecommunications services to the FEZDIRME RS KBRS mE A WEAR
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance 12019938318 > DEEFIERE Residential Portion. The total amount received during the year was HK$1,069,654 (2018: FEUA o AR [ B URAREE 21,069.65438 7T (2018
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) which HWEECREBTRBD RER HK$1,069,654). 10096547878 ©
amounted to HK$1,979,225 as at 31 March 2019 are expected to 17) 2R 5 B1§#1,979,225%8 7% »
be recognised within one year. TEERHRIIS — I FERD ©
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5. Staff costs BT Directors’ remuneration 7. E=EHHE
An analysis of staff costs is as follows: BTHAZ2UT : The emoluments of the Directors of the Group disclosed pursuant to RIETBABEGISE383NERAT (K
section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BEENTmER) REIE2IINE Z NE
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) EEET e
Regulation are as follows:
Salaries and allowances e = 118,053,172 105,256,000
Unutilised annual leave KEHFER 254,295 1,992,559
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREF T2 (H 3,591,643 4,647,766
Staff benefits and other staff costs B TEMFMEME T 2,337,485 1,771,366 Directors’ fees EEMEE - -
124,236,595 113,667,691 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e  EBL R EYIER - -
i g Al FE 4 - _
Analysed into: PIA D|s§retlonary ponuses . E; rﬁ\k: e
<VKE Bil /\/t\ = -
Hotel e 58,073,653 53451 707 Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIERR
Corporate office NEHEERR 43,542,007 38,371,179 e
Five highest paid empl 8. IhuEmSHES
101,615,660 91,822,886 (LT ] BREHER
Operating Teams (note 10) SEE X (FIEE10) 22,620,935 21,844,805 Details of the remuneration of the five non-director highest paid hEFESEEHEEZMEFFN
124,236,595 113,667,691 employees are as follows: s s
6. Loss before tax 6. BRIREIESIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): NEEZFRAIEERENG S GEA) T
FIIEE .
Salaries and allowances Fhat Be 2 Rh 10,020,767 11,906,676
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAEF T8 H = 180,000 183,000
10,200,767 12,089,676
Th f th -di tor highest pai [ h SIFL e FEaES
Rental income less outgoings of Al AR S e numper ](CJ ) t_err:_onhdlfre“c o.r |§ eds .paldfelrrp oyee whose @N;;;éﬁeaz#%%m S
HK$13,050,309 (2018 HK$12.677.493) 1305030055 = remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: z :
(2018%F : 12,677,49377T) (248,921,278) (224,859,007) 2019 2018
Cost of inventories FEMA 18,099,350 15,190,018
Minimum lease payments under KEHE THREHEE HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 22,000,00078 75 3 3
operating leases (RE 10,851,445 14,521,294 HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7875 22,500,000 7T 1 1
Auditor’s remuneration ZBIFmEN £ 328,701 248,368 HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 723,000,000/ 75 1 -
Impairment of trade receivables FEWARRR 2 RfE 16 48,658 67173 HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,005 75 2 4,000,0007 7T - 1
Reversal of impairment of EEOFEUERR 2 5 5
trade receivables JHE 16 (803,259) (121,493)
Loss on disposal of items of HEYZE ~ MRS B
property, plant and equipment, net IHE 7 518558 744,357 511,693
Finance costs: MEER .
Finance charges on obligations REREREL
under a finance lease A H 2,834 11,725
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9. Government rent and rates 9. AR Em 11. Income tax 11. FRGIR
An analysis of government rent and rates is as follows: HFA R 2 AW No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group ARASEARFET RN EEELEM
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during FEERFURA » Bl BB AR ERIEL
the year (2018: Nil). Bt (20184 © 4E) o
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to the loss before tax BRERGEB EEREAE ZRRAIE
at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax amount at the Group's B MBI R R A EB BRI EIAE
effective tax rate is as follows: ZIREEZHERWE -
Hotel JEE 1,458,800 1,464,800
Corporate office NEVHERR 13,050,309 12,677,493
14,509,109 14,142,293
Operating Teams (note 10) =peElEd(EA) 616,280 441,940
15,125,389 14,584,233 Loss before tax [ESaE St (76,551,478) (63,522,563)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate  3&#& 8% EME16.5%
. .. . . § f 16.5% SEZIRIEIE S (12,630,994) (10,481,222)
10. Public mission activities expenses 10. ARMEmEEIZEH 0 =35
P ’ ! Income not subject to tax BB A (1,145,302) (15.031)
All direct and indirect expenses incurred for the primary and AR EAFEEBN GRS HBIRE Expenses not deductible for tax NI B b 1,725,765 864,247
dominant purpose of public mission and that contribute to the MYEE 1 PR BRI AR Edn A BIFT EE Tax losses not recognised RS L IIRR IR 12,050,531 9,632,006
successful running of public mission activities as described in note L 2B B B BIIRR A AR Tax amount at the Group's effective tax rate BAERERRESE NG - =
1 to the consolidated financial statements are considered as public fEenEB H - AR AL : -
mission activities expenses. Such expenses comprise: 12. Deferred tax 12. WBIEIRIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: FIERIBEERBBRZEBT !
Losses  Depreciation
available for in excess
offsetting of related
Staff costs STHA 22,620,935 21,844,805 agaib“l“ f”“f‘_’e dePlrle“‘a“m ot
taxable profits allowance thers
Information technology facilities maintenance ~ BRI EHEHREER . - P I,, - " _
fees 29,104,324 26,705,130 FIRRIEES AR
Fi ial ist to industry start- MEAYIEIEEREEE 47,450,404 27,861,777 KRR RNz
inancial assistance to industry start-ups AZENVE IR HE /450, 861, BHZEE X L
Programme expenses (seminars, trainings, RISz (g ~ 523 HK$ HK$
competitions, workshops and exhibitions) LEE s TR EEE) 31,819,555 38,536,476 BIT BT
Government rent and rates hFE i 616,280 441,940 _
R o El)ngﬂg: 358.38 8.700.672 At 1 April 2017 201754818 (101,474,063) 101,609,163 (135,100) =
Public ml55|0n communications L\_f@upLaﬂ 7,358,381 ,700,67 Deferred tax (credited)/charged to  £EAIRB2E (Bt A) /
Operating expenses frEs 6,326,122 5341,968 profit or loss during the year B EERIE (13326,630) 13,324,068 2562 -
Recovery of direct expenses (including BB H (EEBUE At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 F2018&3831H &
government grants of HK$2,000,000 #58)%2,000,00078 75 2018548 1H (114,800,693) 114,933,231 (132,538) -
(2018: HK$4,592,371)) (20184F : 4,592,371387T)) (11,938,190) (12,891,610) Deferred tax (credited)/charged to  FERPER (Gt A)
133,357,811 116541158 profit or loss during the year bR 2 IRIERR 1B (12,144,666) 13,259,678 (1,115,012) -
At 31 March 2019 1220194E3831H (126,945,359) 128,192,909 (1,247,550) -
Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary differences R AR EAE R BB AR SR E SRR a A
arising from tax losses carried forward due to uncertainty of EIEARNIEN R > ARG ERIE
realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable 1T E A 2 R R BRI IE IR IE &
profits. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had unrecognised tax B © JA20196E38 318 » &"EEZ K&
losses of approximately HK$2,233,000,000 (2018: approximately SRR IEES184942,233,000,00078 7T (2018
HK$2,156,000,000). The tax losses have no expiry date and are yet to £ #92,156,000,000787T) o FRIEESIE
be agreed by the Inland Revenue Department. MEIHAR » (BEFRBHELD
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13. % - B ReH

13. Property, plant and equipment 13. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 13. % - EBREE @

Buldig Notes: BfsE
i Informati
e ey Semcesa": :°;mal'°" - P - - 0] On 22 May 2000, the Government of the HKSAR granted the Inland Lot No. 8969 (i) 120005522 » EBFEBNAER
ML : ole suppo = nlololgy .en L3 . 35600 i ulrean .0 o at Telegraph Bay, Pokfulam to the immediate holding company for a term of PERG A B HE H — 1R ALY S8 B M AR 7 Y
held for rental builing fecltes fciites Equipment. " Improveménts equpment Vehices 50 years at a lump sum initial premium of HK$1,000 and an annual rent of an HEL89695R 2 Tl » — R T HIRES
L E & amount equal to 3% of the rateable value of the said Lot from time to time. 1,00078 7t > SEFAEAA50E » MEENHE
HFLAREF FEEEF  HSERN B IV MR FRARE 1] S DEBARE R _E bl 3t ER R BE A FE 2R 2 A
HeS HKS HES HkS HKS HES HkS HKS HfE3%
H— by 1l H= H— H— H= b dnd =
A #n A A ’%TE AL BT =T On 24 May 2000, the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement with the 20005824 H » AR B R B ZITR
M immediate holding company whereby a portion of the Inland Lot No. 8969 at REFTU—HDTEHZE i > ZAF
Telegraph Bay, Pokfulam (the “Cyberport Portion") is sub-leased to the Company REZEER AT DR ERMIELZER
from the immediate holding company at nil rental. £ 8969 5% ELFR — &R 93 1 3t (TERRS A 20
31 March 2019 01938317 21) 0 BEZAHEE
At31 March 2018 and ROIBEIBIN B (i) The buildings are situated on the leasehold land granted. (ii) ZEEF AR E T o
1 April 2018: WIBELEIR
Cost A SLIBTG  2LKTINY LIG686458  DS0OK0TGES  608865E 166135293 17805192 LIS 5937674 (i) Centres equipment represents equipment of Entrepreneurship Centre and (i) AL TS BT B = B B ¥ A 1S
AccumJated depregaion g (07799356 (B3374676) (1165566958)  (231615486)  (G0886256)  (6368583) (125355600 (888.484) (2784,030,400) Technology Centre funded by government grant and used for the purpose of the EIEE Z REBFRAOMPE RO LR
- designated projects. o
Net carrying amount KE5E 2479129420 191,563,236 69,139,500 18,992,179 - 97,766,710 52,696,323 LA9.667  2,909,737,035
A1 Aprl 201, et o HIBELEIR (iv) As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the buildings held for rental (together with (iv) 72019438318 » FEHAIEE (&R
accumulated depreciaton bI[EE S 2MIBA0  191563236 69139500 18992179 < OITRTI0 52696323 G987 2909,737,035 the associated building services and support facilities) amounted to HK$6,956 R 2 R ARFS RS iR ) 2 AnEE
Additions 58 ) YT 1478022 - MMM B3R - 920 million (2018: HK$6,761 million). The aggregate carrying value of such assets 2569 56128 7T (20184F : 67.611287T) °
- amounted to HK$2,501 million (2018: HK$2,548 million). The fair value of the ZEBEEZ IREARE 22501187 (2018
epreciation provided during £ buildi held tal (togeth ith th iated buildi ) d B OBAIEETT) o LR LRI
syare R uitaings ne or renta ogether wi € associlate uitaings services an o g RAEBTC) ° X=F1IT S
.theyear HjiMﬁE (m42985) (6388334 (361,262 (6310799 mg’;’”g [2[]&[‘;3":7; (142000 (mim'gwi support facilities) as at 31 March 2019 was determined based on a valuation CGERERRMZIBFRFEE S IELMH) P
Disposal 2 ) ) ) ) ) 1045 8510 ) g 351 carried out by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent 20193831 BZ A A BETIREBILE
At 31 March 2019, net of R2019E3831H » professional valuer. ¥ EEMS OB ERER (F8) BR
accumulated depreciation E:HE 2,401986,455 185,607,902 99,445,951 15,157,403 - 111,961,380 55,039,554 307,667  2,869,506,312 NEETZHEETE ©
At31 March 2019 ROIYESF3A _ o . : , .
The fair value of the buildings held for rental (together with the associated BHELEET (EEEE TR RS
Cost . ﬁﬁf’& . 3957123776 274937912 1264350171 237234722 60,886,256 171485488 193484489 930,137 5,760,432,949 building services and sUpport facllities) falls within LLevel 8 of the fair valle =) > A SERER A MBEZS
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (1,155,137,321) (89,330,010 (1,16,904,220)  (222,077,319)  (60,886,256)  (59,526,108) (138 444,935) (622,470)  (2,890,926,637) hierarchy and is determined using the income capitalisation approach by hrS=4k > BIEARASELS RS
Net canrying amount FEFE 2401986455 185,607,902 99,445,951 15,157,403 - 111961380 55,039,554 307,667 2,869,506,312 discounting the expected rental income using a capitalisation rate adjusted for T AAARAEREHIETFZERR
the quality and location of the buildings. HRAEL R 2 BAC X FEHATE &
31 March 2018 .
arc WIBEIAIA WAIFTEREH o
At 1 April 2017 R0TELBIR (v) As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of furniture and equipment held under v) R2018E3H31H » ZEERBMERS
st Bk WEINTE AN LTI BABAN0 KBB4 UG0S 1%TE SA0RT 2 finance lease of the Group was HK$2.3 million (2019: Nil), S (LR S B A 230 B
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (1000851391)  (77419362)  (1,148426937)  (232303794) (088825 (35.218%99)  (104554280) (T1628L)  (2660407081) (2019£F 1 &) o
Net carrying amount KESE 2556,272,385 197518570 49354307 24050496 - 81,661,837 67206628 591,667 2976475890
At 1 April 2017, net of accumulated 1201748 1H »
depreciation Th2stie 2556272385 197518570 49354307 24050496 - 81,661837 67226628 591,667 2976475890
Additions e = = 26905214 3021590 - 29613030 7455311 - 66,995,145
Depreciation provided during ER
the year HIRHE (T7,142965) (5955,334) (T120021) (8079907) - (13190157) (21790423) (1620000 (133420807)
Disposal e - - - - = (318000) (195,193) - (13193
At 31 March 2018, net of RISE3F3NR
accumulated depreciation Thegiire 2479129420 191563236 69,139,500 18992179 - 97766710 5269323 L9667 290973703
At31 March 2018 RISEIFRNE
Cost Ak 3957123776 24931912 1,204,686,458 250407 665 60,886,204 146,135,293 178051926 1338151 5693767435
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (1077994, 356) (83374676)  (1155546.958)  (231615486) (60886,250) (L8368583)  (125395,603) (888.484)  (2784,030400)
Net carrying amount RE3E 2479129420 191563236 69,139,500 18992179 - 97,766,710 52,696,323 LA9.667  2909,737035
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14.

Cyberport Macro Fund Investments

14. BIERIRERFEERRE

Equity investments designated at fair value ISR A RDEESTA
through other comprehensive income Hithemlim s BAasE
- Unlisted equity investments, —JE EHRARE >
at fair value BAMNERE 44,713,898 -
Debt investment at fair value through WA RNBESTAEBRLZ
profit or loss ERLE
- Unlisted debt investment, at fair value —JEETHERESE »
BARBE 10,152,211 -
54,866,109 =
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE
- Unlisted equity investments, —JEERAKE
at fair value BRAREE - 17,960,621

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

The above debt investment was a hybrid contract consisting of a
bond and an embedded derivative. It was mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as its contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

To further extend the Group's entrepreneurial support to scalable
start-ups, the Group has launched the CMF for Hong Kong-based
digital entrepreneurs in 2017. With an initial size of HK$200 million,
the CMF aims to accelerate the growth of digital technology start-
ups. As an investment fund that targets to co-invest in Cyberport
digital entrepreneurs with other private and public investors as
seed to Series A stage funding, the CMF also aims to encourage the
development of a venture capital ecosystem for start-ups in Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there was no gross fair value
change in respect of the Group's available-for-sale investments
recognised in other comprehensive income.

AR AEEBAZEREBRIENE -
iR AN I B RIS E R A 1t
BE AR I

FREBRESHESFRRANTET
BN EEEH o ARG DEAR
ARBEFSABmZEREE @ RES
HENHREREN IHERSZNEE KA
Be

RE—TMAKEEHAIERA X
ZRIZEZFR ) REMN2017TF 2B BH
BEERMB B ERBAFEES - #
BRARBRIZESVRRERR2EE
7T > STEMREBEREANAI B3R o
R EEEAEMMARAHREESF
RENR YIS BHISEEMARMRRE
B IEBRERFESTANZE
BRNVAICXERARRELRIR
15 o

B E2018FE3HINHIEEE » KEBW
EEEMEEWETER AR HEHE
KEZEAANEEEBNAREE

15.

Investments in securities

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

15. EHRE

Non-current assets JERENEE

Financial assets at amortised cost TEIE R ARSIR 2 SRS B 70,830,649 -

Held-to-maturity investments FREEIPRKE - 223,214,837

70,830,649 223,214,837

Current assets mEnE E

Financial assets at amortised cost BB E 151,266,273 -

Held-to-maturity investments FAEZEIARKE - 281,355,210

Investments at fair value through profit or loss ZAREEF ABRZKE 529,197,175 494,264,083
680,463,448 775,619,293

Total 485t 751,294,097 998,834,130

(@) Financial assets at amortised cost/held-to-maturity (a) IREBHRBTIRZEMEE 5

investments BEEIHARSE

(b)

Listed fixed interest debt securities in

BB LHEEN BEHES

Hong Kong 222,096,922 481,089,894
Unlisted debt securities JE LTHERES - 23,480,153
Net book amount BRERE 222,096,922 504,570,047
The net book amount is analysed as IREVFE2WT !

follows:

Maturing over one year = = w2 ] 70,830,649 223,214,837
Maturing within one year R—FEREIE 151,266,273 281,355,210
222,096,922 504,570,047
Market value of listed debt securities LHEHEESZHE 222,235,600 479,131,186
Market value of unlisted but quoted debt  JF_FTH{EARBEETS
securities BEzHE - 23,419,146
222,235,600 502,550,332
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (b) HAREEFABREZEE

Listed fixed interest debt securities: THEENEEHES -
- In Hong Kong —&HBER 191,439,070 171,650,370
- Outside Hong Kong —&BIEIN 248,081,875 228,826,985
Unlisted but quoted fixed interest debt JELETHEERERE
securities FEBEHE 89,676,230 93,786,728
529,197,175 494,264,083
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16.

Trade receivables

16. FEURBREIR

Trade receivables FEUSERTR 11,047,174 9,240,005
Impairment BB (60,908) (815,509)
10,986,266 8,424,496

The credit period given to customers is generally 0 to 30 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancement over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

MTERZEEH—MRA0EIDRX &
£ Bt B AR AR R ELR IR (1] = FE AR IR
DS EEREEERE - BHERFES
REEETIER - AEELENERE
W RGBT A (R R AR fm S AT E Ath
EERFAHEN o BUIRRABRE °

FEWERTUR E B HEEI T ¢

At beginning of year FH] 815,509 869,829
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) TR E RS e (fisEs) 48,658 67,173
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) #EolR B RS 1E (Fi5E6) (803,259) (121,493)
At end of year FR 60,908 815,509

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

HE2019F3831 HILFEF AR
EEANFESRIE T ZR{E

FAEERSRE HAERRBEEREET
BEDH > UstERMEERKE o #
BERTLRBEBRLUR I (Bt IR (i
B Emfff - RRARKTRUKRE
BREREMTAZEERRZEBER
B) 2 2 EEF o EERN 2 SR #E
TE o ZstBRREIRINEER « SIS
BEEN RS BHESERIEE
S~ BRGNS RSB AR TER 2
BEAEER - —fkME » BUERMRW
BRBE—FAFZRENTEE > R
T LU o

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

16. Trade receivables (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019
(continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2019

16.

Less than
Current  one month

B OrR—ER

FEURBRER (&)

HE2019F3831HILFEFHAIRTFEIR
ERRFSRIET ZR{E (B)

BUT 8515 R A< 52 B AR IR AR TR B PR
Bz EERBER

142019538310

Past due

k]

One to three Over three
months months

—EZ@R BBA=MERA

Expected credit loss rate TEHAEEEEX 0% 0%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) BREI42{& (GB7T) 8,324,098 1,173,440

Expected credit losses (HK$) FBHRE SIS (GET) =

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2018

that were not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired
under HKAS 39 is as follows:

0% 7.42% 0.55%
728,664 820,972 11,047,174
= 60,908 60,908

HE2018F3A3 B LEEESRHE
RIE39SIE T 2 MM

FR20185F3H31H » WEBEEBE
ZER 5539518 B N EBR AR (E IR (B Z FE UK
IR Z AREe D ATINR

Neither past due nor impaired REHEATN R (E 6,683,314
Less than one month past due mE DR —EA 783,729
One to three months past due B —==1EH 686,521
Over three months past due BEA=EAMU E 270,932

8,424,496

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a
number of independent customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number
of independent customers that had a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the Directors were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary
in respect of these balances as there had not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable.

SRBIAATR R B 2 FE UG IR 855 T AR
RS 2 B Z A AR o

BHRERBE 2 EUGRIRE S T A S
B RiF s WU E A AR
RIBAEEE  EFNABEREEE
BRI B 39MALA FAEER(F R E R

RAMGER O BAR AR 28R -
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17.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

17. FAMRIE « e REMEUKR
15

Prepayments SEINE/NE 4,661,026 4,736,709
Prepayments and deposits paid for the A - WX
purchase of items of REBEEZ G
property, plant and equipment SN NS¢ 12,940,534 4,129,260
Deposits paid for premises leasing MHERESZ G2 e 685,008 685,008
Deposit paid for Cyberport Macro HIEBIS BRI XEHSNE
Fund investment ZIENE & 14,129,730 -
Other deposits Hithizs 1,812,956 1,600,585
Other receivables HihpEUERTE 14,525,779 10,839,812
48,755,033 21,991,374
Analysed into: P4
Non-current portion IEREER D 27,755,272 4,814,268
Current portion SRENER D 20,999,761 17,177,106
48,755,033 21,991,374
Impairment of deposits and other receivables ¥ R E AU ERIE 2 iR (B

The carrying amount of deposits and other receivables approximated
to their fair value as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. Their recoverability
was assessed with reference to the credit status of the debtors, and
the expected credit loss as at 31 March 2019 is considered to be
minimal.

As at 31 March 2018, none of the above assets was either past due or
impaired. Financial assets included in the above balances related to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

FR2019FE K 201853831 H » e hHE
MEWRRIEZ AREERE A A EENE
o HuleE B 2EEHAZEER
ERE - mAt2019F3831 B2 B
EEEWRAENE -

R2018FE3H31H » Lol & EMEEER
TNERE © st A LilsE iRz SR E A
HTRAN B AN iR 2 FEWGRIBE A R ©

18.

19.

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

Cash and bank balances

18. IMERXIRITLHETF

Cash and bank balances BE RIRT457F 163,526,258 122,808,960
Non-pledged time deposit with an original RESRKREIHBA
maturity of less than three months when DR=EA Z EIKR
acquired TEHRZR 125,597,600 -
Non-pledged time deposits with original RESRRIIARZ
maturity of more than three months when =8 ULz EigiR
acquired TEHRfE 358,873,875 -
647,997,733 122,808,960

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
three months and one year depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earns interest at the respective time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Other payables and accruals

RITIRSBRIBEEHRTERMELLELS)
FIERBRERE - EMERRFEAEEZ
BIEFIRERKRME > AR =18
BE—FA%E > WAEBZEHRERF
KBS - RITEFREREREA
TR RIEAYRL IR BB RFZIRIT ©

H thFE (I TR IR B fEsHrRIA

Contract liabilities HHaE 1,979,225 =
Other payables HAMFE(TRIE 5,870,554 2,628,854
Accruals fESTZIE 118,221,334 74,975,295
Receipt in advance FaUENIE 6,488,582 5,026,413
Deferred revenue IEFEYTA - 320,035
Provisions 15 15,599,100 =

148,158,795 82,950,597
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19.

20.

21.

Other payables and accruals

Notes:

(a) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 are as follows:

B P URE 2 AEHREARR
TEIEEERA

Short-term advances received from customers
Income from hotel operation

19.

H{th &I TRIR R FE & FRIE
R -

(a) 20193831 HKR2018FELH1HZEH
BEFBNT ¢

31 March 2019
—E-hE

1 April 2018
—Z-N\EF
=BR=+—H [MAE—H
HK$ HK$
B Bt

1,979,225 3,302,947

The decrease in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly due to the decrease in
short-term advances received from customers at the end of the year.

(b) Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of three
months.

Rental and other deposits

Included in rental deposits are amounts of HK$57,040,472 (2018:
HK$48,735,090) which are not expected to be settled within one year.

Obligations under a finance lease

The Group leases certain of its information technology facilities. The
lease was classified as a finance lease and had a remaining lease
term of 0.75 years as at 31 March 2018.

At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease payments under
finance lease and their values were as follows:

20.

21.

BMEEN2019FR/LD > TEHRER
% P UWER 2 AE AR PR ©

b) HtENRERBRE » TIHRD=(E
Ao

R HhiEE

HEeREUERRIER —FRENMZ
FRIR57,040,4727 7T (20185F : 48,735,090
BIT) °

B SRR

SEBHEEETENRE RN o 7122018
FI3IH3NH ZEER S EARMER
B > BR FEHA0.755F ©

7R201843H31H > MEHEE TN 2K
RRERENTIEELEEOT -

Minimum Minimum Present value Present value
lease lease of minimum of minimum
payments payments lease payments lease payments
REHE =IEHEE RIEAE REHEE
LREN INE H=RIRE NFERE
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$ HK$ HK$
BIT BT BT
Amount payable: ISNENER
Within one year —&FR 1,580,310 - 1577476
Total minimum finance lease RERESHEE
payments (NEAEEES 1,580,310 - 1,577,476
Future finance charges RRRMEEA (2,834)
Total net finance lease payable and  42GLETE SENSIEHE
classified as current liabilities Y&y Py =] 1,577,476

22.

23.

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

Development Maintenance Fund

It represents a fund received by the Group in accordance with the
terms of a project agreement entered into among the Company, the
immediate holding company, HKCADL, Pacific Century Cyberworks
Limited (now renamed as PCCW Limited) and Cyber-Port Limited
on 17 May 2000 (the “Project Agreement”). Pursuant to the Project
Agreement, the purpose of the fund is for upkeep and maintenance of
the common telecommunications, media and information technology
facilities available to the tenants and visitors (the “Shared Cyberport
facilities”).

Upon acquisition of relevant assets for replacements, the costs
of the acquired assets will be transferred from the Development
Maintenance Fund (the “DMF") account to the Capital Reserve
account in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.

During the year, the Shared Cyberport facilities of HK$1,476,022 (2018:
HK$3,021,590) were acquired and funded by the DMF. Accordingly,
this amount has been transferred from the DMF to Capital Reserve
account.

Share capital

22.

23.

HRMEERS

ZEETEAEERBALAR « B
ERRAT] ~ HKCADL ~ BRI EhEE 1A
RAB GRIBEABEMARAE) REM
BHRAT 20005581782 2
RSB S BT % (TSt BI1HE 1) ZARFRFT
WEZ B o RIBZET B 0 LIRS
TREREREEHBRRATERZ
HABM - ERLE AR R (M85
BRI ©

RIERERZG5TER > RBERFESE
ELUFERE > BEBEEEZ lA(EE
REEES (BREEES)) RPER
EERFERFIRS ©

FR o EEA1,4760227 7T (20184
3,021,590787T) 2 S5 B AR E R
BHEESEETRMEES o Bt > Z
ENECNZEERECESEREEAM
fEERE ©

(1223

BETRRRE
300,000,0028%

Issued and fully paid:
300,000,002 (2018: 2) ordinary shares

(20184 : 28%) Timp%

300,000,002 2

On 28 February 2018, the HKSAR Government has announced
a funding injection of HK$300 million to Cyberport for the new
initiatives in respect of strengthening the support to its tenants/
incubatees, and promoting the development of esports in Hong Kong,
as covered in the Financial Secretary’'s 2018/19 Budget Speech.

On 12 September 2018, 300,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
of $1 each were issued and allotted to the immediate holding
company in consideration of the injection of an aggregate sum of
HK$300 million into the Company.

K20184F2H28H » R KA Bl R#E &R
22018/ 19 FE(HFEREE)F > T8
RHEBNE MRS EERET
MBS B T IR ST IR AR R B S
REVZ N > WHEEBRERE °

K20185F9 A 128 » A ABI M EZZER
N T 4T R #£300,000,0008% AR E(E 1
Bz EBE > (EARRNAREALE
RBTZMRME ©
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24.

25.

Reserves

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

24, {#E

FEERTEFERBTEFEZ FHTH

REEBZINIEE

HEEHE o

25. IREHREFRERMEE
RBP4 B (Y

Government
grants included

in other payables

and accruals

Obligations
under a
finance lease

sTAH{thFE(T
FRIA R FEETTRIE
ZHfFHBE  REHEERE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2019 20195
At 1 April 2018 R20185F4H1H 320,035 1,577,476
Changes from financing cash flows RERSESE) (320,035) (1,577,476)
At 31 March 2019 122019438318 - -
2018 20185
At 1 April 2017 R201754818 = 3,672,831
Changes from financing cash flows MBS REEE) 320,035 (2,095,355)
At 31 March 2018 72018538 31H 320,035 1,577,476

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

26. Operating lease arrangements

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases certain buildings (note 13) under operating
lease arrangements. The leases are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to six years. The terms of the leases also
require the tenants to pay a security deposit.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

26. EETHEZHE

(a)

EREFAA

AEBBRBKEHEZHEES
FHEF (M5E13) - ZEHEEZ
EZHEANF—FEERERE o
THEFRRIFERIB (I REE ©

R20194E3831H » ANEEIRIRA
P 2 R EH S SHERN
RRREEERE WA TRAREEZIHA
BRI

Within one year —FR 195,598,378 167,350,753
In the second to fifth years, FE_FEFERF
inclusive (BIEEREME) 181,062,077 183,963,464
376,660,455 351,314,217
As lessee (b) (EAEAA

The Group leases its information technology facilities and office
premise under operating lease arrangements. Leases for these
facilities and property are negotiated for terms ranging from
one to six years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

follows:

AEBRBASHEZHHEER
AR E kR FE - HEZE
R FEFEE < BN F—
FERFFRE o

722019538311 » KERIREA
R EREN R R REEE
TRAREB R RRIE R T «

Within one year —FR 3,870,268 22,329,605
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEFRHF (BIEEEME) 6,627,489 97,184,111
After five years hER - 1,231,125

10,497,757 120,744,841
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29. EHENBSHERTAR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial M T ARREHRZREEW
instruments at the end of the reporting period are as follows: TF ¢

27. i
B b OB EE 06 Btk > AT TR EARHE SN >

27. Commitments 29. Financial Instruments by Category

In addition to the operating lease commitments details in note 26

above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of

the reporting period.

FEERRSHARZERERENT :

31 March 2019

Financial assets

Financial assets

2019538318
EHMEE

at fair value
through other
Contracted, but not provided for BETAY > (BREHE ¢ 75,501,010 22,454,551 comprehensive Financial assets at fair value
income through profit or loss
28. Related party transactions 28. FAEKA3EH suEE
BRAREENA
(@) The Company is wholly owned by the Government of (@) ARAHEBREBN SR RS AR B B
the HKSAR via The Financial Secretary Incorporated. In BEREZE2EER - REEH SREE SRIEE
accordance with revised HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures G A G B 2 ESTEE Financial
issued by the HKICPA, government-related entities and their Bt EERSE 24 SRAT I 1 B 2 5 Equity Held for Debt assets at
subsidiaries, directly or indirectly controlled, jointly controlled T NHAEBREBNERZSRE investments trading investment  amortised cost
or significantly influenced by the Government of the HKSAR B s HEEGFSREERR ) _ _ mﬁfﬁ!im
are defined as related parties of the Group. On that basis, BHNERERREWEB A L RiFRR B8R L EHAE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
related parties include the immediate holding company and B MR EAAER RS .- . - .
its subsidiaries (other than the Company), other government- RIEZER » S SiEERE
related entities and their subsidiaries, other entities and RABREKB AT (RAB R Deferred rental receivables BTN - - - 8,503,135 8,503,155
corporations in which the Group is able to control or exercise 46 ~ BB AERAE RS R EL B Cyberport Macro Fund investments HEEREAREERE GATI3898 - 10152211 - 94,866,109
significant influence and key management personnel of the NE ~ AREEGEZEGIS I N E ‘an\;zsetr:eecr;:g[zcumies iiii ) SBNTITS ) Zfégzzzz 7?;;;2222
Group. 2 %zﬁfmgﬁ%&ﬂéﬁu&ﬁ Financial assets included in prepayments, EH\%E%%’XIE}‘EZ%& . .
EEZIREEAR- deposits and other receivables HftEWE SRIBE - - - 17.724,883 17,724,883
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EHEZBARZIE - - - 261,000 261,000
During the year ended 31 March 2019, approximately 3% HZE201993831HIEEE > k82 Cash and bank balances BERBTES - - - 647,997,733 647,997,733
(2018: 3%) of the Group's revenue was rental income, building ERAREHRN REMEITEFEE 4713898 529197175 10152211 QTHM9950 1491433243
management income and other facilities income derived from BZHESRA S BFEBRAK
the Government of the HKSAR and other government-related HMRERALGEEBBAZ e e e SEEE
entities. All these services are conducted in the normal course 3% (20184F : 3%) ° PRE Z LR EE——
of business and in accordance with the Group's pricing policy. HEEREBBERRAER Y liabilities at
TEBBUERET © amortised cost
FaigsH R 2
(b)  The balances with the immediate holding company and fellow b) HEBRERASKRBZRNEAE SRz ER AR
subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on ZHEERI A EIEE « RERERE %K;
demand. SKRIEE ©
Trade payables FETERRR 28,514,375
() No compensation was paid to the key management personnel © FR> UERAEERFEEEA Financial liabilities included in other payables EJFA;H\@%N%\IEE& .
of the Group in respect of their services rendered to the Group BERAEEREZREMAEE Reirt];jlae;c(;%?r[wser deposits mggigéiﬂgjg ]gg?ggggz
during the year (2018: Ni). AT (20185 : ) © Amount due to the immediate holding company & EZIZRATIFIE 254,293,578
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FENRERMEBATRIE 192,321
Deferred rental payable IEICAE(S S 222,775
501,921,739
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29. Financial instruments by category (continued) 29
31 March 2018 201853H31H
Financial assets EREE

. BRENSISHNERITA @)

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit Available- Held-to-
or loss - held for-sale maturity Loans and
for trading investments investments receivables
BAREEFA
RukiERE fRE BRk
ZEMEE [ HHRKE i e
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
Deferred rental receivables ELRYES - - - 12389679 12,389,679
Cyberport Macro Fund investments HIEBREREEERE - 17,960,621 - - 17960621
Investments in securities EARE 494,264,083 = 504,570,047 = 998834130
Trade receivables FEURERRR = - - 8,424,496 8,424,496
Financial assets included in prepayments, =t ATBIEIE « &R EAM
deposits and other receivables BB SREE = - - 13,759,686 13,759,686
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  EAAKIBATZIE = = - 899,937 899,937
Cash and bank balances BERFT6ER - = = 122,808,960 122,308,960
494,264,083 17,960,621 504,570,047 158,282,758 1,175,077,509

Financial liabilities

TREEE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

FgsEp A

SlRZ

Eotz =i

HK$

BT

Trade payables FEATRRR 28,319,981
Financial liabilities included in other payables st A EAFESIIE R

and accruals EstERZSMEans 72,782,330

Rental and other deposits A REMZS 85,199,995

Amount due to the immediate holding company FE{J B AT FIE 254,293,578

Obligations under a finance lease BhEETE &R 1,577,476

Deferred rental payable IRIEFETTRS 269,675

442,443,035

30.

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial 30.

instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts

fRE(E

2019
HK$
A

EHMIRZARBERARE
FE 3

FEEERIBEZRAEERAAEE
(REAEEARANBESEEEZS/MT
BRS¢

Fair values
AREE
2019
HK$
AT

Financial assets SHEE
Equity investments designated  1EEIZAREESTA

at fair value through other HittzmEmlmz

comprehensive income RAIRE 44,713,898 - 44,713,898 -
Debt investment at fair value BARBESTABGELZ

through profit or loss BIEEE 10,152,211 - 10,152,211 -
Available-for-sale investments Bt ERE - 17,960,621 - 17,960,621
Investments in securities ESRE 751,294,097 998,834,130 751,432,775 996,814,415

806,160,206 1,016,794,751 806,298,884 1,014,775,036

Financial liabilities SHaRE
Finance lease payable BB ERENTUE - 1,577,476 - 1577476

The Group has assessed that the fair values of deferred rental
receivables, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, balances with fellow subsidiaries and the immediate
holding company, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, rental and other deposits, and a deferred
rental payable approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following method and assumptions
were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income, which were previously
classified as available-for-sale equity investments, as at 31 March
2019 have been estimated using the recent market transaction price.

FEHBFEETRWES - BUER
O FTATRIA ~ e R HEMEER
M2 EHEE  RERRTER ~ 2R
ANBRERERER AT MG - &
AHERFR ~ ST ARMENIERES &R
ZEMERE  BEREMIZS URIELE
EANAEZ AREERAREERS
EHRZETARERRNEIH -

THEEREREBEZAABENNE
75 BFR (RiAsUER HERIN ETZE
AR ZHIM T AMNEEAARR © T575
ERRR AR A AREE -

122019438318 » JoRiD a4 nl
ERALEZIEERAANBES AEM
2ENEZIEEMRAREZ ANEB
BRI IATIS R BT ©
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30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial 30. ERTAZAABHEKEARE 30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial 30. ESMTAZARABEKRAAE

instruments (continued)

The fair value of an unlisted available-for-sale equity investment
as at 31 March 2018 has been estimated using a discounted cash

HEHR @

12018538310 » JFEMAIHHER
REZAABECHRAITRRESRE

instruments (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

BEEHR

LU ATR2019F K 2018E3H31 B EH S
BT A EZ AN SR A SRS

o . , T S o
flow valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported HEEE > RIETIFHEEZEHED sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2019 and 2018: REFIERSRED -
by observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the BEXLTR7IRRETEE c MEEXE As at 31 March 2019 12019435318

Directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends and proceeds on subsequent
disposal of the investment. The Directors believe that the estimated
fair value resulting from the valuation technique, which is recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair value, which are recorded in other comprehensive

EMFERARRREEMNE (BERRK
REKFER HEREFSRIE) fFH G
5t o BEAA  RIREHRRA G ERM
EEZAFARBE GIAGEHRTR
nR) RANBEZAEARES GtAH
theElm) BEE  LRRSENE

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input

EXTAHE
{&{ER# BARE

Sensitivity of fair

Amount value to the input

#iE

AEE
HBAREZBRE

income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate @ o 201843831 H » B2 FRmEIEL Unlisted debt ;vestment Binomial tree Credi;spread 13.12% 1%
(== AT 4L = . T 5 . .
values at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of the MARHERAKEZ AREEEHRA FEHEBRA TET%:;SQ AR mcreadse/delcdreasel? credit
- . . o \ o X BT spread would result in
—for- H] 1B Y ANME =1 o
remaining two unlisted available-for-sale equity investments as at 31 TRAT G A A EEH 5T =i S linaieses i elue

March 2018 have been estimated using the recent market transaction

price.

The fair value of an unlisted debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 March 2019 has been estimated using a
binomial tree pricing model based on assumptions that are not

PR20194E3831H » BARBEF AR
mZIF EHEBREZ ARBEERA
"I EREBRE - RIRIIFH PR

by HK$24,000/HK$25,000

EERERBM/B1%
REEARBERND, BN
24,000787T,/25,0008 7T

i ; R e Risk free rate 2.07% 1%
supported by observable market prices or rates. The valuation BHEBNEXRS IS 2 BRETAst o & EERHIE Y — -
requires the Directors to make estimates about the expected future BEEREETERR RIS NEET S rate would result in decrease/
cash flows discounted at the interest. The Directors believe that the ITIRER(EET c EFERA > RIS increase in fair value by
estimated fair value resulting from the valuation technigue, which is RGERMELE Z st AREE GTA HK$166,000/HK$184,000
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the EEMBEIRRR) RANEEZFERRE
related changes in fair value, which are recorded in the consolidated ) (Gt AGEEER) BalE  ARS RN FIE, %
statement of profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the Bz EE - H%%ﬁzﬁ’\&@gﬁﬁﬁ/tbn
most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period. 166,000787%, 18400078 7T
Risky rate 15.19% 1%
The fair value of a finance lease payable has been calculated by MEEEENTIEZ AABEESEME EpeF=R increase/decrease in risky
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently BiF s EERBKRER NEREEZT rate would result in decrease/
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and EBgIr Az M=XRITIHFERR RIS R increase in fair value by
remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for S5THEEE o R2018FE3831H » &n&E HK$24,000/HK$25,000
finance lease payable as at 31 March 2018 was assessed to be ERHEREENRIEZ BB AETR ) .
insignificant, BT A T ER o st I
RERERAREBERLD, SN
24,000787T,25,0007870
The fair values of listed debt investments are based on quoted HEEREZ AABERTSRE
market prices. HEH o Volatility 48.13% 1%
REE increase/decrease in volatility

would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
HK$1,000/HK$1,000

RENIEIEIN, R 1%
REEARBEEM B
1,000787T,/1,00087T
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30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial
instruments (continued)

As at 31 March 2018

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input
BATABR
i ERAIT A BR
Unlisted available-for-sale Discounted cash Long term growth rate
equity investment flow method for cash flows
JE LRI ERARE RRSREZE HREREzRIEEX

Weighted average cost

of capital (WACC)
INREFTE A A

Discount for lack of
control

TR ERIITER

Discount for lack of
marketability
A= mim B TR

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amount of
discounts determined by the Group that market participants would
take into account when pricing the investment.

30.

2.5%

14.25%

30%

30%

EMTAZAREERARE
EE 0

1420185%3H31H

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

RAEE
HAARBEZHRE

1%

increase/decrease in growth
rate would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
HK$549,000/HK$471,000

HEEII,/ 1%
BERERRBEEN, D
549,000 7T,/ 471,000 75

1%

increase/decrease in WACC
would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
HK$942,000/HK$1,177,000

IS E AR AIE 0, R
1% BE R BB IE 0
942,000/ 7T,/1,177,000/8 7T

1%

increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
HK$79,000/HK$78,000

HrsRIB I, A%
RBEARBEERD, 2
79.0007&7T,/ 78,0007 7T

1%

increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
HK$79,000/HK$78,000

HreRIBI, B1%
RBEAREERD, IR
79.0007&7T,/ 78,0008 7T

B RE s A AR AT
SREEARETERSEE TS
4 o

instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2019

30. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

30. ESRMTAZAREBERARE
HER =

DREEER
TRETAERERTAZ AREES

BAREBEIEZEE .
42019438318

Fair value measurement using
AREBEFAUTEE:=E

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

ERTISRE
(F—4)
HK$

AT

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXFHE
WA
(B=4)
HK$

AT

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
EATATHR
HASE
(B=4R)
HK$

AT

Equity investments designated  15EIZA R BESTA
at fair value through other HitzmhEz
comprehensive income ARG E - 44,713,898 - 44,713,898
Debt investment at fair value ~ #ZARMBEETA
through profit or loss BRZEHRE - - 10,152,211 10,152,211
Investments in securities Febasd=| 439,520,945 89,676,230 - 529,197,175
439,520,945 134,390,128 10,152,211 584,063,284

As at 31 March 2018

12018538 31H

Fair value measurement using
ARBERAUTREHNE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EAIHR EAFIHEE

SR TR (S B AZR B A B

(FE—R) (BEZH) (E=#)

HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT
Available-for-sale investments ~ FI{HERE - 11,739,171 6,221,450 17,960,621
Investments in securities BERE 400,477,355 93,786,728 - 494,264,083
400,477,355 105,525,899 6,221,450 512,224,704
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30.

Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial
instruments (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 for financial assets (2018: Nil). The
movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 are as follows:

30 EMITAZAREBER2ARE
BEE% @

BRASEBEMEZEE: (B

FRN EMBEEMES *» B —HKHEH
iz B EaEE N A EE = (2018
£

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income or profit or loss/
Available-for-sale investments - unlisted:

BEERANMBES ARMEE
Wi ERMEE
AIfftHERE-JF L ¢

At 1 April i =R=! 6,221,450 -
Transfer from Level 2 during the year FERARE _RESY - 6,221,450
Transfer to Level 2 during the year FREAZE R (6,221,450) =
Total gain recognised in the consolidated RAFEIBmRER 2

statement of profit or loss W #aRE 340,024 -
Purchase i=y=) 9,812,187 -
At 31 March 738315 10,152,211 6,221,450
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAREBEAEZER
As at 31 March 2019 1220194538318
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value AEER2019FE38 31 B W EEMAIRA
as at 31 March 2019. AEEFTEZEMEE
As at 31 March 2018 H2201853H31H

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 March 2018.

AREER2018FE3H 31 B W E(EMAIZA
ABEEAEZEHERE o

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk

All the Group's cash and cash equivalents are held in major
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, which management
believes are of high credit quality. The Group has policies in
place to evaluate credit risk when accepting new business and
to limit its credit exposure to individual customers.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March 2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 March 2019. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

12-month

ECLs
12{8 R FEHA
EEEE

Stage 1
PR —
HK$
BT

BAREESA
B2 5%

Debt investment at fair
value fair value through

31. MEEGEEEEREBEE @

(a)

MEEBER (&)
FERR

RrEBFAERERREFEER
BERREEERAEEEERER
W2 EBIBZERIKE - A&H
EHRIEEER » UMM ER
B 2 15 5 B % e (R Bl EL P 7K 32 2R
BERERZEERE

FR20194E3H31 HZ RE %R E
RO A

TRETERAQNBEEBRERZ
FEERERRSEERRE (ZER
BERPENSE  BRIEEMmER
BB HIE 2 A5 BN A&
18) » IR R2019E3831H 2 &
RO DI - 23S RBEAS
BN BRTEAR(E ©

Lifetime ECLs

SHFEMRESGE

Stage 2
PE —
HK$
BT

Simplified

Stage 3 approach
REEE= iEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT

profit or loss* K& 10,152,211 - - - 10,152,211
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FRN o pEMEEms  F—REF T Investments in securities*  FEHILE" 751,294,097 - - - 751,294,097
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 Rz EEEBANBEE > hEE Trade receivables* FEUSTER TR = = - 11,047,174 11,047,174
for financial liabilities (2018: Nil). ATEHFE =4 (20184 : ) o Deferred rental IEFEREI
receivables* iz v 8,503,155 = = = 8,503,155
31. Financial risk management objectives and policies 31. HHBRAMEEBEREE Financial assets included in St ARRIRUR » #isk
prepayments, deposits FEMAEWEIE Y
(a)  Financial risk factors @) MBEBER and other receivables*  SRIBE* 17,724,883 - - - 17724883
The Group's principal financial instruments comprises AEBZTESHTHABES Amoubnt_éi_ue 1;rom 9 iellaty %u@ﬁ%m%&a Sl TSI
8 h1g# - - _
investments in securities, equity investments at fair value BE N BARBESAEMEE =L e o ' '
through other comprehensive income/available-for-sale WEHZBAKRE A HEER Cash and bank balances  RERRESEIRE 647997733 _ _ - GAT997733
investments, debt investment at fair value through profit or BN EBAREEFAEBRZER 1435933079 - - T1047174 1.446,980,253
loss and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these LRELRIRERIRTERE - %%
financial instruments is to finance for the Group's operations. SHTEZFTEENEANER & For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * ?ﬁﬁ%;@i?%ﬁﬁ%ftfﬁi@ii?ﬁfﬂ&
S EIS (S o for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in SRS > *E%@Tﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁgz
LSRR E note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. iﬂﬁﬁ‘m@%@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%mﬁm
E’ﬁg o
. q a8 o f . . . =T B8 > === =5 ot = NN N o
The ma”:] r?SkS am;mg from. the ‘Gr(-)u-p s fmanaal mStrume.ntS $%%$MEI/;§$§I$;@EM # The credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “normal” & %%@ﬁ@z%g CEACEN
are credit risk, equity price risk, quUIdIty risk and currency risk. ;‘% S5 Rk ~ HX’{EEH&/D\ N 7)IL§jJ§ when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that ?ﬁéﬁ%é;ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ?ﬁf?i
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of 4= ﬁ j'i i | EL\E o & = 52 the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial Ejj\ﬂ BB SO A S 7EDEI_
. View 9 p <! 9ing *Jﬁ[ﬁ Bf mﬂg ;1)% = recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is ﬁﬂﬁ*ﬁﬁ% MER) - SHEME
these risks and they are summarised below. B XI5 E BRI AR 2K considered to be "doubtful”. B EEEEWRA TR ©
%o B o
168 Cyberport 2018/19 Annual Report EIREE 2018/19 3R 169



Notes to the Financial Statements B F&ERZMT=E Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSERZE M

31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)  31. BAFSEIEEIRBIERBER @) 31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)  31. BAFEEIIRE IR BIERINE @)
(a)  Financial risk factors (continued) @) MBERER (& (@) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) BAERABEE @)
Credit risk (continued) RS () Liquidity risk FBESRAR

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March 2018

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which
comprise deferred rental receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries, investments in securities, available-
for-sale investments, and cash and bank balances, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Details in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the value of
underlying individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified
as equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income/available-for-sale investments (note
14) as at 31 March 2019.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10%
change in the fair value of the equity investments to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period, with all other variables held constant and before any
impact of on tax. For the purpose of this analysis, the impact is

FR20184F3H31 HZ R/ E R F
RO

FEFHEMEREEZEFERR
(BEEERWAAE « STATRR
B BEREMBWREZ SR/
EE  BRERWBABME
R E  AHEEREMUKRIR
ERIRTER) TBRIHFHE
W ReRABEERZETIRZ
SREIE ©

BT EERYCRRZ EERR
2B R G BmRMEE6
REE o

AR fE AR

REREIERAZSFAAEER
HERMERE S 2 BEEImEE
Z BB o FR2019E3831H » &&
BEEHRERRKREDEAN
ERAARBESAHMEEKEG
ZRAKE AHEHEERE
BIRRASHLE (FisE14) ©

TNERERICER & BSR4 S A
BERABRZREREAREES
L2810% FrERMEERT T E
BRSFAERRBR ER) 2 8K
E o B2 ME @ AR ER

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet
its current obligations when they fall due. Prudent liquidity
risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and
the availability of funding through operating cash flows and
advance from the immediate holding company.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

EEVEL ]
demand/less
than 1 year

HERRE
—ELTF
HK$

B

RBEEARIEREBREHEE
FEZBNEAEH 2 B - BREZ
nEEwEREEEERREE
REMERERERABDZEBN
R RRIRERAIESAESE °

FEBZHREEMEREAK
FBHZ RBEEFR » BIRER
IR ERE 0 LURRHEERR
RIRBEZERK

REBRBSARBBESART
Rz EMEEZRERNT :

1to2years Over 2 years

—EmF MEUE

HK$ HK$
A A

deemed to be on the fair value reserve and no account is given BARARNEERERRK > Bl Trade payables FE(TEEZR 28,514,375 - - 28,514,375
for factors such as impairment which might impact profit or et ARIRER BT 2 BEER Financial liabilities included in &+ A EAMFE(RTZIER
loss. o e
other payables and accruals EstERZEHMEBE 136,566,404 - - 136,566,404
Carrying Rental and other deposits R EMZE 25,091,814 25,956,248 31,084,224 82,132,286
amount of Change Amount due to the immediate  EEZZER AT
investments in equity* : =,
N holding compan e 254,293,578 - - 254,293,578
BEIREE e o company -
HKS$ HKS Amount due to SNIEENEAE!
BT BT a fellow subsidiary E] 192,321 - - 192,321
As at 31 March 2019 42019435831 5 Deferred rental payable LIRS 46,900 46,900 128,975 222,775
Unlisted equity investments: JELETRAKRE ! 444,705,392 26,003,148 31,213,199 501,921,739
- equity investments designated at fair —IEERADEBE
value through other comprehensive sTAEMEEWE
income ZRBAREE 44,713,898 4,471,390
As at 31 March 2018 712018438 31H
Unlisted equity investments: JEEMBAKE !
- available-for-sale —aftHE 17,960,621 1,796,062

*  Excluding accumulated losses

* TEERBE
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Repayable on
demand/less

31. HEEARERBEREBEER @)

(a)

MBEABER (&)
BB (8

than 1 year Tto2years  Over 2 years Total
BEREE
—&ELT —EME MEN £ “Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Trade payables FEATARER 28,319,981 - - 28,319,981
Financial liabilities included in st AEMhFENEUIER
other payables and accruals fEstER SRaE 72,782,330 - - 72,782,330
Rental and other deposits HEREMEE 36,464,905 26,509,343 22,225,747 85,199,995
Amount due to the immediate  FETEZIZRATE]
holding company £ 254,293,578 = = 254,293,578
Obligations under a finance R ERIE
lease 1,577,476 = = 1,577,476
Deferred rental payable IEILEI S 46,900 46,900 175,875 269,675
393,485,170 26,556,243 22,401,622 442,443,035
Currency risk S E S

The Group's functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
investments in securities that are denominated in other
currencies, being primarily United States dollars ("USD") and
Renminbi (“RMB"). As the Hong Kong dollars is pegged to the
USD, the Group considers the risk of movements in exchange
rates between the Hong Kong dollars and the USD to be
insignificant.

In respect of balances denominated in RMB, the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by adjusting
the level of RMB denominated investments.

As at 31 March 2018, investments in securities denominated
in RMB amounted to HK$31,043,555. Management estimated
that a 5% appreciation/depreciation of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars would have decreased/increased the Group's loss for
the year and increased/decreased total equity by HK$1,552,178.
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments which exposed the Group to foreign currency risk
at the end of the reporting period.

REE T AL IEABTT o KE
BAE ERAREBREME
s (EBAZTRARE) 5
B BERE - MPNBTRER
#i > AEERABTRETS
RN EREBABTA o

MUARESEZEENS » &
EEBBABARKTERER
EFREREFEREN I ES
IKIE ©

72018838310 » UANBRKEEHE
2 A E 43104355587 © B
BEfst 0 ARBRBTAHAES
B ES% I SR AEE 2 FEFIE
LI R A AR EE IR 0,
21,552,178 7T © B E D TR
RINEERSEBANENTE
ZEFEARE R R EHAR A
ERMR SR TA -

31.

Notes to the Financial Statements BAFSER R MT=E

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the year.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholder’s
equity. Management reviews the capital structure periodically

31. MEEGEEEEREBEE @

(b)

BAEE

AEBEAEEZ FEBERAR
EAEEFEEEZES > /MM
AIRRAEREIR KL A EME D E
AR @ o WHERRBECER
W LURDBERRE ° £
EAEEZBR  BERSEFRIL
EEMES) o

rEBZEABERRED 2P
B o EEEERIRN BEARG

and manages its overall capital structure if necessary. As at 31
March 2019 and 2018, the Group was in a net cash position.

32. Statement of financial position of the company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

B WHENERAEHEREAR
4518 o ANEEBFR 20194 K220184E3
B 31 BIERIREFEET ©

32. FARMBRRER

ARBMBIRR TR B SR ZERN
T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment LY =Y 2,869,506,312 2,909,737,035
Deferred rental receivables IRIEFEWFE & 8,503,155 12,389,679
Investments in securities EHKRE 70,830,649 223,214,837
Investment in a subsidiary MBABRE 1 1
Prepayments and deposits TERIB N IZE 13,625,542 4,814,268
Total non-current assets Bl = o 2,962,465,659 3,150,155,820
CURRENT ASSETS TENEE

Inventories =z5 337,411 539,809
Trade receivables FEUSBRSR 10,986,266 8,424,496
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FE{IFUE - &5 R EMMFENGIE 20,999,761 17,177,106
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EEN N = AGE S 261,000 899,937
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS T B /AT IE 57,477,503 19,131,953
Investments in securities BELE 680,463,448 775,619,293
Cash and bank balances P& LIRT4EE 647,997,733 122,808,960
Total current assets TMENEEAREE 1,418,523,122 944,601,554
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32. Statement of financial position of the company (continued)

32. ATMBRRAE @

CURRENT LIABILITIES P 2= i}

Trade payables FETERTR 28,514,375 28,319,981

Other payables and accruals HtERIB M ESTE B 148,158,795 82,950,597
Rental and other deposits A L EMEZS 82,132,286 85,199,995
Amount due to the immediate holding company fE{S BEZHER AT FIE 254,293,578 254,293,578
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary B —FER RN B ARIE 192,321 -
Obligations under a finance lease REMRERAE - 1,577,476
Total current liabilities iC) =Rt 513,291,355 452,341,627
NET CURRENT ASSETS BB ERE 905,231,767 492,259,927
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEBERTEIAE 3,867,697,426 3,642,415, 747
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREN 1R

Development maintenance fund BREEES 397,612,582 399,088,604
Deferred rental payable IEICREITRE 222,775 269,675
Total non-current liabilities IERE B ELREE 397,835,357 399,358,279
Net assets BEFRE 3,469,862,069 3,243,057,468
EQUITY T

Share capital [N 300,000,002 2
Capital reserve BEAREE 5,367,633,829 5,366,157,807
Accumulated losses RtEig (2,197,771,762) (2,123,100,341)
Total equity TR AREE 3,469,862,069 3,243,057,468

Lee George LAM
xR

Director

EFE

33. Approval of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2019.

33.

% Ak ZE
E/B
Director

EFE

HERSMBRR

ARV 2019FE8H0HEEZS
Btz EN T S o

Humphrey CHOI Chor-ching
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